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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Ziyuanyuan
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Ziyuanyuan
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year").

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in provision
of medical equipment finance leasing services, maternal and
child postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC.

OUTLOOK

Since its establishment, based on finance leasing services, the
Group has been steadily growing, adhering to the corporate spirit
of "excellence, innovation, integrity, and win-win". Our business
operations have spread across all provinces and cities in the
country. Through the professional team operation and the guidance
of modern management concepts, the Group continuously
optimises its industrial structure and integrates its resources in
order to realise the business objectives of win-win economic and
social benefits. The Group's finance leasing services focus on the
impact of the epidemic on the increase in customers' overdue
rate, and risk management is centred on lowering the internal rate
of return in order to enhance the quality of assets and minimise
risks to protect shareholders' interests. The Group expects that
after the epidemic, the healthcare industry will become a new
economic breakthrough with great potential for value addition,
and the Group has set up the finance leasing service to focus
on the field of medical equipment and to develop the trading of
medical equipment and consumables business, to help upgrade the
healthcare industry, but also to diversify the Group's income point.
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As early as the "The Outline of the 14th Five-Year Plan for
Economic and Social Development and Long-Range Objectives
through the Year 2035 of the People's Republic of China" (referred
to as the "14th Five-Year Plan") released in March 2021, it
emphasized the key layout for medical equipment. The healthy
development of the medical equipment industry is closely related to
the long-term national policy of promoting the development of the
medical equipment industry. China's medical equipment industry
has maintained a high growth rate and become the second largest
market in the world. The optimization of the policy environment,
the improvement of national health awareness, and medical
technology innovation have all provided strong momentum for the
industry's development. Especially under the impetus of the 14th
Five-Year Plan, the medical equipment industry is expected to usher
in a new peak of development.

In August 2023, the "Pharmaceutical Industry High-Quality
Development Action Plan (2023-2025)" and the "Medical
Equipment Industry High-Quality Development Action Plan (2023-
2025)" were released, aiming to improve the resilience and
modernization level of the pharmaceutical industry and medical
equipment industry, enhance the supply capacity of high-end
medical equipment, key technologies, as well as raw materials,
and accelerate the filling of gaps in China's high-end medical
equipment.

In March 2024, the State Council of China issued the "Action
Plan for Promoting Large-Scale Equipment Renewal and Consumer
Goods Replacement" (hereinafter referred to as the "Action
Plan"). It pointed out that by 2027, the scale of equipment
investment in industries such as industry, agriculture, construction,
transportation, education, culture and tourism, and healthcare
would increase by more than 25% compared to 2023. The Action
Plan clearly states the goal of improving the level of medical
equipment. It specifies the strengthening of the construction of
a high-quality and efficient medical and health service system,
promoting the upgrade of medical and information technology
facilities in healthcare institutions, encouraging eligible medical
institutions to accelerate the renewal and transformation of
medical equipment such as medical imaging, radiotherapy,
telemedicine, and surgical robots. It also promotes the
transformation and upgrade of medical institution wards, filling the
gaps in ward environments and facilities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

The Group's medical equipment and consumables trading
business aligns with national policies, focusing on promoting
the development of the medical equipment industry. The Group,
through the existing medical equipment and consumables trading
business of the Shenzhen Ruiheng Medical Supply Chain Co., Ltd.
integrates supply chain resources, opens up the upstream and
downstream of the supply chain, with supply chain planning and
distribution (SPD), Internet plus medical and trade installments, so
as to provide one-stop solutions for customers all over the country.

The epidemic has affected most of the maternal and child
postpartum care centres. The State opens up the three-child
policy and promotes age-appropriate marriage and childbirth.
The standard of childcare services is raised and a system of
inclusive childcare services is developed. The full liberalisation
of the "threechild policy" has increased the proportion of older
mothers and multi-child families, further stimulating the demand
for maternal and child postpartum care centres in the consumer
market. In the post-epidemic era, the industry is poised for
renewed development opportunities, with good prospects for
growth. According to research data, more than 90% of consumers
recognise maternal and child postpartum care centres and more
than 90% recognise the professionalism of maternal and child
postpartum care centres, so the Group expects a promising
future for its services in the maternal and child postpartum care
industry. Through Shenzhen Meijiaer Health Management Co.,
Ltd., the Group focuses on the provision of maternal and child
postpartum care industry services in the PRC. In the future, the
Group will continue to consolidate its services in the maternal
and child postpartum care industry, based on modern medicine,
enhances its hardware and software services through digitisation
and intelligence, and build a mother and baby ecosystem with full
industry chain coverage.

In the new year, the global economic situation remains grim. We
will continue to increase investment in various businesses and
continue to strive to find opportunities in the face of challenges,
so as to return shareholders and the public, and realize corporate
value as well as social value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in provision
of medical equipment finance leasing services, maternal and
child postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC.

Finance leasing services

During the Year, the Group has been focusing on provision
of finance leasing services to SMEs customers in the medical
equipment industry in various provinces, municipalities, and
autonomous regions in the PRC, where the Group has established
connections with industry players and gained operational
expertise. The finance lease offered by the Group comprises direct
finance leasing and sale-leaseback. The Group provided services
to approximately 4,800 SMEs customers across 30 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC as at 31
December 2023. The Group recorded a revenue of RMB25.1 million
from the finance leasing services during the Year.

Risk management policies

The Group faces a variety of risks in providing finance leasing
services, including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
operational risk, and legal and compliance risk. The Group
recognises the importance of an effective risk management system
for identifying and mitigating these risks. The Group has developed
a risk management system tailored to the characteristics of our
business operations, with a focus on managing the risks through
comprehensive due diligence on the customer, independent
information review and multi-level approval process. The Group
continues to monitor and review the operation and performance
of the risk management system, and to improve the system from
time to time to adapt to the changes in market conditions and
regulatory environment. The core principle of risk management
system is to minimise such risks in business activities and to protect

the long-term interests of the Group and the Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following summary illustrates the major credit risk
management measures:

Due diligence: The risk management department is
responsible for conducting due diligence on the customer’s
background, operating and financial conditions, credit history,
financing purposes, major shareholders and guarantors,
including on-site interviews and document review at specific
customer business locations and at the same time cross-
validating through online website inquiries, remote video,
etc. Through comprehensive customer due diligence process,
the risk management department is able to have a complete
understanding of the customer’s operations and financial
situation, and then produce a customer credit assessment
report with assessment of the specific customer’s financing
needs and ability to make lease payments.

Asset quality: We evaluate the value and liquidity of assets
under each finance leasing transaction and ensure the
outstanding lease payments will be sufficiently covered by the
value of leased assets.

Approval process: We have a multi-level review and approval
system that enables us to thoroughly discuss the potential
issues and risks associated with each finance leasing
transaction. Once receiving the customer’s application
materials, the risk management department makes a
preliminary assessment of the customer’s capital needs,
repayment ability, value and liquidity of the leased equipment,
and major risks in association with the finance leasing
transaction in order to determine whether the customer
meets our customer entry criteria. The risk management
department conducts a detailed assessment of whether the
customer's operational and financial conditions meet our
criteria and prepares a credit assessment report. Depending
on the transaction type and the amount of funds involved,
the risk management committee evaluates the transaction
through review of the transaction packet or a committee
meeting. The risk management committee decides whether to
grant the final approval for a transaction after review. With
respect to a major business decision, the risk management
committee first reviews the relevant documents. After
all members agree with granting of an approval, the risk
management committee submits the relevant documents to
the Board which makes a decision after review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEwm R

o Post-drawdown management: The post-drawdown
management includes routine inspections, on-site inspections,
daily supervision, as well as monthly review, of the collection
status of finance lease receivables, repayment reminders,
overdue collection and overdue warnings, and ongoing
monitoring of leased assets. Finance and accounting
department conducts daily supervision by examining the
daily log for each transaction, which includes the name,
amount due and payable to the Group at relevant times, as
well as the collection status of customers. In the event that
the finance lease receivables are collected, the finance and
accounting department marks the relevant collection status
to be “normal repayment” and records the repayment date in
the log. In the event that the finance lease receivables are not
collected, the finance and accounting department notifies the
business development department of such overdue payment,
and the business department follows up with the relevant
customers. The continuous review process coordinated among
various departments and risk management committee enables
the Group to identify any potential default of the customers
and take remedial actions to enhance the security of leased
assets at an early stage.

Lease portfolio

Lease portfolio by industry

The following table sets forth our net amount of receivables arising
from finance leasing services by industry as of the dates indicated:

e RHRER:RENREESENTE
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As at 31 December

®+ZA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= ==

RMB'000 % RMB’000 %

AR®TT % AR®BTT %

Medical equipment B2 123,955 94.3 193,397 96.2

Printing Ef1 4,139 3.1 4,303 2.1

Logistics m 3,375 2.6 3,469 1.7
Net amount of receivables arising FFEEHRERF MESE

from finance leasing services B & U R 1B 5 A 131,469 100.0 201,169 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Lease portfolio by exposure size BEBRESSPNHEEERS
The Group primarily offered equipment-based finance leases, AERTERBUREAERNMERE
the terms of which generally ranged from 12 to 60 months, HER—RE A T12560E A » HE—H AT A

and the size of which generally ranged from RMBO.1 million to REBOI1BEBTEARE30.08E T FRE
RMB30.0 million. The following table sets forth net amount of our S EMTHERERREZ DNERME
receivables arising from finance leasing services by exposure size as TERFMAELENEUWRIEFE .

of the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

BK+ZB=+—8H
2023 2022
—E-= —ETCFE
Number of Number of
customers RMB’000 % customers RMB'000 %
EFME  ARNTR %  BRHE  ARMTR 0
Up to RMB1,000,000 =% A AE1,000,0007T 1,252 62,008 47.2 1,503 173,162 86.1
RMB1,000,001 to AR 11,000,001t E
RMB3,000,000 AR 3,000,0007T 17 25,412 19.3 15 20,616 10.2
RMB3,000,001 to AR 3,000,001 %
RMB5,000,000 AE 5,000,000 2 7,032 5.3 2 7,391 3.7
RMB5,000,001 to AR 5,000,001t %
RMB 10,000,000 AE#10,000,0007T 1 9,453 7.2 - - -
RMB10,000,001 to AE%10,000,001cE
RMB30,000,000 AE#30,000,0007T 1 27,564 21.0 - - -
Net amount of receivables arising ERBREREMEL
from finance leasing services Y FE W B F 8 1,273 131,469 100.0 1,520 201,169 100.0
Lease portfolio by security REFRIIDNEEHES
The following table sets forth net amount of our receivables arising TREINEEMTABRERESNEAR
from finance leasing services by security as of the dates indicated: BRE R E £ EWGRIEERE

As at 31 December

®W+ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
—E_=F —E2-

RMB’000 % RMB'000 %

ARET T % AR®EFT %

Secured and guaranteed BIEERBER 130,798 99.5 196,411 97.7

Guaranteed BEMR 671 0.5 3,267 1.6

Secured BiEHE - - 1,491 0.7
Net amount of receivables arising RREEHRERF MESE

from finance leasing services BY FE W Rk I8 7 F 28 131,469 100.0 201,169 100.0

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Maternal and child postpartum care industry services
Postpartum confinement (8¢ B)is a traditional Chinese custom,
which allows women to rest fully after giving birth, and to recover
through diet. It is said that it is the best time for women to improve
their physical well-being. Hence, postpartum care centres (B
H ) had emerged. The Group provides postpartum care services
in the PRC, consisting of four major areas of (i) health care for
postpartum mothers and newborn babies; (ii) dietary and nutrition
for postpartum mothers; (iii) recovery and beauty for postpartum
mothers; and (iv) intellectual development for newborn babies.

The maternal and child postpartum care industry services recorded
a decrease in revenue and a segment loss of RMB5.9 million during
the Year. It was mainly attributable to (i) the restriction of the
epidemic control measures, the Group's postpartum care centers
were not able to operate normally during part of the year, which
made customers unable to check in on time and orders being
returned; and (i) 3 postpartum care centers of the Group ceased
operations in prior year or this year.

Profit guarantees in relation to the acquisitions of subsidiaries

On 22 July 2020, the Group entered into an investment
agreement and a shareholders’ agreement (the “Desheng Meimei
Agreements”) with a vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire 51%
equity interest in Wuhan Desheng Meimei Health Management
Co., Ltd. ("Desheng Meimei”), a company incorporated in the
PRC with the consideration of RMB3.4 million (“Desheng Meimei
Consideration”). Desheng Meimei is engaged in the provision of
postpartum care services in the PRC. As all applicable percentage
ratios (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) in respect of
Desheng Meimei Agreements were less than 5%, Desheng Meimei
Agreements does not constitute a disclosable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details
of the acquisition were set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in the Company's annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the Desheng Meimei Agreements and the supplemental
agreement to the Desheng Meimei Agreements, the Vendor agreed
to provide profit guarantee to the Group that Desheng Meimei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.8 million
and RMB2.2 million for the period from the date of completion of
the acquisition (the “Desheng Meimei Completion Date”) to 31
December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2023 respectively
("Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee”). In the event the Desheng
Meimei Profit Guarantee is not fully met for any period during
the commitment period, the Group has the option to request
the Vendor to (i) repurchase the 51% equity interest in Desheng
Meimei from the Group. The repurchase consideration of Desheng
Meimei is calculated as Desheng Meimei Consideration plus interest
of 8% p.a. from the Desheng Meimei Completion Date; or (ii)
compensate the shortfall of Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee, i.e.
the difference between Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee and the
actual profit after tax of the corresponding guarantee period.

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Desheng Meimei for the period from the Desheng
Meimei Completion Date to 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMBO0.9 million, as a result, the Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee
was not met. After reviewing the forecast of Desheng Meimei and
the information currently available to the Group, the Group has
exercised the right to request the Vendor to repurchase the 51%
equity interest in Desheng Meimei from the Group during the Year.
However, the Vendor failed to fulfil the obligation of repurchase in
accordance with the Desheng Meimei Agreements. In August 2023,
the Group has filed a lawsuit against the Vendor due to the above
mentioned dispute. In December 2023, the Group received the
Civil Judgment served by the Shenzhen Nanshan District People’s
Court and the Vendor was ordered by the Court to buy back the
Equity Interest of Desheng Meimei. The Vendor has filed an appeal
petition subsequently. No date has been fixed for the hearing of
the said appeal.

EEEw RO

BREEFEEMEREBEZEZHZENER
HiE > BEAFRRBAEBRERMRE 2
BEERWEREZE (EEEEREIA)
EBEZZ_F+B=+—HHBANE
EZ=F+ZR=+—HLEFERD
AERERNMERARBI SEBE TR AREE2.2
BEE RN (EBEREANFRE o
WEBEEERMFRERABPRE AR
REEEEN AEBTEZEERTAH()H
AEEELEBEES1%RE - BB EEN
CIEHEREFEZEZHENBETREE =
EREHHBRENESWHFIEFTE ; 3
(WBEEEEE=EFRENEZE BB =
ERMNRFHEEERERBNERREF
BB ERE.

REBEERMBER EHEEZEEBEER
AHEE T _F+A=+—HHEH
NEERBEENOABARBIIEE T A
It B RS E =R AR B MR AL o K BRI
BEEZNEARAEEE A AT ESNER
B AEEEFRBTEEEEERESN
NEBEBOIEBEENS1%RE-BE LK
EREBEEERBEIATBITRODER
B-RIZI=FN\B > AEER M5
BEAHRESRFR _ S =F+ A &&E
BWEFNITELUEBEAREAREENRES
FIRE AL B A CIBEBEEERE-
BABERIEH Lo Bt ERZ IR B RS
REETE o

EnnEREERERAR FEHRE 2023

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On 4 December 2020, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement, an investment agreement and a shareholders’
agreement (the “Jiaenbei Agreements”) with vendors to
purchase 54% of equity interest of Wuhan Jiaenbei Health
Management Co. Ltd. (“Jiaenbei”), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC with consideration of RMB3.24 million
(“Jiaenbei Consideration”). Jiaenbei is engaged in provision of
postpartum care service in the PRC. As all applicable percentage
ratios (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) in respect of
Jiaenbei Agreements were less than 5%, Jiaenbei Agreements does
not constitute a disclosable transaction of the Company under
Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the acquisition
were set out in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements
in the Company's annual report for the year ended 31 December

2021.

Pursuant to the Jiaenbei Agreements, the vendors of Jiaenbei
agreed to provide profit guarantee to the Group that Jiaenbei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0 million for
each of the period from the date of completion of the acquisition
(the “Jiaenbei Completion Date”) to 31 December 2021, year
ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2023
respectively (“Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee”). In the event the
Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee is not fully met for any period during
the commitment period, the Group has the option to request the
vendors to (i) repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from
the Group. The repurchase consideration of Jiaenbei is calculated as
Jiaenbei Consideration plus interest of 10% p.a. from the Jiaenbei
Completion Date; or (ii) compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei Profit
Guarantee, i.e. the difference between Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee
and the actual profit after tax of the corresponding guarantee
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Jiaenbei for the period from the Jiaenbei Completion
Date to 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB1.0 million,
as a result, the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee was met and the actual
profit after tax of the Jiaenbei for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMBO0.3 million, as a result, the Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee was not met. After reviewing the forecast of
Jiaenbei and the information available to the Group, the Group
decided neither exercised the option to request the vendors to
repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from the Group
nor requested the vendors to compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
entered into a supplemental agreement with the vendors, the
vendors agreed to revise the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee that Jiaenbei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0 million for
each of the year ended 31 December 2023 and year ending 31
December 2024 respectively.

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Jiaenbei for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMBO0.3 million, as a result, the Jiaenbei Profit
Guarantee was not met. After reviewing the forecast of Jiaenbei
and the information currently available to the Group, the Group
decided neither exercise the option to request the vendors to
repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from the Group
nor request the vendors to compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group
entered into a further supplemental agreement with the vendors,
the vendors agreed to revise the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee that
Jiaenbei shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0
million for each of the year ending 31 December 2024 and year
ending 31 December 2025 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment of goodwill

The Group performed a year end annual impairment test on
goodwill. Taking into consideration of Guangzhou Sheng Cheng
Dunnan Enterprise Management Co., Limited (“Dunnan”) and its
subsidiaries (“Dunnan Group”) sufferd a loss for the Year, one of
the postpartum care centres were ceased operations during the
Year and the unfavourable market condition facing by Dunnan
Group, the Group determined that there was an indication for
impairment on the goodwill arising from the acquisition of the
Dunnan Group. An impairment loss on goodwill amounted to
approximately RMB1.2 million was recognised for the Year. Please
refer to Note 18 to these consolidated financial statements for
details of impairment of goodwill. Except the above, the Group did
not recognise any impairment loss of goodwill in relation to the
other acquisitions.

Trading of medical equipment and consumables business

The Group expects that after the epidemic, the healthcare industry
will become a new economic breakthrough with great potential
for value addition. Benefiting from the PRC government's policy
of encouraging innovation in medical equipment and promoting
high quality development of the medical equipment industry, the
Group has been able to leverage on its experience in the medical
equipment industry from its previous finance leasing business, its
cooperation with medical equipment suppliers and its practical
understanding of the characteristics and needs of its customers
to commence its medical equipment and consumables trading
business in the PRC, mainly focusing on aesthetic medicine, dental,
maternal and child and large hospital medical equipment. The
Group recorded a revenue of RMB417.0 million from the trading of
medical equipment and consumables business for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue consists of (i) finance leasing income and interest income
from loan receivables in finance leasing services; (ii) operating lease
income; (iii) postpartum care services income; (iv) income from
trading of medical equipment and consumables; and (v) Income
from IT services. The Group's revenue increased by approximately
RMB173.4 million or approximately 53.4%, from approximately
RMB324.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Prior Year”) to approximately RMB498.0 million for the Year.
The increase in revenue for the Year was mainly attributable to
(i) income from trading of medical equipment and consumables
increased from approximately RMB236.5 million for the Prior Year
to approximately RMB417.0 million for the Year; (ii) operating lease
income from RMB nil for the Prior Year to approximately RMBO0.8
million for the Year; and (iii) income from IT services from RMB nil
for the Prior Year to approximately RMB26.6 million for the Year,
which offsetting (i) the finance leasing income decreased from
approximately RMB37.3 million for the Prior Year to approximately
RMB25.1 million for the Year; and (ii) postpartum care services
income decreased from approximately RMB50.8 million for the Prior
Year to approximately RMB28.4 million for the Year.

Cost of sales

The cost of medical equipment and consumables sold increased
from approximately RMB185.6 million for the Prior Year to
approximately RMB375.0 million for the Year.

Staff cost

Staff costs include primarily Directors’ remuneration, employee
salaries, allowances and other staff benefits as well as employee
retirement benefits scheme contributions. Staff costs decreased
from RMB42.0 million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB38.7
million For the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment losses under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model,
net of reversal

The Group is not required to provide general provisions as
commercial banks and other financial institutions which the
China Banking Regulatory Commission regulates. The provisioning
policies are based on the applicable accounting standards. The
management assesses the measurement of ECL in relation to trade
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan receivables and financial
guarantee. In determining the impairment of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan receivables and financial guarantee,
the management considers shared credit risk characteristics
including industry types, historical past due information and
lessees’ creditworthiness for grouping, and assesses credit losses
based on internal credit rating and on a forward looking basis
with the use of appropriate models and assumptions relate to the
economic inputs and the future macroeconomic conditions.

For the Year, an additional impairment loss of approximately
RMB6.0 million (2022: RMB9.2 million) was recognised due to the
impact of COVID-19, which caused the increase in the customers'
past due ratio.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses include primarily audit fees, legal and
professional fees, travel and transportation expenses, promotion
expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets, amortisation of intangible asset,
short-term leases payments, research and development costs and
the miscellaneous expenses of postpartum care businesss. Other
operating expenses decreased from approximately RMB55.4 million
for the Prior Year to approximately RMB46.0 million for the Year.
The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the miscellaneous
expenses of postpartum care businesss decreased from
approximately RMB14.8 million for the Prior Year to approximately
RMB8.1 million for the Year; (ii) short-term leases payments
decreased from approximately RMB5.5 million for the Prior Year to
approximately RMB1.1 million for the Year; and (iii) depreciation of
right-of-use assets decreased from approximately RMB9.2 million
for the Prior Year to approximately RMB7.8 million for the Year,
which offsetting promotion expenses increased from approximately
RMB2.1 million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB5.1 million
for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance costs

Finance costs consist of (i) imputed interest expense on interest-
free deposits from finance lease customers; (ii) interest on bank and
other borrowings; (iii) interests on lease liabilities; and (iv) interest
on discounted bills. Finance costs increased from approximately
RMB13.1 million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB13.9
million for the Year. The increase was mainly due to the interests on
lease liabilities increased from approximately RMBOQ.7 million for the
Prior Year to approximately RMB1.4 million for the Year.

Income tax expenses

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group qualified as small low profit
enterprises with annual taxable income not more than RMB1.0
million, and the portion that exceeds RMB1.0 million but does not
exceed RMB3.0 million (inclusive) are entitled to enterprise income
tax calculated at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.
A PRC subsidiary of the Group recognised as high technology
enterprise is entitled to a preferential enterprise income tax rate of
15%. The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the other PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is 25%.

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company
During the Year and Prior Year, the Group's profit and total
comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company
were approximately RMB14.6 million and RMB15.8 million,
respectively. The decrease in profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in finance leasing income
and income from postpartum care services; and (ii) the decrease
in other gains and losses, net which offsetting (i) the increase in
income from trading of medical equipment and consumables;
(i) the decrease in impairment losses under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal; and (iii) the decrease in other operating
expenses as compared to the Prior Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash were
approximately RMB108.3 million (2022: RMB13.7 million). The
working capital (current assets less current liabilities) and total
equity of the Group were approximately RMB199.6 million (2022:
RMB233.7 million) and approximately RMB315.3 million (2022:
RMB310.8 million), respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
due within one year were amounted to approximately RMB101.0
million (2022: RMB147.9 million) and the Group’s bank and other
borrowings due after one year were amounted to approximately
RMB31.8 million (2022: RMB80.9 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio was approximately
29.6% (2022: 42.4%), which is calculated as bank and other
borrowings divided by total equity plus bank and other borrowings.
Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the Group’s
financial leasing business, resulting in a decrease in demand for
bank and other borrowings.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Shares were successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 9 July 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group
only comprises ordinary Shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was

HK$40,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary Shares was
400,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s income and expenditure during the Year were
principally denominated in RMB, and most of the assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 were denominated in RMB.
The Group did not experience any material impact or difficulties
in liquidity on its operations resulting from the fluctuation in
exchange rate, and no hedging transaction or forward contract
arrangement was made by the Group during the Year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments
RMB18.8 million in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary and
purchase of computer software (2022: RMB13.5 million).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's finance lease receivables and
loan receivables with an aggregate carrying values of approximately
RMB72.1 million (2022: RMB143.5 million) were pledged to a bank
and a finance lease company in the PRC to secure bank and other
borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the entire equity interests of
a subsidiary of the Group were pledged to a bank in the PRC to
secure a bank borrowing of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw RO

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 December 2022, the Group entered into the equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party to purchase the entire
equity interests of Wuhan Meikangmao Health Management Co.,
Ltd.* (“Meikangmao”), a limited liability company incorporated
in the PRC with consideration of RMB40.0 million. Meikangmao
is engaged in provision of postpartum care service in the PRC.
The equity transfer was not completed due to certain conditions
precedent were not fulfilled as at 31 December 2023. Details of the
acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 29
December 2022, 4 January 2023, 30 June 2023 and 29 December
2023.

Save as the above, the Group did not have other material
acquisition nor disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other future plans for material investments or capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other significant contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 184 employees (2022:
281 employees) with total staff cost of approximately RMB41.6
million incurred during the Year (2022: RMB45.8 million), which
included the employees retirement benefit expense incurred
during the Year of approximately RMB4.7 million (2022: RMB6.0
million). As required by the applicable laws and regulations, the
Group participates in various employee social security plans for our
employees that are administered by local government. The Group’s
remuneration policy rewards employees and Directors based on
individual performance, demonstrated capabilities, involvement,
market comparable information and the performance of the Group.
The Group improves the professional skills and management level
of its employees through internal and external training. To ensure
that the Group attracts and retains competent staff, remuneration
packages are reviewed on a regular basis. Performance bonuses are
offered to qualified employees based on individual and the Group’s
performance. The Group did not experience any material labour
disputes during the Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Junshen (“Mr. Zhang”) aged 37, was appointed
as a Director on 28 October 2016 and was redesignated as
Executive Director on 13 January 2017. He is also the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer, the chairman of the
nomination committee, the compliance officer and the director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for
strategic planning, operation planning and overall management
of the Group. Mr. Zhang is vice president of Shenzhen Federation
of Young Entrepreneurs*, a committee member of the Eighth
Committee of Shenzhen Federation of Youth* and a member of
the People's Congress Legal Work Committee of Futian District,
and he has been a deputy to the Municipal People’s Congress of
Shenzhen* since 2015. Mr. Zhang has approximately 15 years of
experience in general corporate management and approximately
10 years of experience in finance leasing industry. Mr. Zhang is the
elder brother of Mr. Zhang Junwei.

Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Arlington
in the United States with an executive master of business
administration degree in December 2014.

Mr. Wong Kwok San ("Mr. Wong"), aged 42, was appointed as
an Executive Director on 16 December 2022. He is also the joint
chief financial officer and joint company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Wong is currently holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in September 2018
and is primarily responsible for overall business operation, business
development, overseeing financial reporting, investor relations,
statutory compliance and corporate governance of the Group.
Mr. Wong has 20 years of experience in auditing and accounting
fields. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong served as the financial
controller and the company secretary of a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from October 2014 to
July 2018. From October 2007 to April 2014, Mr. Wong worked
for Grant Thornton (later known as JBPB & Company) and then
transferred to BDO Limited with his last position as manager.

Mr. Wong is currently a Certified Public Accountant (Practising)
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and a Chartered Accountant of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has obtained
a bachelor of business administration degree in accounting from
Lingnan University in November 2003. He also completed a
programme in EMBA and obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
November 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lyu Di (“Mr. Lyu”), aged 37, was appointed as our Non-
executive Director on 15 August 2019. He is also a member of our
audit committee and the deputy general manager of the Group.
Mr. Lyu is currently holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of
the Company. He is responsible for the project investments and
capital market operations of our Group. Mr. Lyu has over 10 years
of experience in investments and capital market. From December
2014 to May 2019, Mr. Lyu worked at Shenzhen Qianhai Black
Swan Asset Management Company Limited with his last position as
fund manager. He worked at Huatai Jinkong Investment Consulting
(Shenzhen) Co Ltd* from October 2013 to November 2014 with his
last position as an analyst and he was also a representative in Type
4 (advising on securities) regulated activity under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") at
Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited from March 2014 to
November 2014,

Mr. Lyu graduated from Deakin University with a Bachelor of
Commerce degree, majoring in finance in October 2010. He further
obtained a Master of Commerce degree majoring in finance and
banking from the University of Sydney in October 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo (“Mr. Chan”), aged 45, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director on 12 June 2018. He
is also the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee. Mr. Chan
is responsible for providing independent advice to our Board. Mr.
Chan has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting
industry. He also has extensive knowledge and expertise on capital
markets transactions (such as initial public offerings, and merger
and acquisitions). Since August 2017, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Sisram Medical Ltd, a listed
company on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1696). Since October
2017, Mr. Chan has been the responsible officer and managing
director of Red Solar Capital Limited, a company providing advisory
services on corporate finance. Since June 2023, Mr. Chan has also
been an independent non-executive director of Luyuan Group
Holding (Cayman) Limited, a listed company on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2451). Since October 2020 to June 2023, Mr. Chan
was also an independent non-executive director of Jinke Smart
Services Group Co., Ltd., a listed company on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9666).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in Hong
Kong in November 2001. Mr. Chan has been a member of HKICPA
since October 2005.

Mr. Chow Siu Hang (“Mr. Chow"), aged 47, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director on 12 June 2018. Mr.
Chow is responsible for providing independent advice to our
Board. Mr. Chow has more than 20 years of experience in finance
and accounting industry. He also has extensive knowledge and
expertise on capital market transactions including initial public
offerings, financial advisory, and merger and acquisitions. All his
experience in the corporate finance market and investment banking
enables him to support the Group's operations through providing
advice on funding solutions and their intended applications, and
to assist the Group in formulating our overall business strategies
and development plan. Since October 2019, Mr. Chow has been an
independent non-executive director of Yincheng Life Service Co.,
Ltd., a listed company on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1922).

Mr. Chow has been a fellow member of HKICPA and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chow obtained
his bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 1998.

Dr. Deng Bin (“Dr. Deng”), aged 49, was appointed as our
Independent Non-executive Director on 31 December 2021. He is
also the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of
the nomination committee and a member of the audit committee
of the Company. Dr. Deng is responsible for providing independent
advice to our Board. He was graduated from Xi'an Medical
University (now known as Xi‘an Jiaotong University) in China with
a bachelor of medicine degree in 1999, majoring in Stomatology.
He further graduated from National University of Singapore in
Singapore with a doctor of philosophy degree in 2006, majoring
in dental restoration. Dr. Deng has over 20 years of experience in
Stomatology. He is the chief dental officer of Shenzhen Yixin Dental
Clinic* currently, mainly responsible for clinical fields on dental
implant and restoration.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Mou Peng (“Mr. Mou”), aged 43, is the deputy general
manager and risk director of the Group. He joined the Group in
May 2014 as the deputy general manager and head of the risk
management department of ZYY Finance Leasing. He is responsible
for overseeing customer due diligence and credit assessment,
supervising post-drawdown performance, and formulating risk
management policies and rules of the Group.

Mr. Mou has over 10 years of working experience in risk
management. From April 2013 to January 2014, Mr. Mou was the
project director at Shenzhen Zhongxing Supply Chain Management
Limited*. From March 2012 to January 2013, Mr. Mou served as
manager of the integrated management department at Eternal Asia
Supply Chain Management Ltd*, a company listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002183). In January 2008, Mr. Mou
started to work at Shenzhen Branch of the Postal Savings Bank of
China Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1658) (the “"PSBOC SZ Branch”). In November 2009, he was
promoted to the deputy head of the credit and loan department of
the Xinan Division of the PSBOC SZ Branch, and later left PSBOC SZ
Branch in February 2012.

Mr. Mou obtained a bachelor of business administration degree
from Wuhan University in the PRC in June 2004.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

Mr. Du Dejun (“Mr. Du”), aged 38, is the deputy general
manager and the business development director of the Group.
He joined the Group in 10 August 2014 as project assistant of
ZYY Finance Leasing. He is responsible for assisting the Group’s
business development manager in the supervision of our business
development department.

Mr. Du has over 10 years of experience in sales and marketing
and business development. From December 2013 to June 2014,
he worked as an assistant consultant at Qianhai Equity Exchange
(Shenzhen) Company Limited, a regional equity market operator
and an equity and debt financing platform for SMEs. From
December 2012 to May 2013, he worked at Shenzhen Lingjin
Culture Communication Co. Ltd.* (“Lingjin”) as a business
manager of its sales team. From April 2012 to November 2012,
Mr. Du worked at Shenzhen Linghang Financial Management
Consultancy Co. Ltd*, an associated company of Lingjin. From
January 2010 to March 2012, Mr. Du worked as a client manager
at Shenzhen Yazi Advertising Co. Ltd*.

Mr. Du graduated from East China University of Technology, the
PRC with a bachelor's degree in software engineering in July 2009.
He also completed the advanced training course for specialised
talents* in finance at the School of Economics, Peking University,
the PRC in July 2017.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Li Xinpei, aged 30, is the Joint Company Secretary and the
chief officer of Office of the Chairman of the Board of the Group.
Ms. Li Xinpei is currently holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Ms. Li Xinpei joined the Group as the Joint
Company Secretary in February 2017 and has served as assistant
of General Manager and Chief Executive Officer of ZYY Finance
Leasing, with her latest position as the cheif officer of Office of
the Chairman of the Board. She is primarily responsible for investor
relations, statutory compliance, project investment related review,
operational management and management of maternal and child
postpartum care business of the Group.

Ms. Li Xinpei has nearly 10 years of experience in administration
and business management. Prior to joining the Group, from April
2015 to January 2017, Ms. Li Xinpei was the assistant of the
General Manager of Shenzhen Suhao Investment Limited.

Ms. Li Xinpei obtained a bachelor's degree in Finance and
a master's degree in Business Administration from Twintech
International University College of Technology in Malaysia in April
2016 and February 2019 respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELARS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important roles of its Board in
providing effective leadership and direction to the Group's business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of the Company’s
operations. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements
corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as
set out in Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules. For the year, the Company adopted and complied
with, where applicable, the CG Code to ensure that the Group’s
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper and prudent manner.

In the opinion of the Board, other than the deviation from code
provision C.2.1, the Company complied with the provisions of
the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules
during the Year. Key corporate governance principles and practices
of the Company are summarised below.

A. THE BOARD

A.1 Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility
for promoting the success of the Company by providing
effective leadership and direction to its business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of its
operations. The Board reserves its decisions for all major
matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control systems, risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
change of Directors, ad hoc projects and other
significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support of the management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The day to day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
any significant transactions entered into by the above
mentioned officers. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information of the Company,
with a view to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations in Cayman Islands and
Hong Kong are followed. Each Director is normally able
to seek independent advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the
Board.

In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees of the
Company. Further details of the board committees of
the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is also responsible for, among others,
performing the corporate governance duties as set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which
include:

- to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

- to review and monitor the Group's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to the Directors and employees; and
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- to review the Group's compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance coverage for all the Directors, including
company securities, employment practices, regulatory
crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and
public relation, etc., which is to be reviewed by the
Board on a regular basis.

The Board has delegated day-to-day operation
responsibility to the management of the Company
under the supervision of the executive Directors and
various Board committees. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entering into by the foregoing
officers and senior management.

Board Composition
The Board comprised the following Directors during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lyu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan

Mr. Chow

Dr. Deng
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The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee” or “NC”) ensures the
composition of the Board constitutes a balance of
skills, experiences, qualifications and diversity of
perspective appropriate to the requirements of the
business and development of the Company. The
current Board composition of two executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and three independent
non executive Directors (the "INEDs”) can effectively
exercise independent judgment. The list of all Directors
(by category) is set out under the section headed
“Corporate Information” in this annual report and is
also disclosed in all corporate communications issued
by the Company pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
from time to time. The INEDs are expressly identified in
all corporate communications of the Company. There
is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships) between
the Board members, and in particular, between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The participation of INEDs in the Board brings a diverse
range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance,
conflicts of interests and management process to ensure
that the interests of all Shareholders of the Company
have been duly considered. Each of the INED has
confirmed in writing his independence to the Company
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Board considers that all the INEDs are independent.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the
Board, which is appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The Directors’
biographical information is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report.
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The list of current Directors (by category) is also
disclosed in this annual report and all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules from time to time. The Company
also maintains on its website at www.ziyygroup.com
and on the HKEXnews website at www.hkexnews.hk an
updated list of current Directors (by category) identifying
their roles and functions.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Zhang is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
and is responsible for major decision-making and
implementation of business strategies of the Group. The
Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the Board
works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the Directors to make active
contributions to Board’s affairs and promoting a culture
of openness and debate.

Code Deviation

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Board is of the view that
although Mr. Zhang is the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operations
of the Board, which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals and meets regularly to discuss
issues affecting operations of the Company. The Board
believes that this structure is conducive to strong and
consistent leadership, enabling the Group to make
and implement decisions promptly and efficiently. The
Board has full confidence in Mr. Zhang and believes that
his appointment to the posts of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer is beneficial to the business prospects
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code.
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A.4 Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Director and each of the INEDs has
respectively entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three (3) years unless
terminated by either party by giving at least three (3)
month’s written notice to the other.

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles of Association”), at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for reelection. The Company at
the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill
the vacated office.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of
Association. The Company has established a Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee and its primary
functions are to make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board
and policies/practices on corporate governance of
the Group. Details of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and its work performed are set
out in the “Board Committees” section below.
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Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the Group structure, Board and
Board Committees meetings procedures, business,
management and operations of the Company, etc.
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements in the Cayman Islands and
Hong Kong.

All Directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business and
market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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According to the records maintained by the Company,
the Directors received the following training regarding
roles, function and duties of a director of a listed
company or professional skills in compliance with
the new requirement of the CG Code on continuous
professional development during the Year:
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Attending seminars/
induction training/
reading materials

HEmSE,
AR,
BB M
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and SRICE (EFE R AT HAEE)

Chief Executive Officer) v
Mr. Wong E=pvias v
Non-executive Director FEHITES
Mr. Lyu =254 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Chan FRCHE v
Mr. Chow BiE v
Dr. Deng HtE L v/

Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and
materials to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge
and skills from time to time. All the information and
materials are relevant to the Group’s business, the
economy, corporate governance, rules and regulations,
accounting, financial or professional skills and/or
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to each Director. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expense. The company
secretary is responsible to keep records of training taken

by each Director.
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A.6 Board Meetings
A.6.1 Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Pursuant to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Board should meet regularly and Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year
for reviewing and approving financial statements,
operating performance, budgets, rules and
regulations, announcements and circulars issued
by the Company and considering and approving
the progress of the various on going projects, the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.
Additional meetings would be arranged if and
when required. Annual meeting schedules of each
meeting of the Board and for the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Committees”)
are normally made available to Directors and
members in advance. Board members are provided
with all agenda and adequate information for
their review at least 14 days before the meetings.
The Board and Board Committees members are
supplied with comprehensive meeting papers and
relevant materials within a reasonable period of
time in advance of the intended meeting date
(in any event no less than 3 days before the date
of the meeting). All Directors and the Board
Committees members are given opportunities to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board
and Board Committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision
making process, the Directors and the Board
Committees members are free to have access
to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.
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After the meeting, draft minutes are circulated
to all Directors and Committees’ members for
comments. Minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committees are kept by the
company secretary and are available for inspection
by the Directors at all times.

Directors may participate in meetings either
in person or through electronic means of
communications. Directors are free to contribute
and share their views at meetings and major
decisions will only be taken after deliberation at
Board meetings. Directors who are considered to
have conflict of interests or material interests in
the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed
will not be counted in the quorum of meeting
and will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.
Additional meetings are held when significant
events or important issues are required to be
discussed and resolved.
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During the Year, the Board convened six (6) full
Board meetings. The attendance records of the
Directors at Board meetings, Audit Committee
meetings, Remuneration Committee meetings,
Nomination Committee meetings and the general
meetings held during the Year are as follows:

RER EEEAHBNOG)RX
EREETTEE-SEETY
ERAFEARNESE
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FEE

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/ AERHEEERY

AC NC AGM
RREF

BNZRE RYWZAE xg

Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. Zhang (Chairman and REE (FRRITEER)
Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wong BERE

Non-executive Director FHTEZ

Mr. Lyu BRE

=t

Independent Non-executive BUERTES

Directors
Mr. Chan Bt
Mr. Chow BEE
Dr. Deng BEL

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring
Board approval were arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and
by written resolutions were well-documented.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written
resolutions are kept by the Company and are
available to all Directors.
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A.7 Board Diversity Policy

The Company is committed to equal opportunities in
all aspects of its business and does not discriminate on
grounds of gender, family status, disability, nationality,
race, ethnicity, religious or philosophical belief, age,
sexual orientation, or any other factor.

The Company recognises and embraces diversity in
the boardroom. The Company believes that a diversity
of perspective can benefit the Company and diversity
can be achieved by considering factors such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All Board appointments are therefore made
based on merit, and candidates are considered against
various objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Currently, all Board members are male. The Board has
set down its goals to appoint one female as Board
member no later than 31 December 2024 as part of
its effort to achieve diversity on the Board level. The
Nomination Committee will continue to monitor and
actively consider different aspects of diversity in the
boardroom, and recommend further actions or plan to
the Board when necessary.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees, namely,
the audit committee (“Audit Committee” or "AC"),
remuneration committee (“"Remuneration Committee”
or "RC") and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board
Committees have been established with defined written
terms of reference, which are posted on the HKEXnews
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company's website at
www.ziyygroup.com. All the Board Committees should report
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.
The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting
meetings of Board Committees follow in line with, so far as

practicable, those of the Board meetings set out above.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstance, at the Company's expense.

B.1 Remuneration Committee

The Company established the RC pursuant to a
resolution of passed on 12 June 2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The primary functions of the RC are to (i) make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of
the Group, (ii) review performance based remuneration;
and (iii) ensure none of the Directors determine their

own remuneration.

As at 31 December 2023, the RC currently consists
of an executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
and Dr. Deng. Dr. Deng currently serves as the chairman

of the RC.
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Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the Board and the
senior management by band for the Year is set out in
Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of each Director and the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group
for the Year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The members of the RC should meet at least once a
year. During the Year, the individual attendance records
of the each Director at the meeting of the RC is set out
on page 42 of this annual report.

Set out below is a summary of the work and related
tasks performed by the RC during the Year:

- reviewed the summary of remuneration package
paid to each Directors and senior management of
the Company;

- studied the current remuneration package,
policy and structure of all Directors (including
appointment(s), resignation(s) and retirement(s)
during the year);

- proposed remuneration packages with reference
to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the
Group and market conditions, the corporate
objective and goal set by the Board and a report
of salaries paid by the comparable companies to
directors and senior management; and

- reviewed the procedures of remuneration
policy, procedures and structure for fixing the
remuneration packages.
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B.2 Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the AC currently consists
of a non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lyu and
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
and Dr. Deng. Mr. Chan currently serves as the chairman
of the AC, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the AC are mainly to review the
financial information and reporting process, internal
control procedures and risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors and
arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

The members of the AC should meet not less than four
times a year to consider quarterly report, interim report
and annual report prepared by the Board and meet the
external auditors at least twice a year. During the Year,
the individual attendance records of each Director at the
meeting of the AC is set out on page 42 of this annual
report.
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B.3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Year, the AC met 5 times and performed the
following major tasks:

- Review and discussion of the quarterly, interim and
annual financial statements, results announcements
and reports, the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
audit findings;

- Review and discussion of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of
the Group;

- Review the internal control reports submitted by
the internal audit department of the Group; and

- Discussion and recommendation of the re-
appointment of external auditor.

During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditors in
respect of audit service and/or non-audit services
provided by the auditors to the Group were as follows:
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Nomination Committee

The principal duties of the Nomination review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of Committee are to (i)
review the Board; (ii) develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of
directors; (iii) identify qualified individuals to become
members of the Board; (iv) monitor the appointment
and succession planning of directors; and (v) assess the
independence of INEDs.
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As at 31 December 2023, the NC consists of an
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan and Dr. Deng. Mr. Zhang currently serves as the
chairman of the NC.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board,
the summary of which are set out below:

- With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development;

- In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; and

- All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The members of the NC should meet at least once
a year where appointment of the Directors will be
considered. During the Year, the individual attendance
records of the each Nomination Committees at the
meeting of the NC is set out on page 42 of this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Year, the NC met once and performed the
following major tasks:

- Review and discussion of the existing structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements for the business of
the Group;

- Assessment of the independence of the existing
INEDs;

- Recommendation on the re-appointment of
retiring Directors at the AGM pursuant to the
Articles of Association;

- Review and development of the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the board;

- Review and monitoring of the training and
continuous professional development of directors
and senior management;

- Review and monitoring of the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Review and monitoring of the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

- Review of the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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C. COMPANY SECRETARY

Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for advising the Board on the
corporate governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws,

rules and regulations, are followed.

Mr. Wong Kwok San and Ms. Li Xinpei were appointed as
the Joint Company Secretaries of the Group on 28 August
2019 and 13 January 2017 respectively. Both Mr. Wong Kwok
San and Ms. Li Xinpei have complied with all the required
qualifications, experiences and training requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules. For the Year, both of Mr. Wong Kwok
San and Ms. Li Xinpei complied with the GEM Listing Rules
by taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training.

D. DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards and principles,
applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the GEM

Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore the Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the

consolidated financial statements.

The responsibilities of the Group's external auditors,

Limited, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 105

to 112 of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

A nomination and corporate governance committee has
been established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management, the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal

and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance
policies and compliance with CG Code each financial year
and comply with the “comply or explain” principle in the
corporate governance report which will be included in the

annual reports after the Listing.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors (the “Required
Standard”). Having made specific enquiry, all the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required

Standard during the Year.

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of
the Required Standard as written guidelines for relevant
employees in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Required Standard. Besides, the
Company has adopted internal control policy in relation to
the disclosure of inside information of the Company (the
“Inside Information Policy”).

No incident of non compliance of the Required Standard and/
or the Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees
was noted by the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group’s internal control
system to safeguard the assets of the Group and shareholder
investments. The internal control system of the Group aims
to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn
minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against misstatement or losses.

The Board has conducted a review of the implemented
system and procedures, covering financial, operational and
legal compliance controls and risk management functions.
The Directors consider that the Group has implemented
appropriate procedures for safeguarding the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or misappropriation, maintaining
proper accounting records, segregation of duties and putting
plans and routines into execution with appropriate authority
and in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Company’s
internal audit department identifies the risks of the Group,
and independently reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems, including financial,
operational and compliance, in the key activities of the
Company’s business. The internal audit department reports
to the Audit Committee, and submits regular reports for its
review in accordance with the approved review and audit
mechanisms. The department submits a detailed report at
least once a year to the Board for its review and monitors
the risks identified and the effectiveness of the systems of
internal control and risk management of the Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review
report submitted by internal audit department and the
Company's risk management and internal control systems in
respect of the Year and considered that they are effective and
adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal
control systems by considering the internal control review
report and reviews performed by the Audit Committee and
concurred the same.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

| B2 T e P B B

EXgHRI HEMRETERZ

NEGEEAMKEREES T URE
FEFBEERRRRE-FERBZRN
BEERAEEREEN RSNE
BoRMEEABRAEEERZ B -
ZARMERMBRRANGRIEHRS
EMmIFEH RS

EFECRAMBTZRAAKRER
ERAMAREFREYH KERE
REREZEUKEREERE-EF
R AEEEEHREERF URE
FEBZEEFNENREREZBR
THRERBXFAENR FEBEZT
St BEDB ABEZRETE
MeEt 8 B EEE R ETHERER
RERR

ARBRENBERA - EAFH
PEREE 5T 80 B! A 5 B LR K 08 3L
BRAADEBTE LIRS ES
hEBREERER (BREYH EEREG
R) B > R ABIBA B E S E B F
EEGER I*E}Fﬁﬁuﬁ%zﬂﬁ
RS HE R B R S Bl E AR 1R 32
REHEBER -ZHFAISFREFS
ROVRR—REFMER S UHEER > I
BEECH R R R ASEREREBIES &
R EIERRRBIARL

EZEZERERAFERNI B ZELM
BRzZAPEEERREUARERT
ZRAREEBERABEERK  TRA
HEEYURAR - ZEFEBEBEEN
HEEERREREZEEGETY
e AR EER A BRI W
REEBERE-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group adopts a risk management framework which
comprises the following processes:

- Identify significant risk in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on
the Group’s business;

- Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

- Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group formulated the policies and procedures of risk
management and internal control as follows:

- The Group established an organizational structure
with clear operating and reporting procedures, lines of
responsibility and delegated authority;

- Each operating subsidiary maintains internal controls
and procedures appropriate to its structure whilst
complying with the Group’'s policies, standards and
guidelines;

- Relevant executive Directors and senior management
have been delegated with specific accountability for
monitoring the performance of designated business
operating units;

- A systematic review of the financial and business
processes in order to provide management on the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls.
Where weaknesses are identified in the system of
internal controls, management will evaluate and take
necessary measures to ensure that improvements are
implemented; and

- Code of ethics are established and adhered to by all
employees to ensure high standards of conduct and
ethical values in all business practices.

The Board reviewed that the risk management and internal
control system adopted by the Group for the Year and
considered that it was effective.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has approved and adopted the Inside Information
Policy for the Company since 9 July 2018 for monitoring
inside information to ensure compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information as set out in the Inside
Information Policy are summarised below:

Handling of Inside Information

1. Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. In cases
where a decision by the Board is pending or in cases
of incomplete negotiations, the Group shall implement
the procedures set out in the Inside Information Policy
to maintain the confidentiality of information. Until an
announcement is made, the Directors should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

2. Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and the
Company Secretary immediately, so that remedial
actions, including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

3. The Group’s Finance Department shall keep track of
the Group’'s threshold levels for disclosure pursuant
to the size tests under the GEM Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arises.

Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.ziyygroup.com). The electronic publication
system of the GEM is the first channel of dissemination of the
Group’s information before any other channel.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board puts great emphasis on investor relationship in
particular fair disclosure and comprehensive report of the
Company's performance and activities.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings
of the Company and the Directors always make efforts to
fully address any questions raised by the Shareholders at the
annual general meetings (the “AGM") and the extraordinary
general meetings (the “EGM") of the Company.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on Friday,
31 May 2024 (the “2024 AGM"), the notice of which shall
be sent to the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
whose contact details are stated in the section headed
"Corporate Information” of this annual report.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
an EGM of the Company and state the purpose therefore to
the Board or the Company Secretary.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner.
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The Company has adopted Communications Policy with
Shareholders and investors of the Company that provide
ready, equal and timely access to understandable information
about the Company. The Board welcomes Shareholders
for their comments and/or enquiries about the Company.
Shareholders may send their comments and/or enquiries to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary.
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposal for the
Company’s consideration at the general meetings of the
Company can send their proposal to the Company Secretary.

Pursuant to Articles of Association, if a Shareholder wishes
to propose a person other than retiring Directors for election
as a Director at a general meeting of the Company, the
Shareholder should deposit a written notice of nomination
which shall be given to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong within the 7 day period commencing
the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting (or
such other period as may be determined and announced by
the Directors from time to time). The relevant procedures is

posted on the Company’s website (www.ziyygroup.com).

The shareholders of the Company may at any time send
their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Contact

details are as follows:

Address:  Unit S10, 22/F., W Luxe, 5 On Yiu Street, Sha Tin,

New Territories, Hong Kong

E-mail: info@ziyuanyuan.com

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to
the Board and/or relevant Board Committees of the Company,
where appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in
an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company,
the Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining on-going dialogue with the Shareholders as
follows:

(a)

corporate communications such as annual reports,
quarterly reports, interim reports and circulars are issued
in printed form and are available on the GEM's website
and the Company’s website;

periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of
the GEM of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

corporate information is made available on the
Company’s website;

AGM and EGM provide a forum for the Shareholders to
make comments and exchange views with the Directors
and senior management; and

the Company’s share registrars serve the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment, change
of Shareholders’ particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association have been amended and restated
with effect from 2 June 2023, the latest version of full set of
memorandum and articles of association are available from
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

K.

EXELARS

B g 3R 2 3850
AERRT UGS T RS2
oA HRERBERMESRA
ARBHE AATBRIABRRER
BEHEZETRENT

(@) FHR - FTERES FHRSEEBE
bR 5 N B) B AN 9 LLEN R A2 20 FY
B W GEMAE I K 2 A B 48 i
AHER

(b) BEBIFAEHERAS LD
BT 2 P B S PRGEM B 25 A B 48
uh

(0 REEHAINERABELER ;

(d) REBFRERKRRFIRED
REREHRBE MFHBZEUR
HEEhSREEEBRIAER ;
P4

() FARBZRMBFRELEMRND
B -REKV -RRENES
REBEERBRERS -

SR

HEERMNERETREL B

T ZFRBTHEBEN EHBKE

REBERMBRERE2AEERRTAR

Bt S P A UL HR At o

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

517



58

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HEREREKS

ABOUT THE REPORT

Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (hereinafter referred to as

the "Group”, the "Company” or “we") is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”
or the “Report”). This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with
disclosure obligations under the “comply or explain” provisions
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the "ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose is to allow all stakeholders to learn more
about the Group’s progress and development direction in respect
of operation and sustainable development. The Group understands
the importance of the ESG report and is committed to making
continuous improvements in corporate social responsibility during
our course of business in order to better respond to the changing

needs of the advancing society.

APPLICABLE SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD
OF THE REPORT

This report covers the Group’s overall environmental, social and
governance performance and selected key performance indicators
("KP1") during 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”). A complete index is appended in the last
chapter hereof for reading this Report in accordance with the ESG
Guide.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, and management and
operation information collected in accordance with the Group’s
systems. This report was approved by the board of directors on 27
March 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is based on the following four reporting principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that
these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this ESG Report have been
collected prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social
performance data for standards and methodologies used for
calculation of key performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data
collection and calculation methods have remained consistent
throughout the years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of medical
equipment finance leasing services, maternal and child postpartum
care industry services and trading of medical equipment and
consumables business in the PRC. The Group's major operations
are located in Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Wuhan. Therefore,
the disclosures in this ESG Report focus on the policies and
performance of offices and business premises located in Shenzhen,
Guangzhou and Wuhan during the Reporting Period in relation to
the environmental aspects and social aspects.

OPINIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group attaches great importance to valuable opinions from
all stakeholders. If you are in any doubt or have any opinion
for this report, please feel free to contact the Group via E-mail
info@ziyuanyuan.com to share your opinions and suggestions.
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STAKEHOLDERS' ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ engagement is essential to the formulation of
strategies for sustainable development. It allows the Group to
understand risks and opportunities. The Group has identified
key stakeholders that are important to the Group’s business and
established various channels for communication.

Stakeholders Expectation

SV E=Y: e

Communication Channel

ROENZ2AENHENRFELREUKE
WEE - BAEERBRARBNKE ~EH
BETHAEREXZEHEZNHEEEN
FURYTEEBBER

Key Measures to Respond

FinE FEHA EBEAR EIFERY X B
Government - Comply with the laws - On-site inspections and The Group operated and managed according

- Tax payment according

to laws
- Promote regional

economic development

and employment

13453 - BTEE
— KERR
- HBEAKEERK

checks

Research and discussion
through work
conferences, work
reports preparation and
submission for approval
Publish information on
HKEXnews website,

such as annual and
interim reports and
announcements
Company's website

binb Lt e
BRIFgE - LIFRS
IR R IR AL BARR
EVrEE
BEXZMIKEZHILE
Bk MER - FEER
TRAE

NSNS
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to laws, strengthened safety management,
cooperated with government’s supervision,
inspection and evaluation (if any), and
actively undertaken social responsibilities.
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Expectation

FaHA

Communication Channel

BEAR

RIR HERERERS

Key Measures to Respond

O] FEBY = EHE 5E

Shareholders and
Investors

RERKREE

Employees

Return on investment
Information disclosure
and transparency
Shareholders’ interests
and fair treatment and
security

Control of operational
risk

REMEH

BB RERE
B m kA FRE
RIE

0 LA A
GEAREE

Safeguard the rights
and interests of
employees
Occupational health
and safety

Working environment
Career development
opportunities
Self-actualization
RIZ1E 8RR K
Gl
BEEREZE
TRIRER
BERERKE
BERER

Annual general meeting
and other general
meetings

Publish information on
HKEXnews website,
such as annual, interim,
quarterly reports and
announcements
Meeting with investors
and analysts
Company's website

BRRBFRGRAEMBKER
j(ﬁ

BBRGMKE S MEiL%E
hER MER FHK
FERERAE
BREZERDMMGE
NSNS

Conferences

Trainings and seminars
Cultural and sport
activities

Intranet and emails
Performance appraisals

DA,
B

B R g
MIERBEEE
BB 48 RS e B B
BT

The Group has issued notices of general

meetings and proposed resolutions
according to regulations, disclosed

the Group's information by publishing
announcements/notices and periodic
reports. The Group has also carried out
different forms of investor activities, such
as results briefing, with an aim to enhance
investors' recognition. The Group disclosed
the Company's contact details on website
and in reports to ensure all communication
channels are available and effective.

AEECRBERELMREAGBESRIER

RER BREMAE BENTEHRER
BEAERER IS FEEEREFBY
NNREZLY AINEEBR 5HERS
&ﬁ%-?ﬁ'$$@ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁi$ﬁ%
REMEFE RRFIABREEIA A
2o

The Group aims to provide a healthy and safe

working environment and develops a fair
mechanism for promotion. The Group has
established communication platforms for
employees.

AEESERHE-ERE R2NIFRE,

HEAT B A EEARRRIHE
Fa
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Stakeholders Communication Channel

Expectation

Key Measures to Respond

Fin& FEHA EBEBR [EIFERY E E
Customers - Safe and high-quality - Website, brochures and The Group has developed a customer
products and services published information feedback system in order to evaluate
- Stable relationships on HKEXnews website, services provided.
- Information such as annual, interim,
transparency quarterly reports and
- Integrity announcements
— Business ethics - Emails and customer
service hotlines
- Feedback forms
- Regular meetings
=R - Z2BEEGERE — HL-EEM-EERE FEERERTFLBRG LETEAMEMRN
— BERME PR B 7 iR hER B o
- BRBHE MER -PBERFERS
- #E SN
- BEER — BEBRERRBHE
- BRE#EX
- THEg=Z
Suppliers/Business - Long-term - Business meetings, The Group has invited tenders publicly

Partners

partnerships
- Honest cooperation
- Fairness and openness
- Information resources
sharing
- Risk reduction

supplier conferences,
phone calls and
interviews

Regular meetings
Reviews and assessments
Emails, circulars and
manuals

Company’s website

to select the best suppliers/business
partners performed contracts according

to agreements, enhanced daily
communications, and established long-term
cooperation with quality suppliers/business
partners.

HeEm, EBBYE - RESFEHE - ¥¥BeR HERSHE IEELHBARRESREMER/£%
- HWEAF B EH B REHZETS0 NMBREEER
- R¥ R - THEH WEEEMER EBBHEIRBSE
- DEEHNKR — RE R B & o
- BRERR — BB BRRTMH
— REMEL
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Stakeholders Expectation

RinE a8 BEAR

Communication Channel

RIR HERERERS

Key Measures to Respond

O] FEBY = EHE 5E

Peer/Industry - Experience sharing -

Associations — cooperation - Site visits
- Fair competitions

B /1TEBE - £R9=E - 1T%8=

HE - Bff — BEMEH
- REHEF

Market Regulators - Compliance with laws

and regulations - Reports
- Information disclosures
mEEEE — BFERER - BEfHE
- BRKE - WA
Public - Community - Voluntary work
involvement - Charity and social
- Social responsibilities investments
- Employment
promotion
HEAR - ftE2H - RIIfF
- HE8HE - BENHERE
— {RERE

Materiality Assessment

The management and employees that perform major functions
in the Group have all participated in preparing the ESG Report to
assist the Group in reviewing its operation, identifying relevant ESG
matters, and assessing the importance of such relevant matters
to our business and stakeholders. Information was collected from
relevant departments and business units of the Group based on the
major ESG matters that had been assessed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that appropriate
and effective management policies and control systems for ESG
matters have been established and that the disclosed contents
are in compliance with the requirements of the Reporting Guide.
Corporate governance is addressed separately in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of the Annual Report.

Industry conferences

Information disclosure

The Group has insisted on fair competitions,
cooperated with peers to realise win-win
situations, shared experience and attended
various seminars of the industry so as to
promote sustainable development of the
industry.

BEEATHRP HERESE BRER P=F
K 2MERBITEMA S HHITENT
FERE-

The Group has strictly complied with
regulatory requirements and disclosed and
reported true information in a timely and
accurate manner according to laws.

FEBBRBETEERT  REBEEERF %
MR ERZREEER -

The Group has given priority to local
citizens in respect of job opportunities so
as to promote community building and
development and maintained smooth
communication channels between the
Group and the community.
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EEHBTE
FEBEZTIERENEEBRRBEIHAR
HERRE - HERELARS  UHHEE
Ems HEFBERRERNERRE LB K
EAEE L EEREEERMANEFLU
REFNENERMN - RFLTEIRE
HEREREEFE AAEEERABPIR
EHEMWEER-

RESH AEERIERRE - HERE
BAEERIGBRAVNEERRAEE
R WHEDBFANBEASTEREREIINE
RoBUHRFRERERARSIA

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

63



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HEREREKS

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

The sector where the Group operates is not a major source of

environmental pollution. In addition, the business of the Group

does not involve industrial activities. Therefore, total amount of

emissions, resource usage and waste production is relatively low.

However, the Group believes that it is the social responsibility of all

corporations to ensure that emissions of pollutants and resource

consumption are minimised and carbon emissions is reduced.

For such purpose, the Group aims to achieve its stated goals by

reducing carbon dioxide emissions, resource consumption and

waste production.

A1l.

Emissions Management

Exhaust Emission

The exhaust emission of the Group mainly derives from
the fuels used by vehicles. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had two vehicles which consumed an aggregate
of approximately 6,380 litres of gasoline and travelled
approximately 51,037 km in total. Due to the business
nature of the Group, employees take public transport to visit
customers’ companies and vehicles of the Group are used
only in special cases. Meanwhile, the Group encourages
employees to take electric public transport whenever possible
for meetings or activities and reduce the use of private cars.
For activities at nearer destinations, the Group encourages
employees to walk as far as possible instead of taking the
transportation.

During the Reporting Period, exhaust emissions were as
follows:

IRIGEE
AEEMEEZ AU FRBESRANEE
RER SN REBMBEBT AP R TEE
g EIEHR BEREBMNERYEESE
AR ETFEH B

AT AEER B ER SRR ER
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BEYEEMEIREER

Al. BFRMEIRE
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MBI ER - BE S _=F+_4
=t B AEEREEE@MRE EH
A MmN A6,3800F  BITHAEDN
A51,037TR B BN AEBMER S
B oEBIGFEALDIRAERAAHE
RBEITE REEEHRBERAERAE
EEme AR AEBEBBTE2M
SNHEEEREHR BEFHEHA
HERXBEITR BIOERALREHEHE
M EAN A AEEmBE T /#
EUFTRERERBEIA

PREREHAA BERIFRAT

Amount of

Emissions (kg)

Type of Exhaust EEEE4E BEE (F3=)
Nitrogen oxides 81t 3.828
Sulphur oxides meEty 0.064
Particulate emissions SRR 0.255
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group's main sources of greenhouse gas emissions
are direct emissions from vehicles, indirect emissions from
electricity consumption for office operation and indirect
emissions from employees taking planes for business trips.
The Group attaches great importance to adopting the
energy saving initiatives as mentioned in the section “Use of
Resources”, and reduce the impact of these emissions on the
environment by monitoring energy consumption and reducing
itineraries which require the Group’s senior management
taking private cars.

Greenhouse gas emissions are partly generated from
combusting gasoline by the three vehicles owned by
the Group. The Group's vehicles are mainly used by the
senior management to commute between Hong Kong and
Shenzhen. However, in consideration of environmental
protection and cost saving, the senior management chose to
take the public transport for commuting between Shenzhen
and Hong Kong.

Meanwhile, greenhouse gas emissions are also generated
from electricity consumption for the operation in the Group's
office and the postpartum care centers. The Group aims
to reduce electricity consumption in daily operation as the
amount of indirect greenhouse gas emissions depend on the
units of electricity consumed. Specific measures adopted by
the Group to reduce electricity consumption are set out in the
section headed “Use of Resources—Electricity” of this Report.

During the Reporting Period, employees travelled by plane
318 times for business trips. Those trips by plane generated
an aggregate of approximately 40 tonnes of carbon dioxide
emissions. Employees only take plane for business trips
when necessary as the Group pursues the policy of emissions
reduction. Under normal circumstances, the Group will
arrange for conference calls or video conferences instead
of face-to-face meetings to reduce indirect greenhouse gas
emissions from transportation.
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During the Reporting Period, greenhouse gas emissions were

as follows:

REBSHA BEREBHFRUOT

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Unit Amount
BERBEBERK B =
Scope 1 — Direct Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 17
HEEN—BEEHMW W —EERE 2
Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 544
#HE2—EREEHN MR ICIREE
Scope 3 - Other Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 40
#HES—HEMEEHR MR ICIREE
Total Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 601
= MR ICREE

Waste and Wastewater

Solid waste produced by the Group was mainly generated
from the office and the postpartum care centers, including
daily paper usage, office document waste, food waste,
paper towels, masks, plastic gloves and disposable protective
gowns. All waste is uniformly classified, collected and
disposed by the property management office on a regular
basis.

The Group is committed to reducing waste production and
encourages employees to recycle stationery and reduce waste
with an aim to reduce waste production from the source.
Moreover, the Group has adopted a digital operation model
to centralise the handling of documents and regularly convey
environmental protection messages to employees. Permission
is also required for printing in the office for statistics and
adjustments in respect of paper usage in order to enhance
resource utilization.
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The Group has established appropriate measures for the
disposal of computer and related products, such as printers
and toner cartridges. The Group transfers or reuses excess
digital products, while obsolete accessories or used toner
cartridges are collected by third party companies for recycling.

In case it is necessary to dispose of an item, the Group also
encourages employees to collect and classify the waste
before disposing so as to reduce negative impacts on the
environment.

No hazardous wastewater was generated by the Group
during the Reporting Period as the only type of wastewater
produced was domestic wastewater from the office and the
postpartum care centers. Domestic wastewater is directly
discharged to the sewer network and is treated by local
municipal wastewater treatment plants. During the Reporting
Period, domestic wastewater generated by the Group was
solely controlled by the property management company.
In this case, it is not feasible for the Group to provide
wastewater data as there is no sub-meter to record the data.
As wastewater volume depends on water consumption,
specific measures have been adopted by the Group to reduce
water consumption, details of which are set out in the section
headed “Use of Resources — Water” of this ESG Report.

Use of Resources

The Group attaches great importance to the effective use of
resources, and is committed to reducing waste of resources
in daily operation. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has complied with relevant laws and regulations in relation
to the use of energy. Since the Group has not engaged in
the manufacturing business, no problem was encountered in
identifying suitable water source and no packaging materials
were used. Resources used by the Group were mainly
electricity, water and paper.

A2.
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Electricity

The Company acknowledges the importance of energy
saving and the fact that reducing electricity consumption will
indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions so the Group has
promoted various energy saving strategies. To strengthen
each employee’s awareness on environmental protection
and energy saving, the Group has placed reminders of “For
electricity saving, please switch off the light when leaving”
at prominent places in the office and the postpartum care
centers. The Group encourages employees and the customers
the postpartum care centers to set air conditioner at a
moderate temperature and switch them off when they are not
in use to reduce electricity consumption.

All electricity consumption by the Group was directly from
daily operation in the office and the postpartum care centers.
During the Reporting Period, total electricity consumption of
the Group amounted to approximately 1,454,348 kWh.

Water

Water was mainly consumed by staff at work in the Group
and the customers in the postpartum care services centres.
To improve the utilisation efficiency of water resource, the
Group and all its employees have laid emphasis on water
conservation and are committed to saving every drop of the
precious water resource through practicable but effective
ways, for examples, promote to and educate employees to
save water regularly, place water saving slogans in prominent
places and encourage water conservation and report to
the property management company to fix dripping taps
immediately when the taps are broken. During the Reporting
Period, the water consumption of the Group amounted to
approximately 14,160 m?3.

Paper

The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures to minimise paper usage at the office and the
postpartum care centres. Employees are encouraged to use
both sides of paper, and the back of single-sided documents
is used for printing or as draft paper. If possible, employees
may use the suitable font size and indentation to minimise
the pages. Besides, electronic media is recommended for
circulation and communication so as to minimise paper
usage. During the Reporting Period, the total office paper
consumption was approximately 1 tonnes.
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During the Reporting Period, total resource consumption was
as follows:

RIR HERERERS

RESHA ERERBHEENT

Use of Resources Unit Amount
BRAR B e
Electricity consumption kWh 1,454,348
EAHE FEE

Water consumption Cubic metres 14,160

KIHFE 35K
Paper consumption Tonnes
HIREFE g

The Group will keep recording its resource consumption for
reviewing effectiveness of its conservation measures in the
future and formulating more specific improvement measures
and objectives.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Regarding the operation of the Group, the Group was
not aware of any significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources. With the implementation
of green measures, the Group strived to minimise impacts
on the environment and natural resources. The Group will
continue to implement environment-friendly practices in
the Group’s operation in order to enhance environmental
sustainability.

A3.
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A4,

Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in provision of medical
equipment finance leasing services, maternal and child
postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC which does
not involve production. The increase in temperature may lead
to a rise in the energy consumption of the Group's offices
and the postpartum care centers. The Group will continue
to monitor the potential risks of climate change and its
impacts on the Group’s operations and its customers; and
devise and implement preventive and emergency measures
accordingly. Besides, the Group will put its efforts into
controlling energy consumption and carbon emissions. The
Group is fully aware of the operational risks brought forth
by climate change. Therefore, the Board is responsible for
providing effective governance for integrating and addressing
the climate change issue within its businesses, which includes
conducting, reviewing and monitoring the climate change risk
related to its business operations, if any. The Board develops
its risk management system to identify, prioritise and assess
climate change-related risks such as heatwaves, drought, and
typhoons according to the impact and likelihood of such risks.
Due to the business nature, the Board does not anticipate any
significant climate related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the Group and the actions taken to
manage them.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group regards employees as the cornerstone of its corporate
operation and development. Therefore, the Group attaches
great importance to the training and welfare of employees, and
are committed to providing a working environment with job
satisfaction. The Group provides competitive remuneration and
sound promotion opportunities to facilitate career development of
employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
labour legislations and related regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The Group was not involved in any violation relating to
labour practices and would have a significant impact on the Group.

B1. Employees

The Group aims to attract and retain talents, ensures a safe
and equal working environment for employees, provides
development opportunities and promotes employees’ health
and well-being. The Group has formulated the staff manual
according to relevant labour regulations, covering the Group’s
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, leave and standards of other rights and
benefits. The Group strictly complied with the applicable laws
and regulations in relation to labour in the PRC and Hong
Kong.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 184
employees, with the employee structure as follows:
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1
Male Female

Employees Employees Total
Age Group FEHH R BEHES ZHES =5
18 to 20 18-207% - 1 1
21 to 30 21-303% 10 72 82
31 to 40 31-405% 38 43 81
41 to 50 41-508% 7 11 18
51 to 60 51-60%% 1 1 2
Total YN 56 128 184
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Male Female
Employees Employees Total
Region tE EHES ZER &%
Mainland China FR ] P dth 53 128 181
Other Regions Outside R P dth DA S E A 3 &
Mainland China 3 - 3
Total YN 56 128 184
Male Female
Employees Employees Total
Employment type E{ELE R BEES ZHES =1
Full-time and contracted e A= 51 119 170
Others (part-time, Hh GRE -~ T HRAEER R
fixed-term or casual) 5 9 14
Total YN 56 128 184

A total of 191 employees left the Group in 2023, with

statistics of such employees as follows:

RTE=F —HAEINRESRE
B U TAREEBRBA

Employee

Male Female turnover

Employees Employees Total rate

BE K

Age Group FHe#H R EHEE ZHREE &5t tb =
18 to 20 18-20%% - 10 10 2.7%
21 to 30 21-305% 11 72 83 22.1%
31 to 40 31-403% 31 36 67 17.8%
41 to 50 41-505% 2 19 21 5.6%
Over 51 515 L £ 1 9 10 2.7%
Total AN 45 146 191 50.9%
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Talent Recruitment and Retention

Employees are the core assets to maintaining corporate
competitiveness, and the key to corporate success. The
Group provides a fair and impartial talent selection system
and continuously improves the system to recruit talents. The
Group has formulated an annual recruitment plan and filled
job vacancies based on the principle of “internal staffs before
external candidates” in order to offer internal promotion
and re-designation opportunities to existing employees. The
Group recruits external candidates through the Company's
website, recruitment website, job market, newspapers and
media, headhunting companies and employee’s referral. The
Group ensures that the recruitment and promotion processes
are fair, open and transparent, and selects candidates
depending on objective factors such as candidates’ working
experience, skills, academic background, communication
skills, personal qualities.

The Group adheres to the principle of employing talents
with both ability and moral integrity, and regards morality,
knowledge, ability and performance as the main evaluation
criteria, so as to put talents at suitable positions and retain
talents. The Group has formulated a set of staff performance
appraisal mechanism, in which appropriate remuneration
adjustment is made annually based on staff performance to
reduce talent loss.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides staff with reasonable and competitive
remuneration and staff benefits. Based on work performance,
periodic performance and job appraisal, the Group provides
remuneration adjustment and job promotion. The Group
strictly complied with the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E AR HME T EREE) and the
Labour Law of the People's Republic of China (F#E AR
ME % EE), and made timely contribution to “five social
insurance and one housing fund (ABE—=%)" (being five
social insurance, including endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and
employment injury insurance, and housing provident fund),
mandatory provident fund and labour insurance. Apart from
basic statutory holidays, wedding and funeral leave, maternity
leave, work-related injury leave, annual leave and family
planning leave, the Group also offers additional staff benefits,
including working luncheon and transportation allowances.
These benefits boost employees’ sense of belonging to the
Company, create a good working atmosphere and enhance
enterprise cohesion.
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B2.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

As a diversified enterprise, the Group strives to create
a diversified and harmonious working environment for
employees and protect them from discrimination and
harassment. The Group formulated employment policies
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZ AR HFEI% &%) and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (A& A
EHXMEE#EFE) and provides equal opportunities in
respect of recruitment, training, promotion, job transfer,
remuneration, benefits, and termination of contracts. These
equal employment opportunities are not affected by age,
gender, physical conditions, marital status, family status, race,
colour, nationality, religion, political connection or sexual
orientation. The Group requires employees to abide by anti-
discrimination practices as set out in the Employee Code of
Conduct.

The Group also values female employees’ career development
and ensures that they have equal promotion opportunities
as male employees. The Group also complies with the
requirements under the Law of the People's Republic of China
on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests (FHEE A
EHARBLERREL) . Female employees’ employment
contracts will not be released or terminated during their
pregnancy, maternity leave and breastfeeding period and they
are entitled to basic salaries.

Health and Safety

Based on the business nature of the Group, employees
mainly work at office and postpartum care centres and their
possibility of sustaining work injuries is limited. During the
Reporting Period, no serious work injury incident occurred
within the Group. For laws and regulations in Mainland China
in relation to the occupational health standards and safe
production, there was no violation of the laws and regulations
regarding the provision of safe working environment by the
Group during the Reporting Period. The Group has always
maintained work-related injury insurance for all employees
in accordance with the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China (R ZE A RHEMEH S REIE) .

In addition, the Group has implemented a series of policies
to foster and maintain a favourable, comfortable and healthy
working environment:

o to maintain obstruction-free emergency exits at
workplace;

o to provide a workplace with adequate illumination and
moderate temperature;

o to prohibit smoking at workplace; and

o to conduct safety inspections and fire prevention
training regularly.
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Development and Training

The Group has provided comprehensive trainings to
employees, including face-to-face trainings, sharing among
departments, online learning and internal and external
trainings according to the Group's Staff Handbook and
other related internal policies. The Group has provided
employees with diversified on-the-job training. Orientation
trainings were offered to new employees in respect to
skills and knowledge trainings and attitude building. Skills
and knowledge trainings and attitude building allow new
employees to be familiar with the corporate culture and the
background of the Company. According to job duties and
company development, the Group provides employees with
skills and trainings. Continuous assessments are conducted to
keep track on the performance of employees.

Trainings covered a variety of topics in order to cater
the needs for employees from different departments, for
instance, management skills and trainings related to medical
equipment. The Group believes development of employees
are crucial to sustainable corporate development. The Group
will enhance the training system in order to promote personal
development of employees.

B3.
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Percentage of

employees Average Training

trained training hour Hours

Employees training BT ZHETLEF  FI9FIIEE Z el 8
Senior management BHREEEAER 60.0% 28.7 287.3
Administrative staff THAE 33.3% 2.4 12.0
Other staff Hith A8 64.3% 4.0 772.7

Percentage of

employees Average Training

trained training hour Hours

Employees training ST ZAMEILEF  FI9EIEE k|| LE
Male employees BEMREE 82.4% 8.8 537.5
Female employees ZHEE 60.6% 3.9 534.5
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B4.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
the PRC. The Group tolerates no child labour or forced and
compulsory labour, allows no employment of child labour
or forced and compulsory labour which are prohibited by
international standards and relevant regulations in the PRC.
Before employment, new employees shall show their ID cards
to avoid child labour. During the Reporting Periods, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance regarding child labour,
forced or compulsory labour in its operation.

Protection of the Interests of Employees

The Group is committed to protecting human rights, and has
established a respectful, honest and fair working environment
for employees and customers and complied all relevant laws
and regulations. Laws and regulations relating to employment
and labour which would have significant impacts on the
Group include the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China (R 2E AR H£HMEZ5E10%) and the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China (FZE AR XENEESHEE
7&) . There was no significant violation by the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Operational Practices

The Group believes that the best operational practices are
keys to the realisation of sustainable development and long-
term corporate growth. Our qualities of integrity, honesty
and fairness have also been reflected in the Code of
Business Conduct, Employee Code of Conduct, supply chain
management, environmental protection practices and product
assurance.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that establishing sustainable supply
chain and facilitating interaction and communication with
suppliers and banks could improve confidence of customers
and other stakeholders on the Group. Therefore, the
Group only maintains long-term cooperative relationships
with medical equipment and consumables suppliers with
good creditworthiness, sound goodwill, quality products
and services, good track record and eligibility. Focusing on
establishing close cooperation relationships with suppliers,
the Group has been working together with them to reduce
impacts on the environment from production processes while
ensuring the quality of service to customers. The Group
has formulated written policies and guidance to monitor
suppliers’ performance regularly in order to control service
quality more effectively. The Group will cease cooperation
with suppliers which fail to meet its requirements. During the
Reporting Period, there was no supplier which failed to meet
such requirements. During the Reporting Period, the Group
had around 219 suppliers, and all of them are from the PRC.

Product Responsibility

Providing efficient and high-quality services to customers
have always been the utmost concern for the Group. The
Group’s objective is that customers have confidence in our
services and they are provided with sufficient information
to make informed choices. To improve service quality of the
Group, the Company conducts site visits and regular visits
in order to have in-depth understanding on actual demands
and development targets of customers. By establishing long-
term and good cooperation with customers, the Company
has efficiently supported the economic development in the
regions of operation and indirectly facilitated employment
in those regions. Meanwhile, the Group has proactively
acquired customer feedbacks, including feedbacks from site
visits and feedbacks by phone. Therefore, the Group has a
set of policies and procedures in place to monitor and control
quality, so as to ensure customers’ opinions are efficiently
collected and handled. During the Reporting Period, no
products sold or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
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The Group recognises that the quality of the products is
crucial to the goodwill and image of the brand. The sales
department and quality control department of the Group are
responsible for processing any comments and/or complaints
from customers. The Group highly values the feedback from
the customers with regards to its products. The Group has
implemented after-sales services, such as customer service
hotlines and follow-up procedures. The Group generally deals
with and processes the complaints in cooperation with the
business partner and provides replies and solutions within 7
days.

Quality Management

The Group has established the “Quality Management Policy”
with aims to add value for customers through business
processes that support the services offered. To enhance
service quality, the Group collects customers’ feedback on
services provided and designated staff would report the
same to the management. The Group has also issued the
Staff Operational Manual and organised training sessions
to familiarise employees with the standard operational
procedures. The Group is committed to providing quality
services to customers through enhancing the senior
management’s administrative ability and the strength of
operation employees.

Protection of Customer Data and Privacy

The Group handles significant amount of personal data
and credit information of customers. The Group upholds a
belief that information security and privacy are key principles
for operation. The Group's employees are required to sign
a confidentiality agreement acknowledging receipt and
agreement of their responsibility and obligation regarding the
protection and non-disclosure of customer data. In addition,
information can only be used in authorised business activities.
Employees disclosing such information to other parties
is considered as data theft. Related employees shall bear
corresponding responsibility.

During the Reporting Period, there were no noted case of
violation of relevant laws or regulations regarding product
responsibility.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding ethics and integrity
during the operation process. No form of corruption or
bribery is tolerated. Sound judgements for transactions with
customers, suppliers, contractors, job seekers, colleagues
or any other third party should be ensured. All applicable
laws and regulations shall be duly complied with so as to
always maintain the highest standard of integrity. With a
view to protecting the Group’s interest, the Group requires
employees to strictly follow the code of conduct listed in
the employee manual. The Group also provides relevant
training to employees regularly with an aim to enhance their
awareness on anti-corruption, money laundering and other
illegal acts. During the Reporting Period, the Company rigidly
abided by the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
(FEAREMBE K EEE) and other
laws and regulations in respect of anti-corruption, bribery,
fraud and money laundering. Reference to the aforesaid
laws and regulations, the Group has developed the “Anti-
Money Laundering Policy”, which provided that staff of
the business department shall learn potential customers’
background completely through consulting documentation
and communicating with customers according to relevant
internal guidance before commencing business dealings with
them. The Company’s risk management department also
collects information of current customers in respect of uses
of proceeds, sources of repayment funding and operational
conditions. The risk management department also acquires
their latest information from time to time and report to the
senior management once abnormal situation is identified.

Republic of China

Pursuant to the requirements of the Group’s relevant policies,
employees may question suspected misconduct or misconduct
orally or in writing. The Group will make every effort to
treat all reports in a strictly confidential way. The identity of
the reporting and complaining employee is not allowed to
be disclosed without his/her consent, unless the Group is
legally obliged to disclose the employee’s identity and other
information. In case of suspected corruption or other criminal
offences, the Group will report to the applicable departments.

The Group has always strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, no corruption
behaviour nor litigation by the Group or employees of the
Group has been noticed.
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COMMUNITY

BS.

Community Investment

The Group deeply realised the importance of returning to the
society and spared no effort in providing help to community.
The Group strongly encouraged its staff to participate in
community activities and contribute to the sustainable
development of the harmonious society. Looking forward, the
Group will continue to focus on community care and staff
development with an aim to improve the society through
participation in the community. The Group actively undertakes
social responsibility and devotes itself to various social welfare
activities > making unremitting exploration and efforts to
achieve the promotion of harmonious social progress and the
win-win development.
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B. #&
Aspect B1: Employment and Labour Practices
BEB1: EERETLER
General Disclosure Information on: 71
— AR iR EE ERFHMREE - BERSH TR -BRA - TERE Lt
152 R AR ELAM 5 48 e A2 1) Y
(a) the policies; and
(@) BE; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEAZENEREZERRANER
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 71
geographical region
B1.1 B REEE - FRAN R &S DN ESRH
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region 72
B1.2 R FlReAER R ES D EERKLLE

EanEREEARAA

FEHRSE 2023 §3



84

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF  HEREARS

Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR NE BIEEZRS|
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: BFLEZE
General Disclosure Information on: 74
— AR B ERREZ2TIHRRERREEERCHELTCSH !

(a) the policies; and

(a) HMHE; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

(b) BFHETABEARTENEREZERRANER

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.
B2.1 Number and rate of work related fatalities N/A
B2.1 AT ERAFRMIETAIAB KR EA
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury N/A
B2.2 HAITHBELRITFEEH ER
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how 74

they are implemented and monitored
B2.3 HMPTER M B R L 25 UREAITRER S E
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
FEHE AE BEE%ES5|
Aspect B3: Development and Training
BEB3 . BRI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 75
duties at work and description of training activities
— AR iR EE BRRAEEEBITIERENA # R ENBER REMEIES
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by employee category (e.g. 75
senior management, middle management)
B3.1 ZEEBHEN NEREEE -FREEES 2I0NTIEEE DL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 75
employee category
B3.2 Bt REEERZ D BREETHRIINTHEH
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEEB4 > & TH#E
General Disclosure Information on: 76
— AR B BRABIEET %55 TH .
(a) the policies; and
(@) BE; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEAZENEREERRANER
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child 76
and forced labour
B4.1 AT IEHS B A8V E i LU R B T K sa s T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered 76
B4.2 T S BE R B R R H IR A RIS T Pr R EX RS & BR

EanEREEARAA

FEHRSE 2023 §§



86

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF  HEREARS

Subject Areas Content Page Index

FEHE AE BEE%ES5|

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

/EEB5 & REHEETE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 77
chain

— ARk EE EEMEENIRIE RS RAREBER

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region 77

B5.1 wrMEd o HERHE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 77
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored

B5.2 BRI A HEEAES  mERTHEREANEEEEE - Uk
BRIBOINAITREGEEHE

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks 77
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored

B5.3 WA R A RS AR NIRE g AR EG » USRI B
TRERERZE

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 77
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

B5.4 HitEHEHEEREESARRERKRBAVES > URAEBBE#RIT

BERE
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
FEHE AE BEE%ES5|

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6 @ EmEIEL

General Disclosure Information on: 77
— RN E ERFRRHEERNBRENREEAZ S BES ERMABEEEURE
R ER

(@) the policies; and

(@) HH; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

(b) BTHETABEAZENHEBZRNAHNER

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 77
safety and health reasons

B6.1 BEFCEXERBYHFERLLERRBEEAMEBELWNE DL

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how N/A
they are dealt with

B6.2 BEMNERRBRHNEHFEE UREYE S Z FEA

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting N/A
intellectual property rights

B6.3 R E R REE R ERBRNIES FEA

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures 78

B6.4 W E SR TEIBREREREBIKREZER

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how 78
they are implemented and monitored

B6.5 HHCHBE B RERMBRER > UREBRNITRER G A
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RIE g KRER
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR AE BIEEZRS|
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: REF
General Disclosure Information on: 79
— AR B BRI LEFREE - g1 R~ REF R e B 88 R0 ¢
(a) the policies; and
() HBHR; XK
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEARTENEREZERRANER
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 79
against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases
B7.1 RREANEETANEEERETYEEENESHARZHNHE
VeEiEN
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, 79
how they are implemented and monitored
B7.2 AR BB HE i B R R AR T U R IT R &R 5%
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff 79
B7.3 HimESERETIRENRESEI
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 80
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests
— AR B B EZHERBEREEMTHERENRFREEREHEZT R
& AR
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution 80
B8.1 FXEREE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus areas 80
B8.2 TEEILBABAER

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. During the Year, the Group is
principally engaged in provision of medical equipment finance
leasing services, maternal and child postpartum care industry
services, trading of medical equipment and consumables business

in the PRC.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position
of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 115 of this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the
discussion on the Group's future business development are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, and the description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and key financial performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements. No important event affecting the
Group has occurred during the Year up to the date of this annual

report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

EFEMARINHFERS
FEZEBEZRGHMHRE-

BERAEE X

EFEXFH
FABZETEEBZR/REER -HNBAT
ZEBEBENG M BREME36 A&
EEAFETERPELERHEERSMW
REBREHERT SBREFEERFTRE
BREMREBEMEZERS -

ES

AEERFEL EBEURKAARKEH
REBZHBERRBNAEREI13E15
B2 GARBERE

F 5008

FERRAFEZEZBLBERNERREK
FHERZIRBEN ETERE IR EEE
Sk oi—f URAEEEEREZEE
JE\ B 52 1~ BR B[R] 2% 4 4t sz R 58 B 755 AR S 9E
BRENEEBTREON — B -rEEZ
MERRERERKBRENGEMHR
%%MT%‘BS AEEREEFFREH BE

TEREEZEEZE -

L ER N
FEBREEEZNE HERREEY S
BRR G EHBRENE5

REWME
AEERAFEZRENESDHFBERR
A MBRRME7

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

89



90

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERT

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital is set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered by the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
save as disclosed above, none of these related party transactions
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions, which are required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to owners comprising share premium account and
accumulated losses, amounted to approximately RMB38.6 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for approximately
7.8% and 26.6% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.

During the Year, the cost of sales attributable to the Group's largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
30.2% and 49.1% of the Group's total cost of sales, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
GEM Listing Rules) or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lyu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan

Mr. Chow

Dr. Deng

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Director for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting. All Directors appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of shareholders after their appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out on
pages 26 to 28 of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is
acquitted.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang, being the executive Director, has entered into a new
service agreement with the Company with effect from 12 June
2021. The service contract is for an initial term of three years and
shall continue thereafter unless and until it is terminated by our
Company or our Director giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing. In addition, Mr. Zhang has also
entered into a service contract with a PRC subsidiary. The service
agreement can be terminated by either party by giving the other
party one month’s written notice in advance or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Mr. Wong, being the executive Director, has not entered into any
service agreement with the Company in relation to his directorship
in the Company. Mr. Wong has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for his salaried role in the Company, which can
be terminated by either party by giving the other party one month’s
written notice in advance or otherwise in accordance with the
terms of the service contract.

Mr. Lyu, being the non-executive Director, did not renew any
service agreement for his directorship with the Company after the
expiry of his service agreement as a director on 14 August 2022.
Mr. Lyu has entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 31 May 2022 in respect of his position as the deputy general
manager of the Company, which can be terminated by either party
by giving the other party one month’s written notice in advance or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Each of Mr. Chan and Mr. Chow, being all our Independent Non-
executive Directors, has entered into a new letter of appointment
with our Company on 12 June 2021. Each letter of appointment
is for an initial term of three years and shall continue thereafter
unless terminated by either party giving at least three month's

notice in writing.

Dr. Deng, being the Independent Non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with our Company on 31
December 2021.
of three years and continue thereafter unless terminated by either

The letter of appointment is for an initial term

party giving at least three month’s notice in writing.
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None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the directors of the Company and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively. There has been
no arrangement under which any Director has waived or agreed to
waive any emolument.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest whether directly or indirectly, existed at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not enter into or have
any management and administration contracts in respect of the
whole or any principal business of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in Shares and underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO)
which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
(b) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or

therein; or (c) have to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,

were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Director/chief executive  Capacity/Nature of interest
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KRB EIIFE

Number of
Shares held/
interested in

Approximate
percentage of

B8/ HEk: R RERE4
BEE TETHAEHSE B/ EEHE & E Bt
Mr. Zhang" @ Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 300,000,000 75%
jointly with another person
REENO REFEERED B A ATHREFEN#ER
Mr. Zhang Junwei®® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 300,000,000 75%

jointly with another person
RERELOO

REHERRED  BR - A ALHRFENED
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Notes:

On 24 February 2017, the ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Junwei entered into
a concert parties confirmatory deed to acknowledge and confirm,
among other things, that they are parties acting in concert with each
member of the Group from the incorporation dates of the respective
members of the Group and continue as at and after the date of the
concert parties confirmatory deed, details of which are set out in the
subsection headed "History and Reorganisation—Parties Acting in
Concert” in the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the parties acting
in concert arrangement, each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Hero Global Limited (“Hero Global”) (being wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang), Mr. Zhang, Icon Global Holding Limited (“lcon
Global”) (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei) and Mr. Zhang
Junwei, is deemed to be interested in 75.0% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

300,000,000 Shares in which Mr. Zhang is interested consist of the
following: (i) 219,801,980 Shares held by Hero Global, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang, in which Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested under the SFO; and (ii) 80,198,020 Shares in which Mr.
Zhang is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting-
in-concert with Mr. Zhang Junwei.

300,000,000 Shares in which Mr. Zhang Junwei is interested consist
of (i) 80,198,020 Shares held by Icon Global, a company wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei, in which Mr. Zhang Junwei is deemed to
be interested under the SFO; and (ii) 219,801,980 Shares in which Mr.
Zhang Junwei is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party
acting-in-concert with Mr. Zhang.
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Long position in the associated corporations

Name of Director/

Name of associated

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FIEE A BRI E
Number and
class of

EFERS

Percentage

chief executive corporations Capacity/ nature of interest securities of Shareholding
Eickzd 4=

EX /IBETHAESHR MHEEEERE Sip/ #EHE gl REB DL

Mr. Zhang Hero Global Beneficial owner 50,000 100%
ordinary shares

REE Hero Global BmEBA 50,0008 & i % 100%

Mr. Zhang Junwei Icon Global Beneficial owner 100 100%
ordinary shares

RERRE BHZ2IK BB A 1008 EER 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had an interest or
short position in any shares or underlying shares and/or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or that was required to be recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,

pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Be

rREXEBEEN RZZB2EZ_=F+2"A
=+—HB BEARDEFNEBZTHAE
RAERBDHEEAEEER (EEREFK
HA G 1R 1 55XV EDR) RY(E I AR 1 S AR RA AR 15 R
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2023, the
persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had interests in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register of the
Company were as follows:

FERRNAQT KRG RABRRMERS
)iy

BESEFN N_E_=ZF+_-_A=+—
H REABIRMS REBRBROTESER
(ERRBHRIPAEBRAEXVE) » MR
EHHERIAEGRGAIEXVEH2RFE3IN I K
NEAFHENIRESD S RIS G 5E3360K
BAELENAABNELMZALT (KAF
BEEFTETHASRID W

Long positions in the Shares HREIIFE
Number of Approximate
Shares held/ percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest interested in shareholding
BE/BEEE RRAERE4
[EE LY g3/ #zElE NkRHEHE BAL
Hero Global® Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 300,000,000 75%
another person
Hero Global” BEalEB N B - AT HRAFENER
Icon Global® Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 300,000,000 75%
another person
EH IR BRBEAAN BE— L AT HRFENER
Ms. Tang Yiping? Interest of spouse 300,000,000 75%
ekt FoftEm

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes:

On 24 February 2017, the ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Junwei entered into
a concert parties confirmatory deed to acknowledge and confirm,
among other things, that they are parties acting in concert with each
member of the Group from the incorporation dates of the respective
members of the Group and continue as at and after the date of the
concert parties confirmatory deed, details of which are set out in
the subsection headed “History and Reorganisation-Parties Acting in
Concert” in the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the parties acting
in concert arrangement, each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Hero Global (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang),
Mr. Zhang, Icon Global (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei)
and Mr. Zhang Junwei, is deemed to be interested in 75.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

Ms. Tang Yiping is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, and she is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all Shares in which Mr. Zhang is interested
in for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors

were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or

chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the section headed

“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in

Shares and underlying Shares and debentures of the Company

and its associated corporations” above) who had or deemed to

have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares

or debentures of the Company which has to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group or has any conflicts of interest with
the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Zhang,
Mr. Zhang Junwei, and their respective holding companies, namely
Hero Global and Icon Global (the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 12 June 2018
("Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company (for
itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries). For details of
the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” in the Prospectus. Each of the Controlling
Shareholders has confirmed that none of them is engaged in, or
interested in any business (other than the Group) which, directly
or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under
the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by each of
the Controlling Shareholders during the Year and up to the date of
this report.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year
and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company considers the maintenance of a high standard of
corporate governance important to the continuous growth of the
Group. The Company’'s corporate governance practices are based
on code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, other than the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 explained on page 36 of this
report, the Company has complied with, where applicable, the
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules to ensure that the Group’s business activities and
decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 December 2023, the Company (as issuer) entered into
two Subscription Agreements with two subscribers in respect of
the subscription of an aggregate of 30,000,000 shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$1.47 per share (the
“Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on 12 January
2024 and an aggregate of 30,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued and allotted to two subscribers. After deducting related fees
and expenses, the net proceeds of the Subscription amounted to
approximately HK$43,500,000. The Company intends to utilise
the aforesaid net proceeds from the Subscription for the working
capital to develop the finance leasing business and the trading
of medical equipment and consumables business of the Group.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 29 December 2023 and 12 January 2024 and the next day
disclosure return dated 12 January 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware
of any significant event which had material effect on the Group
subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.
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FINAL DIVIDENDS

Dividend Policy

The Company has no fixed dividend policy. A decision to distribute
any interim dividend or recommend any final dividend would
require the approval of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders” approval. A decision to declare or pay any dividend in
the future and the amount of any dividends depends on a number
of factors, including but not limited to our results of operations,
financial condition, working capital, capital requirements and
other factors our Board may deem relevant. There is no assurance
that dividends of such amount or any amount will be declared or
distributed each year or in any year.

In addition, as our Company is a holding company registered in
the Cayman Islands and our operations are conducted through our
subsidiaries in the PRC, the availability of funds to pay distributions
to Shareholders depends on dividends received from these
subsidiaries.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK2.5 cents).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday, 31 May 2024 (the “"2024 AGM"), the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to
Friday, 31 May 2024, during which period no transfer of Shares
will be effected. Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Friday, 31 May 2024 will be
entitled to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year. The Audit Committee had
reviewed together with the management and external auditor the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in writing an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

AUDITOR

There were no other changes in auditor of the Group during the
past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2021, 2022 and 2023 have been audited by BDO
Limited, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited
Zhang Junshen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

E5E - +852 2218 8288
{2H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to 231,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables

Refer to Note 21 and 20 and the Group’s critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and
finance lease receivables set out in Note 4 and Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements

We identified the impairment of trade and finance lease receivables
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements, and the use of estimate by the management
in measuring the expected credit losses (“ECL") for trade and
finance lease receivables which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9.

As set out in Note 21 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
trade receivable is RMB196,987,000 after deducting a lifetime ECL
allowance of RMB9,424,000, representing 32% of the Group’s
total assets; while finance lease receivable is RMB106,999,000
after deducting a lifetime ECL allowance of RMB24,470,000,
representing 17% of the Group's total assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables (continued)
As set out in Note 21 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, management measures ECL for trade and finance
lease receivables by using a provision matrix. In determining
the impairment of trade and finance lease receivables, the
management considers (i) internal credit rating which reflect shared
credit risk characteristics for different industry types, historical
past due information and customers’/lessees’ creditworthiness
for different groupings of trade and finance lease receivables; (ii)
associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic
inputs, (iii) forward-looking information without undue cost or
effort including macroeconomic scenarios; and (iv) amount and
timing of future cash flows as parameters of the ECL models, and
fair value of the pledged underlying assets. In addition, trade and
finance lease receivables which are credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually based on expectation of cash flows that takes into
account the fair value of the pledged underlying assets based on
available market information and credit risk characteristics of the
particular individual customers/lessees.

Our response
Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included:

- Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of
management’s methodology for identifying the grouping of
trade and finance lease receivables on the basis of internal
credit rating which reflect shared credit risk characteristics;

- Assessing the reasonableness of ECL model, model
assumptions (such as the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows), economic inputs and forward-
looking macroeconomic scenarios for ECL measurement;

- Testing on a sample basis the integrity of data used to
measure ECL;
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

Our response (continued)

- On a sample basis, checking the accuracy of internal credit
rating which reflect shared credit risk characteristics for
different industry types, historical past due information and
customers'/lessees’ creditworthiness for different groupings of
trade and finance lease receivables;

- For the credit-impaired trade and finance lease receivables,
on a sample basis, assessing for reasonableness the Group's
assumptions on the expected future cash flows and testing
the value of the pledged underlying assets against available
market information;

- Testing on a sample basis of subsequent settlements of credit-
impaired trade receivables and finance leases, by inspecting
supporting documents for cash receipts from customers/
lessees subsequent to the end of the reporting period; and

- Assessing the financial statement disclosures relating to the
Group's credit risk management and impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

ERVR 3 e

EEMESHMBHRRAEKEN
=

B51E
EEBEEREEATHMATEMBN(E
B BREER ) AEB(ATER ) IR E
HEREEBSMIPESNESMBEHRE ) T
EERAMFEETBRRERNVBELNERE
RPN EEEDIE R MEN M E KIERMRAMFT

BN EEZEES-

ERUGEHMBRERF EFaFTME &
ERFEKENE TEBARABRTRE
HERFECEARNER URERFERKE
AHEStER RFERERR SXEEBHE
WELEE HHEBRAITENDE-

EFTEEEE EEECUHREBRE-
BEZZEEWHESRETLETENSE-

%L B 2 AR S MBS R R K
ENEE
EENERANRAMBRREBET
757 B B SR EE SR SR T B 0 B R IR
MEEEERE L RRESHHENER
R Em BT (FAER RHREE
SEBORMIRS > BRI B EE M E
Mo ESHAERARENNS  BEME
A+ 8 b REEEAEE-

BERZERBKTNZE BT RER
RAEBBAEANETHNERER —BEAHE
o= R AL 7 1E B 48 BE 35 3R - SR SR R BJ FR ERGF
WERERSI L MR B BN S K]
CERRENEROM BT RREAERR
A MBIRAM LR RE BB
ERRAERARBEKR -

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

109



110

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZHBE RS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

of the Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZHBE RS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping
Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meRmkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EZ= S —
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M =x ARBFT AR®ETT
Revenue e
Finance leasing income FAEHEEWA 25,077 35,699
Operating lease income KERBWA 816 -
Interest income from loan FEWE R F B A
receivables 7 1,551
Income from postpartum care B FR#B WA
services 28,438 50,809
Income from trading of medical BEIMREREMEZ WA
equipment and consumables 416,998 236,539
Income from IT services HRREARFE WA 26,619 -
Total revenue AR 5 497,955 324,598
Cost of sales & A A (375,034) (185,610)
Bank interest income IRITH) B WA 141 102
Other gains and losses, net H s K B5 18 7% 28 7 (480) 3,538
Staff costs BTRAE 10 (38,715) (41,997)
Impairment losses under expected  TEHA{S FI1E5< (FEHAE AE%k))
credit loss (“ECL") model, BXIBE T ZHEEE
net of reversal (0 Bx#EE[ED 9 (5,962) (9,183)
Other operating expenses Hm&EEY (46,032) (55,370)
Finance costs =127 8 (13,872) (13,141)
Profit before income tax FRETISIR AT AT 10 18,001 22,937
Income tax expenses gtz 12 (4,137) (7,511)
Profit and total comprehensive FREHNEREmBALELEE
income for the year 13,864 15,426
Profit and total comprehensive FENREMNEEENA BRI
income for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRBHEB AN 14,563 15,813
Non-controlling interests JEFERE S (699) (387)
13,864 15,426
Earnings per share for profit RABEBANFENELHERET
attributable to owners of
the Company during the year
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —HARRE#E (ARED) 14 3.64 3.95
Ko nEREERERAT FERS 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MEMBARRR

As at 31 December 2023
KIE_=fF+_F=+—H

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
I AREFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BRERZE 15 7,232 9,786
Investment properties KB 17 24,400 25,000
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 9,876 16,196
Intangible assets ELEE 18 34,115 34,664
Finance lease receivables B E W RIE 20 38,975 44,346
Refundable deposit AREREE 40 26,500 26,500
Deferred tax assets IR IEE EE 19 9,520 7,737
Deposits & 22 4,974 8,591
155,592 172,820
CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE
Inventories 78 4,860 11,979
Finance lease receivables MEHEEWRIE 20 68,024 132,969
Loan receivables FEUE =R 20 - 96
Trade receivables B S WIS 21 196,987 132,435
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE BE R EMERRIE
other receivables 22 65,079 75,046
Other financial assets Hitt&mEE - 847
Restricted bank deposits B REIRITER 23 15,861 62,378
Pledged bank deposits BIRRITHEM 24 500 -
Bank balances and cash RIS KRS 23 108,260 13,707
459,571 429,457
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAaE
Trade and bills payables B2 REREMNRIE 25 60,111 -
Other payables and accrued charges ELfthfE (S RIE K fEST & 26 74,233 33,348
Provision for taxation EIRIE 15,971 6,664
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 6,118 6,757
Deposits from finance lease HMERERFZE
customers 20 - 33
Financial guarantee MR 28 2,451 1,105
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 29 101,047 147,861
259,931 195,768
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEZEE 199,640 233,689
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MmEERRSERE
LIABILITIES 355,232 406,509
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRR

As at 31 December 2023
R_F_=FFTA=+—H

2023 2022
—E_"= g2
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
f 5 AREFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREIEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAG 19 3,453 4,041
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 4,736 10,670
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 29 31,754 80,981
39,943 95,692
NET ASSETS EEFE 315,289 310,817
EQUITY i
Share capital [N 30 33,839 33,839
Reserves & 31 278,608 273,022
Equity attributable to owners of RRBEB AL #E
the Company 312,447 306,861
Non-controlling interests JEERS R 2,842 3,956
TOTAL EQUITY HESR4EEE 315,289 310,817
Mr. Zhang Junshen Mr. Wong Kwok San
RIGFRAE =EREE
Director Director
BZ BZ

SxTEREAERAT FE®E2023 11H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
FAEHAE AR ikl szt
Capital
Share Share  and other  Statutory Retained
capital  premium reserves reserves profits Total
BfR
B ROEE  HtBEE  OAERE  REER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFRT AREFn AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
(Note i) (Note i)
(ki) B
Balance as at 1 January 2022 WIE-"E-A—-HBZHE 335839 65218 133,023 9,411 58,032 299,523 4,799 304,322
Profit and total comprehensive  EREFI R 2 AMALE
income for the year - - - - 15,813 15,813 (387) 15,426
Dividend paid (Note 13) DRRE (E13) - (8,475) - - - (8,475) (456) (8,931)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserves S8 Z BT ffE (I 5iil)
(Note iii) - - - 2,132 (2,132) - - -
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+ZHF=+—H
and 1 January 2023 RZZE”Z=fF-5-H
bd 33,839 56,743 133,023 11,543 713 306,861 3,956 310,817
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREFIRZERALE
income for the year - - - - 14,563 14,563 (699) 13,864
Dividend paid (Note 13) DS (HzE13) - (8,977) - - - (8,977) (415) (9,392)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserves & ZHREIATE i (FfzHiil)
(Note iii) - - - 2,696 (2,696) - - -
Balance as at 31 December 203 ¥ _E-=%+-A=+—H
2 33,839 47,766 133,023 14,239 83,580 312,447 2,842 315,289
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes::

(i)

(iii)

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, share
premium is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of share premium if (i) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital account.

Capital and other reserves represents (i) the reserve arising from
the acquisition of 55% equity interest of Ziyuanyuan (Shenzhen)
International Finance Leasing Company Limited (“ZYY Finance
Leasing”), a subsidiary of the Company, through acquisition of HK
Lixin Trade Co., Limited ("HK Lixin"); (ii) the difference between the
aggregate of the issued capital of HK Lixin and ZYY Finance Leasing
directly attributable to Mr. Zhang Junshen and Mr. Zhang Junwei, the
controlling individual shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Individual Shareholders”) and the net assets value of HK Lixin
upon insertion of the Company and Honor Global Holding Limited
as part of the group reorganisation; (iii) the consideration paid on
the acquisition of the remaining 45% equity interest of ZYY Finance
Leasing by HK Lixin from the Controlling Individual Shareholders;
and (iv) Hero Global Limited (“Hero Global”),
holding company of the Company, waived an amount due from HK

an immediate

Lixin, a subsidiary of the Company, amounting to RMB68,000,000,
which was accounted for as a deemed capital contribution from a
shareholder.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
“PRC"),
appropriate 10% or an amount to be determined by its directors

in the People’s Republic of China (the it is required to
of its profit after taxation in accordance with the relevant PRC
regulations before any distribution of dividends to owners each
year to the statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

MI5E

(i)

(iii)

BAEREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_—F+ _A=+—HIFE

REMEFERENE (EE J)’HQ%%T%E%
ANkaRE ERRERABATITUE
HDIKKRE  WEBAEUTER T FAERR
D ERETOE (VD RRER  ABE
EEEBEIRNGES  WINEBEENTER
BERERLENCEERMBEFTRERR
BoAB A

EARRHMEEEORBEBUESRBILE
BSHBERAF (F§;‘%i12=u) [liIEd P Y/N=]
MEARRTT (RY) BREMEBAESR
2E) (METTRERE)) E’\JSS%Hﬂ&ﬁ'ﬁf&‘i
EEE (DR R EHERE AR ERRE RS
SRR EEE (HERBEARR) HiEE
LEBIUGERETTRERENEETR
FBEHEFTMARABD REEB2IRERE
RABIEAEBEEH D ENEBILE
BEFEZENESE (INEBLEMER
BAREWEER T TRERER T45%K
EMEMHNRE; RiVARBEZEERA
BlHero Global Limited (THero Global J) £
REWAABMBATEBILENHIBEA
FE#68,000,00070 > HABRY| AR 1ERRE H
=,

RIERPEARLME (ThE) Ao
BATAMNBERZRMA SEAEBAD
IREME SR BRBEBPEERF10%
REEMETEBENBRREEFRAZEE
B BEEHAREZIEMEAN50% -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
\\7|' == IE.E/JILE‘IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

2023 2022
—E”= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR#F AR®ETT
Cash flows from operating REFTHFABRERE
activities
Profit before income tax FRPT1EH3 B1m A 18,001 22,937
Adjustments for: FEE .
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEEFE 16 7,789 9,222
Depreciation of property, plant and #)% B E &R EITE
equipment 15 4,071 4,216
Amortisation of intangible asset mBEEEHE 18 2,434 1,125
Gain on lease termination EE&RIEWE 7 (397) -
Property, plant and equipment M~ RR B R R i
written off 15 14 164
Finance costs G2 %N 8 13,872 13,141
Impairment losses on trade B2 RWHRIERERE
receivables 9 3,904 5,520
Impairment losses on finance MEHEESREWRIE
lease receivables AR 9 713 2,564
Reversal of impairment losses on FEW S FURE 518 # [0l
loan receivables 9 (1) (6)
Provision for financial guarantee =B B ER 9 1,346 1,105
Impairment losses on goodwill BB E R 18 7 1,186 656
Bank interest income RITH B WA (141) (102)
Fair value loss/(gain) on REMENATEE
investment properties B8, (R&E) 7 600 (29)
Fair value gain on financial assets AT EBE AED (RAF
at fair value through profit or BESABZ ) ZEMEE
loss ("FVTPL") NAFEERZ - (2,997)
Exchange gain, net B 2 W 7 5 B8 7 (334) (353)
Operating profit before working EEESEPAKE RN
capital change 53,057 57,163
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FE8REL, (Em 7,119 (11,095)
Decrease in finance lease receivables Bt % 78 & & W= 18 5 - 69,603 86,525
Decrease in loan receivables FEW & TR 97 902
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e IEEm (68,456) (137,454)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments FE{J 3R I8 K H fth fE WL =R I8
and other receivables B (3En) 10,797 (49,178)
Increase in trade and bills payables & 5 Kz Z 3% FE I 2 IEE N 60,111 -
Increase in other payables and T FE {5 FRIE K FE 51 B R T 0
accrued charges 40,885 14,364
Decrease in deposits from finance FIEHRERFRRER
lease customers and deferred 405 3E LT A />
income (54) (185)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nir A iFEE%E/MLEE%E%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—EF_—F+_HA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ= S —
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M =x ARHF ARBFT
Cash generated from/ REFRR, (FA) R+
(used in) operations 173,159 (38,958)
Income taxes refund/(paid) BB (81 94 (4,039)
Net cash generated from/ 1R EEFRTS  (FRA)
(used in) operating activities REBE 173,253 (42,997)
Cash flows from investing KRETHFARFBRERE
activities
Increase in restricted bank deposits 7 BRHl$R17 77 =01 /0 (2,272) -
Release of restricted bank deposits & RHIRT1TERIEMR - 5,924
Increase in pledged bank deposits ~ E R EE4TFRUE M (500) -
Prepayments for acquisition of WHEM B AR Z TR
subsidiaries - (26,500)
Redemption of financial assets EElZ AT EEF ABGT
at FVTPL TREE - 48,992
Bank interest income received BUERTTH] B WA 141 102
Purchase of investment properties FEEREYE - (24,971)
Purchase of property, plant and EEYE -BERKE
equipment 15 (1,531) (1,621)
Purchase of intangible asset BEETEE (94) (6,300)
Addition of other financial assets ~ E &= EIE 0 - (11,520)
Decrease in other financial assets ~ Efth&Bb & &= /> 847 -
Net cash used in investing KREEEFTARE R
activities (3.409) (15,894)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\7|- | EE ﬁ il E 1%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

2023 2022
—EZ= S —
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5F ARHF AREFTT
Cash flows from financing RMEEERTGRERE
activities 37
Bank borrowings raised ERIBITER 62,500 50,000
Proceeds from sales and leaseback E&EBIARZFAERIE
transactions - 121,085
Repayment of sale and leaseback  EEEREIARXZHRIE
transactions (95,707) (64,065)
Proceeds received/(paid) for REBEEATU (FR{T) F1B
security deposits 2,787 (5,216)
Interest portion of the lease ENHEAEFNEED
liabilities paid (1,400) (741)
Repayment of principal portion of {EBERAESEE&EARSIHH
the lease liabilities (7,645) (9,372)
Interest paid for bank and other IRITREMERNEGHE
borrowings (12,447) (12,345)
Interest paid for discounted bills AR EMFE (4) -
Dividend paid to the Company’s DIREEFTER THX%
shareholders (8,977) (8,475)
Dividend paid to non-controlling DI ETIEERER
interests (415) (456)
Repayments of bank borrowings BIRIBITER (62,834) (69,383)
Net cash (use in)/generated REEE (FrA) PSS 348
from financing activities (124,142) 1,032
Net increase/(decrease) RERREEEY
in cash and cash equivalents o, GRl) FEE 45,702 (57,859)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HNRERAEZEY
at 1 January 66,085 123,591
Effect of foreign exchange rate SMEERSFHHNFTE
changes 334 353
Cash and cash equivalents BW+ZA=+—HWRERK
at 31 December REEEY 112,121 66,085
Analysis of cash and cash HERREEEBMAN
equivalents
Cash and bank balances IRITKRFERE 108,260 13,707
Restricted bank deposits BIRFIRITER 23 3,861 52,378
112,121 66,085
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is Hero Global.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are provision of
medical equipment finance leasing services, maternal and
child postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC. Details of
the Company's subsidiaries are set out in Note 36.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approved for issue by the board of directors (the
"Directors”) of the Company on 27 March 2024.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

2.1 Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to
HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial

Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Making Materiality Judgements,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T —F+ A=+ —HIEE

— iR E R

R EREEERR2E (TRAF))
BHEREEEFMATNARERA
B ERMNEBBHERZBERAR
(TBt3ZFR)) GEM ETf e A A B E
KR &R N B AHero Globale &R
BIFEMM E R R EE R AL
WENRFRARNEIER —Ho

ARBE B —RREZERAT A RE
REWBAE (% HER) NETE
EBERETEREHESRERRSM
RBEMEEHERE SBEFEER
BRERSMREMESZEB A2
5 M8 A B BYsF IR B Y 5E36

BE_Z_=—HF+"B=+t—HLHF
EMNMBRE2ENXN _-_Z_MOF=A
T+ tHEAATDEETEHAERIT

RMERMBHRSER (TE

AMBREEN)

2.1 BRI SETERMERS
A
EHEHMAGEEGETRE
S5 [ A 1490 B U O
ST ST B TR R

BEMKREEN  RRAY

F175

BREHENFIE EHETHHE g5
WEIREANE BENE
REZNERRE

<

EYE

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

2.1

2.2

Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs

(continued)

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors,
Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to Income Taxes, Deferred Tax related to

HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction

Amendments to Income Taxes on Pillar Two Model

HKAS 12 Rules, International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

The new or amendments to HKFRSs did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior period. The Group has
not early applied any new or amendments to HKFRSs
that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period. The Group has revisited its accounting policy
information disclosure and removed some immaterial
accounting information disclosure.

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs,
potentially relevant to the Group's financial statements,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

2.2 New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current?

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments may have an impact
on the financial statements in future periods should
such transaction arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
117 O = |

At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The financial statements on pages 113 to 231 have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
financial statements include the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The material accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented. The
adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs and the
impacts on the Group’s financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in Note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared under
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
stated at fair value. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3. EXEFER

3.1

IEeEE
FBUBE2NEZMBRRIIRE
SEGHMAGMBHRE BT
REZER (BEFRMBERZER
EEUHBREEN B F TR
(TEBGERN) 2R UKk
EBRBBRAZEERERM
MBBRERNEEHIES L™
HAZBEAFERTT LI 47
EMBHRERBUEE BRI
BRABGEMEB S EmHRARE
BRI A EE o

MRZEVBFBBRRIAEBZIEN
G BRI T - BB ERR
PREFEEBEHRA - RMFET X
RIESIEBMBREZERURY
FEBMBREZFZE WA I
f 5E24% 2 o

FABS 3R T 3% IR SE B A 1B ) AR
ROERBENERETHBEIA
BATEBESNE-tEBEERT
NZ Gt R -

BRIS mMUEMBRERFEE
Basthst kR -BE&RFM
SATEREEERRREM KT
BFMEEZ —ERMRRES
Bi{Eth > BRERKRKNE AR
Rz F M o ks EH i 5l
mERZEE RRAGEEHM
BRERBEEZ 8B THIRH T4
REE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREEHHE =

(continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) comprising
the Group for the reporting period. Control is achieved
where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
117 O = |

At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

34

3.5

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as
follows:

Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Motor vehicle 5 years
The assets’ depreciation methods and estimated useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Investment properties

Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any
change therein recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.5 Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGU") that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount
with its recoverable amount (see Note 3.10), and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit on pro-rata basis over the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value-in-use (if
determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
measured at amortised cost, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments mainly in financial assets at
amortised cost. They are assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. These
are subsequently measured using effective interest
rate method.
gains and losses and impairment are recognised

Interest income, foreign exchange

in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade and finance lease receivables using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
trade and finance lease receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
or are assessed individually for credit-impaired
balances.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based
on lifetime ECLs except when there has not been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the allowance will be
based on the 12-month ECLs.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument and trade and finance
lease receivables as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument or trade and finance lease receivables
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (continued)
(iij) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 90 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
classifies credit risk on trade and finance lease
receivables into 4 grades (low risk, fair risk, loss
and write-off) as disclosed in Note 38. The internal
credit risk ratings are based on qualitative (such as
lessee’s operating conditions, financial positions,
etc.) and quantitative factors (mainly includes past
due information of the trade and finance lease
receivables).

The Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
or trade and finance lease receivables is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(iij) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets/trade and
finance lease receivables
A financial asset or trade and finance lease
receivables is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset/
trade and finance lease receivables have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset/trade and finance
lease receivables is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the purchase or origination of a financial

asset at a deep discount that reflects the
incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset or trade and
finance lease receivables when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets or
trade and finance lease receivables written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default (“PD"), loss given default
("LGD") (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default
("EAD"). The assessment of the PD and LGD is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a trade and
finance lease receivables, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the finance lease
receivables in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables, other receivables
and finance lease receivables are each
assessed as a separate group);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6
(i)

(iii)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and bills payables, other payables, deposits
from finance lease customers, lease liabilities
and bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through amortisation process.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6

Financial instruments (continued)
(iv) Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated as at FVTPL is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of:
(i) the amount of the loss allowance being ECL
provision in accordance with HKFRS 9; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

(v)

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and recognises
a provision when ECLs on the financial guarantees
are determined to be higher than the carrying
amount of the guarantees. To determine ECLs,
the Group considers changes in the risk of default
of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless
the risk that the specified debtor will default
has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured.
As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.7 Leases

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term of 12 months
or less. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset
The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise:

(i)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.7 Leases (continued) 3.7 HE #&)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use asset (continued)

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
which is held for own use under HKAS 16 and are
carried at cost. Other than the above right-of-use assets,
the Group also has leased a number of properties
under tenancy agreements which the Group exercises it
judgement and determines that it is a separate class of
asset apart from the leasehold land and buildings which
is held for own use. As a result, the right-of-use asset
arising from the properties under tenancy agreements
are carried at depreciated cost.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using incremental borrowing rate.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.7 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use the

underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid

at the commencement date of the lease are considered

to be lease payments:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group

measures the lease liability by:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability;

reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and

remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.7

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor of printing, medical and
logistics equipment

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
Group as the lessor transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset of the lease to the lessee, example situations are
that: (i) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term; (ii)
the lessee has the option to purchase the underlying
asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently lower
than the fair value at the date the option becomes
exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at the
inception date, that the option will be exercised; (iii)
the lease term is for the major part of the economic life
of the underlying asset even if title is not transferred;
(iv) at the inception date, the present value of the lease
payments amounts to at least substantially all of the
fair value of the underlying asset; and (v) the underlying
asset is of such a specialised nature that only the lessee
can use it without major modifications. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Lease classification is made at the inception date and is
reassessed only if there is a lease modification. Changes
in estimates or changes in circumstances do not give
rise to a new classification of a lease for accounting
purposes.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as lease receivables at the amount of the
Group's net investment in the leases. Finance lease
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.7

3.8

3.9

Leases (continued)

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15
to assess whether sale and leaseback transaction
constitutes a sale by the Group.

For a transfer of asset that does not satisfy the
requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale
of asset, the Group as a buyer-lessor does not recognise
the transferred asset and recognises loan receivables
equal to the transfer proceeds within the scope of
HKFRS 9; while the Group as a seller-lessee continues
to recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer
proceeds as borrowings from the finance lease company
within the scope of HKFRS 9.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the first-in first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Revenue recognition

(i)  Finance leasing income
Finance leasing income consists of finance lease
income and is recognised over the period of lease
(see accounting policy in respect of leases in Note
3.7) in accordance with HKFRS 16. Interest income
is calculated with reference to the gross carrying
amount of finance lease receivables, except for
those which have subsequently become credit-
impaired, for which interest income is calculated
with reference to their amortised cost from the
next reporting period. The customers are required
to pay in advance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)
3.9 W=mERR (2
(i) BESWRERENES

3.9 Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii) Trading of medical equipment and

consumables

Revenue from trading of medical equipment and
consumables with customers is recognised when
control of goods is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods excluding those amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. Consideration of the
revenue from contracts with customers is the
amount that depicts the amount of consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods to its customers.

Control of the goods is transferred at a point in
time. Customers obtain control of the medical
equipment and consumables when the goods
are delivered to and have been accepted.
Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the medical equipment and
consumables.

The Group has performed due diligence prior
to issuing related financial guarantee contracts
(the "FGCs"”) (see Note 3.6(iv)) to a bank for
banking facilities granted to certain customers.
The FGCs represent a separate performance
obligation but are not recognised separately as the
management has assessed that the initial fair value
of the guarantees is considered as minimal and
immaterial. The Group allows a credit period of
0-365 days to its customers.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.9

3.10

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Provision of postpartum care services
For provision of postpartum care services, revenue
is recognised over time as the postpartum care,
healthcare and other services are provided.
Deposits will be made upon the confirmation of
the orders and most of the remaining balance will
be paid upon the commencement of the service.

(iv) Provision of IT services

For provision of IT services, revenue is recognised

at a point in time when the Group satisfies its

performance obligations by rendering services and

the Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its

customers.

(v) Operating lease income
Operating lease income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. The customers are required to pay in
advance.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods/services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets other than goodwill, right-of-use
assets and interests in subsidiaries to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.10 BE (MBEERI) ZRE &)

3.10 Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

(continueq)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see Note
3.5), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU.
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3.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.11 Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit schemes

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Employees in the PRC are members of a state-
managed employee pension scheme operated
by the relevant municipal government in the
PRC which undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees. The Group's obligation is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expenses when they are due.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in

the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount

already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3. EREHHEE &

3.12 Income taxes

3.12 FRrf8M

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for taxable temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.12 Income taxes (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if, the entity has a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_—F+ _A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3. EREHHEE &

3.13 Segment reporting 3.13 SEHE

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the directors for
their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments: (1) finance leasing (2) postpartum care
services; and (3) trading of medical equipment and
consumables (“Trading business”).

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment profit under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs,
except that:

° finance costs

° income tax expense

are not included in arriving at the operating profit of the
operating segment.

Segment assets and liabilities exclude corporate assets
and liabilities which are not directly attributable to
the business activities of any operating segment are
not allocated to a segment, which primarily applied
to deferred tax assets/liabilities and the Group's
headquarter.

The “others” segment comprises, principally, the
provision of IT services in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.14

3.15

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision
and future years if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Principal versus agent consideration
In assessing whether the Group is acting as a principal
or an agent in a transaction, the management assesses
if the Group obtained control of goods before they
are transferred to customers. The Group is a principal
if it controls the promised goods before transferring it
to the customer and revenue is recognised on a gross
basis. Otherwise, the Group is an agent and revenue is
recognised on a net basis.

Recognition of deferred taxation

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets of
RMB9,520,000 (2022: RMB7,737,000), in relation to the
temporary difference arising from finance lease income
and ECL provision were recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position. The
realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal takes place. Details of
the deferred tax are disclosed in Note 19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables
The measurement of impairment of trade and finance
lease receivables requires judgement in evaluating the
ECL. The Group uses a provision matrix to measure ECL
for the trade and finance lease receivables, except for
the trade and finance lease receivables which is credit-
impaired, which is assessed for ECL individually. As part
of the measurement process, the assessment of PD and
LGD is based on a number of historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

In particular, the parameters of the ECL models for the
provision matrix that require the use of judgements and
estimates mainly include (i) internal credit rating which
assign PD to grades of the trade and finance lease
receivables; (ii) determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such
as nonfarm payroll and purchasing managers' index
and the effect on PD, LGD and EAD; (iii) selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their
probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs
into the ECL models; and (iv) the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows, and fair value
of the pledged underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. FTAGEHFIE B &5 A
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EENEERIE @
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) The key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) FHEERZZEERERME
(continued) (4
Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables BESRHEHAERNKZEZRE
(continued) (#

In addition, trade and finance lease receivables which
are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually
based on expectation of cash flows that take into
account the individual circumstances, including
fair value of the pledged underlying assets based
on available market information and credit risks
characteristics of the particular individual lessees.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates
of expected cash flows to be received. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade and finance lease
receivables are disclosed in Notes 9, 20, 21 and 38.

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested for
impairment when indicators exist. Further, irrespective of
whether there is any indication of impairment, goodwill
are required to be tested annually for impairment.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to the cash generating units (“CGUs")
operating in the provision of postpartum care services.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use or fair value less
cost of disposal, whichever is higher. The value-in-use
calculation derived from the most recent budget plan
approved by the management requires the management
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGUs and a suitable discount rate and future revenue
growth rate to calculate the present value of those cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2023. The fair
value less costs of disposal calculation is based on the
compensation which the Group expects to receive in the
settlement of a legal proceeding for disposing of the
relevant CGU back to its previous owner and available
data of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset, for Desheng
Meimei CGU and Dunnan CGU, respectively (Note 18).

Further information on the impairment assessment on the
CGUs are provided in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer has
based on a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates of market condition. In relying on
the valuation report, the directors of the Company
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that
the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Useful life assessment of trademarks

Management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives for intangible assets based on their historical
experience in the industry and various studies and
market research performed by them, which support
that the trademark may have no foreseeable limit to
the period over which the trademarked products are
expected to generate net cash flows for the Group.
It is possible that future results of operation could be
affected by changes in this estimate. A change of useful
lives of the trademarks from indefinite to finite would
increase amortisation charges and decrease non-current
assets.

Recognition of a deferred tax liability for
withholding taxes

The new Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC, which
became effective on 1 January 2008, states that the
distribution of dividends by a foreign invested enterprise
established in Mainland China to its foreign investors,
from its earnings in 2008 and thereafter, shall be subject
to withholding corporate income tax at a rate of 5%
or 10%. The Group carefully evaluates the necessity
of dividend distribution of its PRC subsidiaries out of
profits earned after 1 January 2008 based on senior
management’s judgement. Further details are given in
Note 19 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE

Revenue for the year represents finance leasing income,

5 W=
FRRRERENTEZRERE K
A AR A~ FE IS R B U
A BFIRBERA - BESERERE
MEBRWARE AR BERA &
EEENETRANSESEAKAL

operating lease income, interest income on loan receivables,
income from postpartum care services, income from trading
of medical equipment and consumables and income from IT
services in the PRC. The amounts of each significant category

of revenue recognised in revenue during the year are as AEEENT -
follows:
2023 2022
—E”= S ——
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBETFT AR®ETT
Revenue from contracts with REFEREBRNKA
customers
Income from postpartum care services BT ERFEUWA 28,438 50,809
Income from trading of BERERMEELEMEZRA
medical equipment and consumables 416,998 236,539
Income from IT services BRI R WA 26,619 -
472,055 287,348
Revenue from other sources IR B H MR A
Finance leasing income REHAEWA 25,077 35,699
Operating lease income KERBWA 816 -
Interest income from loan receivables FEWE = FI B A 7 1,551
25,900 37,250
497,955 324,598
2023 2022
—E-= ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®ETIT
Timing of revenue recognition BB EERFE157EERA
within the scope HKFRS 15 WA BB SR B 1
At a point in time B E— R RS 443,617 236,539
Transferred over time NE—BEERNER 28,438 50,809
472,055 287,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended, and as at, 31

December 2023,

information regarding the Group’s reportable segments

provided to the Group’s most senior management (i.e. the

executive directors, being the chief operating decision maker)

is set out below:

4 A

17177 g |

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

6. DEPEHK

BE_T_=-F+"RA=+—HLHF

ERir_Z_

FERETEKL
Er 2| EERMT ¢

=E+ZRA=+—8>
RELEEEER

SEEE (BIRITE

BREE) WAL

2023 —E=
Finance Trading Postpartum
leasing business care services Other Total
MEHRE BHER BFR# Hit st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®Tn ARBTrR ARBTrn ARETR ARETR
Reportable segment revenue AT 2D UK
(external customers) (G E=92)) 25,084 416,998 28,438 27,435 497,955
Reportable segment profit/ 2R WA/
(loss) (B18) 5,834 34,194 (5.851) 4,532 38,709
Change in fair value of LEMEZ
investment properties ANEEEEES) (600)
Other corporate income HttasWA 21
Other corporate expenses HttABR% (6,257)
Finance costs BMEME (13,872)
Profit before income tax PRFTSTRATRF] 18,001
Impairment losses of IR BB EE
receivables (net) (712) (3,904) - - (4,616)
Impairment loss of goodwill ~ EZEEEEE - - (1,186) - (1,186)
Provision for financial RHHBER
guarantee - (1,346) - (1,346)
Interest income FIEWA 23 109 1 14
Depreciation of property, ME - -BRERZEITE
plant and equipment (3,032) (10) (886) (103) (4,031)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EAREENE
assets (774) (47) (6,721) (97) (7,639)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. DEPEK @

Finance Trading Postpartum

leasing business care services Other Total

RMEHEE BEREH B¥R#% Hith st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AEBETR AERETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Reportable segment assets ERNHEE 146,737 349,699 71,399 11,434 579,269

Property, plant and equipment ¥ B K3k s 464

Investment properties REME 24,400
Prepayments, deposits and BNRERER

other receivables HithFE Wiz 1,262

Deferred tax assets BIERBEEE 9,520

Bank balances and cash WRITHEBRERE 67

Right-of-use assets FREEE 181

Group assets EEBE 615,163

Reportable segment liabilities FI2®DEBEE 104,042 129,524 44,514 1,004 279,084

Other payables and HAES B R

accrued charges &R 1,366

Provision for taxation FEHRIE 15,971

Deferred tax liabilities HEESE 3,453

Group liabilities EEBE 299,874
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) DEWER =
2022 —_F_
Finance Trading Postpartum
leasing business care services Total
MEHRE BRER BT A5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
Reportable segment revenue  AJ 2D U H
(external customers) (GrEpEF) 37,250 236,539 50,809 324,598
Reportable segment profit/ I 2R D EFEF],/
(loss) (E518) 4,161 38,227 (1,717) 40,671
Fair value gain on other HME&HEEN
financial assets NEEENRE 2,150
Change in fair value of REMEL
investment properties NEEBEEZD 29
Other corporate income H Al A 240
Other corporate expenses HABME (7,012)
Finance costs B A (13,141)
Profit before income tax BRPTEI AR F] 22,937
Impairment losses of FEW R IE R BB R E
receivables (net) (2,558) (5,520) - (8,078)
Impairment loss of goodwill & FERIE - - (656) (656)
Provision for financial BRETBER
guarantee - (1,105) - (1,105)
Interest income B 56 13 29 98
Interest expenses MEMRZ (10,096) - (2,618) (12,714)
Depreciation of property, ME-BMERRETE
plant and equipment (2,162) (2) (1,945) (4,109)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FHAREERE
assets (967) - (8,057) (9,024)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

6. DEPEK @

Finance Trading Postpartum

leasing business care services Total

MEHRE BRED BTR% HeEt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT

Reportable segment assets ERDHBEE 270,011 214,970 81,736 566,717

Property, plant and equipment #1% BB k&R & 920

Investment properties REME 25,000
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE EEREM

other receivables e EIE 339

Deferred tax assets RICRIBEE 7,737

Bank balances and cash RITAEG RIS 471

Other financial assets HemEE 847

Right-of-use assets FREEE 246

Group assets EFEE 602,277

Reportable segment liabilities A] 2D & & 191,765 30,101 53,508 275,374

Other payables and HMEMRIER

accrued charges fEstE A 5,117

Provision for taxation fES 218 6,664

Lease liabilities HEaR 264

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 4,041

Group liabilities EEEaE 291,460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company is an investment holding company and the principal
place of the Group’s operation is in the PRC. All the Group’s
revenue and major non-current assets are attributable to and
located in the PRC.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes only the
following customer with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenues. Revenue derived from this
customer is as follows:

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

DEER =
BE_Z_=_HFKR_Z__F+_°RA
=T—BHLEFEARBAKEERR
G ﬁ’ﬁZ—Y%@IEMﬁiﬂlﬂ_qﬂﬂ N
JEEEZTLLE’:\EF'E

AEBNEPRERBSK ERFHAL
TERANXRZEBBAEBKREN
10% cZEPLEENKR M T :

Revenue from
external customers

KBEIESBEEZWA
2023 2022
TE-=F =2
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBETT

Customer A* =R R

# Attributable to segment of trading business

n/a  Transactions did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue

n/a AEHR 47,579

TBR RSB BBAEBEWEMNI0%

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Hth izt e G548 73 88

2023 2022
—E-=f% —z-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Fair value gain on other financial assets ~E &R E ENAFEBEWE - 2,150
Change in fair value of investment KREMEZ AT EEEE
properties (600) 29
Government subsidies (Note i) IBU“%@QIE (M]‘%Ei) 707 756
Exchange gain, net 334 353
Gain from right to sell ﬁ'%%zuﬁlm - 847
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 18)  EZ R EEIE (1,186) (656)
Gain on lease termination *H‘528Ltuﬁﬁﬁ 397 -
Rental income 311 -
Others (443) 59
(480) 3,538
Note: BT -

(i) The PRC tax authority has announced that for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, entities engaged in provision
of service in four particular areas could have extra deduction
on VAT amounted to RMB122,000 (2022: RMB756,000).
The remaining amount mainly represented government
subsidies granted by the PRC local authorities to the Group
for employment support and engaging in high technology
business. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these subsidies.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE M B IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS =107
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Imputed interest on interest-free deposits FIEHEE AR BEEH
from finance lease customers HEF B 21 55
Interest on bank and other borrowings  $EfT R EMMERFIE 12,447 12,345
Interest on discounted bills ARIRERFI B 4 -
Interest on lease liabilities HESEHNE 1,400 741
Total interest expense on financial FEURFEESABRNEH
liabilities not measured at fair value BEMNFHESZ HAELE
through profit or loss. 13,872 13,141

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. FEMIEREX (IFARERE
CREDIT LOSS (“ECL") MODEL, NET OF RIENIBT 2R ERE (10

REVERSAL PR EE[E1)
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AE®ETT
Impairment losses/(reversal of BB E/CRE RS 1B [0)FEsT -
impairment losses) recognised on:
— Trade receivables — B EKIE 3,904 5,520
— Finance lease receivables —REAE RN IE 713 2,564
— Loan receivables — B ER (1) (6)
— Financial guarantee — MR 1,346 1,105
5,962 9,183

BT B E I MI5E38(a)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 38(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

10. BRFR1Z IR AT 7
BRI AT P BN GHA) |

2023 2022
—EZ=F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AR®ETT
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) EEH FYsE11) 4,581 3,200
Other staff costs: HmE T .
— Salaries, allowances and other —Fre M REMETER
staff benefits 32,273 36,639
— Staffs' retirement benefit scheme —B T RIREH 5T B HR
contributions 4,708 5,974
Total staff costs B TR R48%E 41,562 45,813
Less: staff costs recognised as research & @ IS E 4S5 X He 537
and development costs in other EH%EZZIKE’\JEIEZZIK
operating expenses (2,847) (3,816)
Staff costs recognised in profit or loss REEERZ BT RA 38,715 41,997
Amortisation of intangible assets m B E 2,434 1,125
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BN BN # &
— audit service —BIZIRT 1,244 1,164
- non-audit service A - 86
1,244 1,250
Cost of inventories sold HEFEMA 359,274 185,610
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERREITE
equipment 4,071 4,216
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7,789 9,222
Property, plant and equipment written off #J2£ « B 5= Kz 5% & Hif 55 14 164
Research and development costs 50 7% B 2 BB 22 Rl A
recognised as an expense GtAREMEZERS)
(included in other operating expenses) 3,091 4,080
Postpartum care services costs RAEZWA FRBRAE
recognised as an expense (included GrAHMEER%)
in other operating expenses) 8,081 14,845
Short-term lease expense DEATHE &R 1,061 5,486
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 ¥R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BER —F - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

4 A
17177 g |

N Zs5MErivaREHE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES B
Directors’ emoluments (a) EHEM=
The aggregate amounts of the emoluments paid or B S E E R TBAEE Y 3
payable to the directors and the chief executive are as B4RZEN T !
follows:
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and scheme
Fee  allowances contributions Total
X RATER
e  HEREE HEGEA oy
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARETr AREFTR ARETR ARETR
2023 b g
Executive directors YirE2
Mr. Zhang Junshen RERTE 1,844 497 89 2,430
Mr. Wong Kwok San BEILE (i - 1,336 16 1,352
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Lyu Di BEEE - 389 89 478
Independent non-executive directors BIFHITEE
Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo {5 107 - - 107
Mr. Chow Siu Hang BkERE 107 - - 107
Mr. Deng Bin BikEt 107 - - 107
2,165 2,222 194 4,581
2022 —g-C
Executive directors YirE=2
Mr. Zhang Junshen REFLEE 1,610 530 87 2,227
Mr. Zhang Yong RELE (i) 123 - 3 156
Mr. Wong Kwok San HEIEE () - 56 1 57
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Lyu Di BEEE - 367 87 454
Independent non-executive directors HiERTES
Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo FBLE 101 - - 101
Mr. Chow Siu Hang BikERE 101 - - 101
Dr. Deng Bin WitEL 104 - - 104
2,039 953 208 3,200

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AH

Am a5 Rk AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(i) Appointed on 16 December 2022 and continue to serve
as the joint company secretary and join chief financial
officer of the Company.

(i)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on
1 June 2020 and re-designated to an executive director
on 13 May 2021.
2022.

He has resigned on 16 December

Saved as above, during each of the two years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, none of the directors waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were
no emoluments paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included two (2022: one)
director whose emolument is reflected in the analysis
presented above. Emoluments payable to the remaining
three (2022: four) individuals during the year are as
follows:

M. EFMERELER

= #r e

8 @)

(a)

(b)

EEME @)
Fe5E -

() MIE-—_F+"F+/,\H%
ST MEBETEAABD N
BRBMENER 7488 o

(il RIZZEZZTFEAB—HEZ
ABIUIFERATESTRERR-Z
T —FHRA+=BHHBEFEAHNT
EFEHRN_ZT-_"_F+=AH
+NBEE

PREN LN REBE_ST =
ERZFE-"F+ZRA=+—H
IMmEFESEF TEEENE
HAEEREETAME  MAEER
TIEENMEFES AR
SIMEMAREBHRMALRE
| B 2 SR B S S (F A BE R A 1 o

TEREHMAL
rEEMEERSNRAZEADF
&%$@75’]2%%$ (==

1) O RENMEN EXZE
§IJE’J§NHEPEPH}§E9J FE1T F &R
T3REA(CZEZZF 1 48) 0
BT -

2023 2022

—E_-= B2
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥TF T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits #r & “;ZBE R EMBF] 1,656 3,750

Retirement benefit scheme BRIREFFTEIHER

contributions 275 279
1,931 4,029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE M B IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP N E2FMERLBREHE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 8 @®)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) HBESIHMAL &)
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: BN FEUTEE

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—E=F B
Emolument bands M #6
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,0008 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7cE
1,500,000 75 - -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 E7TE
2,000,000 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 cE
2,500,000 70 - 1
3 4
During each of the two years ended 31 December RBEE_E_ZFEKR-E-__F
2023 and 2022, no emoluments were paid by the +ZA=+—HIEmMAFESE
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an FoREEBBEARRBEME
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EFTHEFAAEB 2 L4 R
compensation for loss of office. =i EEZ MM ERMAR
EERMALEB B RSB

BmE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

12. FRIGIRBEX

2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF ARBFT
The charge comprises: ZHEE
Current tax BNHERR 18
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FRE R EMER 6,255 8,807
— Over-provision in prior year — LRI FEBBEE (492) -
- PRC withholding tax —FRETEIR AR 745 -
6,508 8,807
Deferred tax (Note 19) IR TE (MF5E19) (2,371) (1,296)
4,137 7,511

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong
Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is recognised as high
technology enterprise is entitled to enjoy a preferential EIT
rate of 15% (2022: 15%).

According to the EIT Law and the Implementation of the
EIT Law of the PRC, certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group
qualified as small low-profit enterprises with annual taxable
income not more than RMB1,000,000, and the portion that
exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed RMB3,000,000
(inclusive) are entitled to enterprise income tax calculated at
25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

12. FRAiEMEXZ &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FAREBEFAZTHGESERREMS
before income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or E W &R W 2 FRAT IS 3R A a F) E BR A0
loss and other comprehensive income as follows: e
2023 2022
=== B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®ETT

Profit before income tax MRERS IR AET 18,001 22,937
Tax at the domestic enterprise FEIE A EFAERREA25%

income tax rate in the PRC of 25% BRI 4,500 5,734
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AERNASZ 2 MBEE 150 811
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARRWAZREZE

tax purpose (428) (86)
Statutory tax concession EERWOR S - (301)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax EhFSJcHi kiR 2 IR IEES B

losses (1,582) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBRIERBZMBEE 2,668 420
Withholding tax on distributable earnings A B} &A= A 2B

of the PRC subsidiaries W FEINIRIRIE (588) 1,003
Over-provision in prior year VA EEBEEE (492) _
Tax effect of temporary difference not EREEREFNTRIBZRBLE

recognised (91) (70)
Income tax expenses FRisfmx 4,137 7,511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

13. DIVIDENDS

13.

[:35)

2023 2022
—E= —E-

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT

Final dividend paid in respect of prior year 93k A AIEE Z R EARR B

of HK2.5 cents (2022: HK2.5 cents) %2551
per share (T & 1258

No final dividend was recommended by the board of directors
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK2.5 cents).

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB14,563,000 (2022: RMB15,813,000) and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year of 400,000,000 (2022: 400,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per

share as there was no dilutive potential ordinary share in issue
during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 ¥R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

4 AH

17177 g |

15. ME -BER=E

Furniture
and office Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicle Total
FAER
MAERE WEVREEE RE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost R
At 1 January 2022 R_E--F—A—H 3,474 16,628 - 20,102
Additions il 200 707 714 1,621
Written off sy (256) (128) - (384)
At 31 December 2022 and RIE_“HE+-FA=1+—-H%

1 January 2023 —_E_=E—-HF—H 3,418 17,207 714 21,339
Additions 1810 231 1,300 - 1,531
Written off b G| (47) - - (47)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=Zf+-A=+—-H 3,602 18,507 714 22,823
Accumulated depreciation and B FERREME

impairment
At 1 January 2022 WZE__£#—F—H 1,616 5,941 - 7,557
Depreciation i 538 3,571 107 4216
Written off sy (93) (127) - (220)
At 31 December 2022 and R_EZ_F+-A=+—HEK

1 January 2023 “Z”=%-F-H 2,061 9,385 107 11,553
Depreciation e 459 3,469 143 4,071
Written off s (33) - - (33)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZF+ZB=+—H 2,487 12,854 250 15,591
Net book value RESE
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=f+-A=+—-H 1,115 5,653 464 7,232
At 31 December 2022 R _F+-F=+—H 1,357 7,822 607 9,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. EAEEE

Leasehold land and buildings

HELTMRIETF

2023 2022
—E-= B2
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETT

At 1 January w—A—H

Lease commencement HEH®A

Lease modification MHEEE]

Lease termination MHE®&IE
Depreciation e

At 31 December w+ZB=+—H

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
2 to 6 years (2022: 2 to 8 years). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.
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229 5,780
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(9,383) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

17. I EYE

2023 2022

—E= ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
At 1 January n—HA—H 25,000 -
Addition 0 - 24,971
Change in fair value NFBEBEZES (600) 29
At 31 December N+_B=+—H 24,400 25,000

All of the Group’s properties held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using the fair value
model.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of the investment
properties of the Group in the PRC were assessed by APAC
Appraisal and Consulting Limited, independent qualified
professional valuer, member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors and has appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the
investment properties are determined by applying the direct
comparison method by reference to the comparable sales
evidences as available on the relevant market and, adjusted to
reflect the conditions of the subject properties.

rEBEFRMAASBRNESZHERIEET
RANMEIRDBARENET A
AR WERAFEERINETSE.

RIE_=FF+-A=+—H"%K
EEETEOREMENRAFEER
DREENERERARASNGE
ZNABRBIUEEG BRI HEN

BEEBAEBMBENME > TAERM
HHEUYENTETEEEEERN
BRMTAEER-

RIZEZ=KRZEZZF+ZA
=t+—H BREMENAFEERS
BEBEZLBE 2ZHEMHE L
BRI L i E B 4R > A U R RN Y
FERR 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Am a5 Rk AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REYE =
The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring REMEZLAFBERE=BALRE
fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and FRAFEESE- UTABIEPRA
closing fair value balance is provided below: TEEREHER:
2023 2022
—EZ= S ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Tt AREFTT
At 1 January (Level 3 recurring fair value) W—B—H (F=ZEB=X
REMERATFE) 25,000 -
Addition 1 - 24,971
Change in fair value NFBEZES (600) 29
At 31 December n+ZB=+—H
(level 3 recurring fair value) (BZRBREE % RNTFE) 24,400 25,000
The following table shows the significant unobservable inputs TRETRTRHEERERFERAEKRT
used in the valuation model: PR A B -
Range of
unobservable
Significant inputs
Fair value unobservable Relationship of unobservable (per square
Properties hierarchy Valuation technique(s) inputs inputs to fair value meter)
RABEHA
AABRZBAYESR g2 EE
M ATERE B R BEATABRZRHAYE ATFEZMAG (BEARK)
Commercial buildings, Level 3 Direct comparison Unit sale rate of same An increase in the unit sale rate RMB81,400 to
the PRC property in the relevant  used would result in an increase RMB81,800
market after taking into in the fair value measurement (2022:
account of level and of the properties by the same RMB83,500
renovation percentage increase, and vice to
versa RMB3,900)
RPBEz EERE FZER BB HEEIEHNEEER FAERANEMHEXNLNEE AR
28 EETWS LER  BMENATEEFSEUFR 81,4007 E
NRENEMHES HEDLEN R 2R AR
81,8007T
(CEZZE:
AR
83,5007t
AR
83,90077)
The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ NEEBENGEEEN T IYENR
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual SHRERR SEHEMMNERBER
use. BEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B B E

Computer
Goodwill Trademark software Total
[GES [l ElEH b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANRET T ARET T ARET T ANRETT
Cost [
At 1 January 2022 R_E__F—H—H 15,751 10,400 5,099 31,250
Additions =10 - - 6,300 6,300
At 31 December 2022 and W_E__#+"_B=+—8k
1 January 2023 _2”_=#—8F—H 15,751 10,400 11,399 37,550
Additions 1210 - - 3,071 3,071
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-BA=+—H 15,751 10,400 14,470 40,621
Accumulated amortisation ZtBERRE
and impairment
At 1 January 2022 AT _F—H—H - - 1,105 1,105
Amortisation g - - 1,125 1,125
Impairment BB 656 - - 656
At 31 December 2022 and AZE_"HF+"BA=+—-Hk
1 January 2023 _E_=F—-F—H 656 - 2,230 2,886
Amortisation #in - - 2,434 2,434
Impairment A 1,186 - - 1,186
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-B=+—H 1,842 - 4,664 6,506
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+ZA=+—H 13,909 10,400 9,806 34,115
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ_F+-A=+—H 15,095 10,400 9,169 34,664

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

175



176

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18.

The net carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 is allocated to the CGUs as follows:

BLEE @
RZEZ=ZFRZEZZFE+ZA
—+t—HNEHEREDFESREERSE
EEBMINT

Goodwill carrying amount

BEREE

2023 2022
g -2
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Postpartum Care Services: B FR#:

Dunnan CGU in Guangzhou EMNHEIREEE B 9,885 11,071

Jiaenbei CGU in Wuhan HREZRBRESELEN 2,362 2,362

Desheng Meimei CGU in Wuhan REEBEEREELSN 1,662 1,662
13,909 15,095

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment.

Jiaenbei CGU of Postpartum Care Services

The recoverable amount of Wuhan Jiaenbei Health
Management Co. Ltd. (“Jiaenbei”) CGU is determined based
on value in use calculation. The use of this method requires
the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of
a discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the
cash flows.

The value in use calculation is based on cash flow projections
from formally approved budgets covering a five-year period.
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rates of 2% (2022: 2%). The growth
rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the postpartum care service business in which the CGU
operates. The discount rate used for VIU of 15% (2022: 17%)
is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Jiaenbei CGU of Postpartum Care Services (continued)
Apart from the considerations described above in determining
the recoverable amounts of the CGU, management is not
aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate
changes in the key assumptions. Management determines
that the recoverable amount of Jiaenbei CGU containing
goodwill does not suffer any impairment.

Dunnan CGU of Postpartum Care Services

Taking into consideration of Guangzhou Sheng Cheng
Dunnan Enterprise Management Co., Limited (“Dunnan”)
and its subsidiaries (“Dunnan Group”) sufferd a loss for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023, one of the
postpartum care centres were ceased operations during
the year and the unfavourable market condition facing by
Dunnan Group, it caused a significant adverse impact on the
sales performance and the estimated value in use of Dunnan
CGU.

As a result, the recoverable amount of the Dunnan CGU was
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal as at 31
December 2023. Fair value arrived from the market approach
reflected the market expectations over corresponding industry
as the price-to-sales ratios (“P/S ratio”) of the comparable
companies were arrived from market consensus. The key
parameters used as at 31 December 2023 including average
P/S ratio of the comparable companies of 0.79, the lack of
marketability discount of 16%, the control premium of 24%,
and Dunnan CGU's actual sales for the financial year ended
31 December 2023.

Based on the management’s assessment, the carrying
amount of Dunnan CGU, including goodwill, intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and deferred tax
liabilities attributed this CGU, was written down to its
recoverable amount of RMB23,506,000. An impairment loss
of RMB1,186,000 on goodwill was charged to profit or loss
under “Other gains and losses, net” during the year ended 31
December 2023.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

8. BMILEE &

EREAFRBZRESELEMN (&
R AUEEREELBUZER
BEZZE)N BEERREFILANE
Eﬁﬁ@%u@ﬂi%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ“
BrAREEFH -EEERXRERER
%EI%MZTW@%@I@%%E
fel BB

HMAFRBZREELEMN
ERIEMNBRAMEEREERRAR
("#m) REWB AR (THEEE))
REEZZT-_=F+"F=+—HL
FEHREBR HP—BAFH LR
rFEEFLEEER BFMEERFEH
ZHRAR - HARREELEBUMN
HEXRBNEFERBEER TERX
bz

At FEREEEBUNTIKE &
BIOREBE S -=F+ZHA=+—H
WAFEBEREHENEAMETE @
BHBESENAFTEBERRT H5E
HERTEXZER RATLEATMN
mHE (ThEZE)) DIRETHB LA
mEte e _ T -_=ZF+_-_H=+—H
@%MIgﬁﬁ@%T& NGRS
MHEAR0.79 RZHIBHITINES
16%  EFIERER24%  UKRHE
ReESXBUEE_T_—F+_8
—t+—BHYBEENERHERE

REEEENTH AmREELE
um%ﬁﬁﬁ BEEE - EBEEE
ME - BEANREURGERZES
EXEMNREERESE WRLE
HAWol&2E AR®23,506,0007T ©
Bz ZE_=—F+ZA=+—HIF
E>EmENREERAR,186,000

Bt ATEMm ke FREI BN

o
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Desheng Meimei CGU of Postpartum Care Services

During the year, the Group was having a lawsuit against
the seller of Wuhan Desheng Meimei Health Management
Co., Ltd. ("Desheng Meimei”) for the failure to fulfil the
obligation of share buy back (Note 36). The Group has
received the civil judgment (the “Judgment”) served by the
Shenzhen Nanshan District People’s Court (the “Court”)
which is favorable to the Group and the seller is ordered by
the Court to buy back the equity interest of Desheng Meimei.

Based on the Judgment served by the Court, the
consideration of share buy back was RMB3,400,000 and
bore an interest rate of 8% per annum up to the repayment
date. The management, has made an assessment on the
recoverable amount of Desheng Meimei CGU and determine
it to be its fair value less costs to disposal, and was estimated
based on the Judgement by the Court and the recoverable
amount is amounted to RMB4,260,000 as at 31 December
2023. The management determines that the recoverable
amounts of Desheng Meimei does not suffer any impairment
since it is greater than the carrying amount of the CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

18. BB E &

BBEEBFRBZEAEELEM
FRFERERKEBBEZRER
BEARAR (TEBRERE)) B RE
BiTkMPEEER (ME36) E1TH
RexEEBWRIFITEULEAR
EB (AR ) ZENHAEE A K
REHRE (HRE)  ZRFIRES
CEEBEERE

BIBEREENHRS T EEERK
A AR3,400,00070 B8
TENENEAH8% - SIEE B IRIEE
PR REEBEEERESELEBUNT
WElEET B BEAERQATF
BERLERES R_Z_=F+_
B=+—H AJlkb£Es AR
4,260,000c  BIEBR A BN ER
EENKNBSEARZRATCELE
AMRmE% > FIL 2B TR ER

e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. DEFERRED TAXATION

4 AH

AR B B RS AR AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

19. IRERIE

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for WUTRAMMBREMS RIELERIAS
financial reporting purposes: BRI -

2023 2022

—E”= ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTIT
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE E 9,520 7,737
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIE & (3,453) (4,041)
6,067 3,696

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

UTHINERED 2 TBIRILERIAE

recognised and movements thereon during the year: E/S (AR REEE
Temporary
Undistributed Fair value difference
earnings of  increase on arising from
PRC intangible ECL finance lease
subsidiaries assets provision income Total
EREHE
APEPE WAEE
MBAR  BREEZ REER B 1t
AlE  ATEEN BEREE E8 st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AEETT  ARETRT ARBTR ARBFRn ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZZ-_#—-F—H (688) (2,350) 5,395 43 2,400
(Charged)/credited (nkRE) /FABRE
to profit or loss (Note 12) (BF3E 12) (1,003) - 2,296 3 1,296
At 31 December 2022 and RIEZ_F+-A=+—Hk
1 January 2023 “Z-=%#—-F-H (1,691) (2,350) 7,691 46 3,696
(Charged)/credited to (0k8) /stABE (H:12)
profit or loss (Note 12) (157) - 1,490 293 1,626
Reversal of withholding tax upon RSB TR 2 2 #[m)
distribution (Note 12) (HEE12) 745 - - - 745
At 31 December 2023 RZE2Z=£+”"HB=+—-H (1,103) (2,350) 9,181 339 6,067

Pursuant to the EIT Law and its detailed implementation rules,
dividend distributed out of the profit generated thereafter,
shall be subject to EIT at 5% (2022: 5%) and withheld by the
PRC entities.

BRIEBECEMEREZRAEBHMA > A
EBEENFBRM2IKNEER  E%
5% (ZE -4 15%) WMEHME
(SR WHPRERCA®EIN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. IRERIE =
At the reporting date, the amount of the unutilised tax losses REREH KXTBERBEEBZEEN
is as follows: T~
2023 2022
—E=HF = —
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Unutilised tax losses REARBEIE 4,076 2,990
Deferred tax asset in respect of unutilised tax losses has HREEEATLUER RS ARBEE
not been recognised in the financial statements due to the = i S S i N
unpredictability of future profit streams against which the tax BRERURMBEEERIBELERIBEEE -
losses can be utilised. The tax losses can be carried forward MEBEBRERAEARNESIBRESR
only for five years from the recognition date of unused tax HitASsE R Fo

losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES/LOAN
RECEIVABLES/DEPOSITS FROM FINANCE
LEASE CUSTOMERS

The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as a
lessor for equipment and motor vehicles. The average terms
of finance leases entered into usually range from 1 to 3
years. All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the
contract date over the lease terms.

All of the lease contracts are with guaranteed residual values.
There was no unguaranteed residual value of leased assets
and no contingent rent arrangement that needed to be
recognised in both periods.

Finance lease receivables

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

20. A E TR EREWFIEFEUW
BN MEHEETRERS

ERmRERABNEEAN  RERGT
YTREEEZH-MEMAETUN
THERABERIE3F -FMEEAF
KEEERITZAREERRNEE T

o

FREHEERHOARRRIGFEER-
1 8 HA s 9 3 R R R U BR B ME
NEFEEREDZARBVE LIS
Fo

RIEMAERE RIEHAERERE
Present value of
Minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments
2023 2022 2023 2022

EI=E T "F CZE”ZE —ZT__F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARETR AREFTR ARETT

Finance lease receivables comprises: ~ FiEHSREKTRIAEIE .
Within one year —FR
In the second year %=
In the third year 5=
Less: Unearned finance income HRBRBMEWA
Present value of minimum lease payments S {ZFESFERE
Less: lifetime ECL allowance B RERRERBRLEE
Represented by: NERENDHA
Current assets REBEE
Non-current assets FRBEE

95,682 171,397 92,567 155,206
20,376 41,287 19,133 39,862
22,846 6,290 19,769 6,004

138,904 218,974 131,469 201,072
(7,435) (17,902) - _

131,469 201,072 131,469 201,072
(24,470) (23,757) (24,470) (23,757)

106,999 177,315 106,999 177,315

68,024 132,969
38,975 44,346
106,999 177,315
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES/LOAN 20. G ETRE R Y RIE FEUR

RECEIVABLES/DEPOSITS FROM FINANCE
LEASE CUSTOMERS (continued)

Finance lease receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the interest rates implicit in the
above finance leases range mainly from 1.7% to 17.5%
(2022: 2.3% to 19.5%) per annum.

Finance lease receivables are mainly secured by the leased
assets which are used in printing industry, medical industry
and logistics industry and customers’ deposits where
applicable. Customers’ deposits are collected and calculated
based on a certain percentage of the entire value of the lease
contract. Certain deposits are returned to the customers in
full by end of lease period according to the terms of the lease
contract. When the lease contract expires and all liabilities
and obligations under the lease contract have been fulfilled,
the Group must return the full lease deposits to the lessee.
The balance of the customers’ deposits can also be applied
and used to settle any outstanding lease payments for the
corresponding lease contract. As at 31 December 2022, the
customers’ deposits of RMB33,000 to be returned to the
customers in full by end of lease period.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES/LOAN

RECEIVABLES/DEPOSITS FROM FINANCE
LEASE CUSTOMERS (continued)

Finance lease receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the finance lease
receivables are effectively secured by the underlying assets, as
the rights to the leased assets would be reverted to the Group
in the event of default payment.

Estimates of fair value of collaterals are made during the
credit approval process. These estimates of valuations are
made at the inception of finance lease, and generally not
updated except when the receivable is individually impaired.
When a finance lease receivable is identified as impaired,
the corresponding fair value of collateral of that receivable
is updated by reference to market value such as recent
transaction price of the assets.

As at 31 December 2023, finance lease receivables with gross
carrying amount of RMB39,808,000 (2022: RMB27,938,000)
were pledged to secure the Group’s bank borrowings (Note
29(ii)) and RMB32,293,000 (2022: RMB115,547,000) were
pledged to secure the Group's other borrowings from a
finance lease company (Note 29(iv)).

20.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

R E A ERUWRIE R

ER HMEHAERERES

(#

AR R IRRE (40)

R _=FKr-_Z-__F+2A
=+— B BEHEE R SR
AERMERER BHMBHEE
MR BEEENERBRER

o

REYN R TFEEEZEESHBEST
ETHE -BEGHEEMEMAEES
B HA BR IF I8 U AR 7 3R 1 B R
B BR—RIAEEH -ENEHERE
Wi B R 4R B TE 7 R B By 0 B R LUAR R
HIRYHBREATEERSEHHER
(MNEEREIRZER) ETERM-

RZZEZ=f+Z"A=+—H K@
4%E AR 139,808,000 (Z & - —
F: AR®27,938,0007T) 2 REHRE
FEWHREEERUREREENIRIT
Eak (FysE29(i) R AR 132,293,000
T (22 TH  AK#115,547,000
) 2 MEBEAERKARESER  —
KMEHELRESAEENEMER
(MF5E29(iv)) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES/LOAN 20. MEHERWRIE UL
RECEIVABLES/DEPOSITS FROM FINANCE BN MEHEER#EE
LEASE CUSTOMERS (continued) #=
Finance lease receivables (continued) ALETHE R TRIE (&

The following is an ageing analysis based on due dates of MNTAREEARNMRERE DN
the finance lease receivables instalments which are past due S HNERE DT (FEIERBREHR
(instalments which are not yet due at the end of the reporting i R E B D HB RN -

period are excluded):

2023 2022
—E-= -

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

Past due by: Bl
1 — 30 days 1230H 1,377 2,341
31 - 90 days 31&290H 2,061 3,499
More than 90 days BiB90H 10,706 11,571
14,144 17,411
Loan receivables W E =k
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AREFIT
Fixed-rate loan receivables: BEEHEERER :
Within one year —FRN - 97
Less: 12 months ECL allowance 1218 B TaHRE B B - (1)
- 96
Represented by: MERENDITS .
Current assets MENEE - 96
Non-current assets FERIEE - -
- 96
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES/LOAN

RECEIVABLES/DEPOSITS FROM FINANCE
LEASE CUSTOMERS (continued)

Loan receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amounting to RMB96,000 are pledged with
collaterals such as equipment and motor vehicles. The Group
is not permitted to sell the collaterals in the absence of
default by the borrower. There has not been any significant
changes in the quality of the collateral held for the loan
receivables. As at 31 December 2022, all of the loan
receivables were not past due.

As at 31 December 2022, loan receivables of RMB72,000
were pledged to secure the Group's bank borrowings (Note
29(ii)).

Details of impairment assessment of finance lease receivables
and loan receivables are set out in Note 38(a).

20.

RE M B ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

AT EREURIE e
B RMEHEERES
#=

FEWRER (&)
N_E__&#+_A=+—H Elk
EREEAERA ARKE6,0007T X
RERAEEABBER - EERAE
EANBLE AEBRRSLEHIER
moEWNEMIERRBES T RE KL
E-RZEZZF+ZHA=+—8" M
BEWERE faH[ o

RIEZZF+ZA=+—H AR
72,000 cEE R B E R LIES
EEBIRTTER (I5E29(i) °

MEHERBREBERBRERZRE
L EFIEEI MY EE38(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. B EYRFRIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AE¥T T
Trade receivables B 5 WA 206,411 137,955
Less: Provision for impairment loss B R ER R (9,424) (5,520)
196,987 132,435

AEETE 7 BURIER T & F0-365
PNELEEED

The Group allows a credit period of 0-365 days to its
customers for its trade receivables.

RERSPARREZAREONES
FEWRIRIRE DT 2500 F ¢

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on invoice dates at the end of each reporting

period:

2023 2022

—E= ==
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT ARBTIT
1-30 days 1230k 162,587 95,482
31-60 days 31260XK 23,938 6,435
61-90 days 61290k 4,510 4,065
91-180 days 91&E180%k 5,497 22,135
181-365 days 181FE365XK 455 4,318
196,987 132,435

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk

arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 38(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE M B IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FAIRRIE - & R H MU
RECEIVABLES I
2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
s 5% ARBTT AREFIT
Prepayments FEfIFRIB (i 57,046 68,212
Security deposits {REE® (ii) 6,934 9,721
Refundable rental deposits AREEERE (iii) 1,952 2,740
Other receivables Hin g zhE 4,121 2,964
70,053 83,637
Notes: B EE -
(i) Prepayments are mainly advance payments to suppliers. () FENRBEXZABMEERRIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BTFT
(i) Represented by: (i) MMERENDNA:
— Current portion —mENE D 3,102 2,787
— Non-current portion —3IEREE D 3,832 6,934
(i)  Represented by: (i) FEFHRBEHNDFA
— Current portion —mENE 810 1,083
— Non-current portion —IEMBER D 1,142 1,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

23. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

23.

BERFIRITER R1T4
BRRIRE
2023 2022
—E= —E-
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARETT

Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRSE
Restricted bank deposits BRFIERITER
Guaranteed deposits (Note i) REBEE (MK

Bank deposits with restrictions on use R & B iRTTrEmr (e 5Eii)

(Note ii)

The bank balances and the restricted bank deposits of the
Group carry interest at market rates ranged from 0.01% to
1.30% (2022: 0.01% to 0.30%) per annum.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the restricted bank deposits of
RMB12,000,000 (2022: RMB10,000,000) are deposits in one
(2022: one) bank as guaranteed deposits for the trading
customers (Note 28).

(i) Pursuant to the sale and leaseback agreements as mentioned in
Note 29(iv), the Group agreed to open a supervision account at
a bank recognised by the Buyer-lessor to carry out supervision
on the use of lease funds and rental repayment. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, it is available to be used by
the Group to meet its short-term working capital needs and
cash flows for finance lease business. Therefore, bank deposits
of approximately RMB3,861,000 (2022: RMB52,378,000)
in the supervision account is included in the cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statements of
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

108,260 13,707
12,000 10,000
3,861 52,378
15,861 62,378

KEBZIRTHEBRBERFIETER
BHiGAHEFTEAEF001%E1.30%
TE T "F 10.01%%E0.30%)°

(if)

RIEZ=5+"A=+—H' AR
#12,000,00070 (B —F : AR
10,000,0007T) WA RFIERITERS
—R(CEZZH . —R BREAN
Reg % (MF5E28) ©

TR I B 529 (iv) P it A9 5 14 [ 7 17 5%
FEERBEETEER-LHEAE ST
AIMIRTRIEERS HEEER
HNEBMBESEEBERETES
KAREERR AEBHEAR
MERMBREXENNHEEESS
EREBEERE-BHIL MBEZE
T=F+ZR=+—HILFENR
EHRERMS BEERAPHARR
HRSEEYNRTERAOAR
3,861,000 (ZE__4F: AR
52,378,0007T) °
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

23.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

BERFIRITER R1T4
BRRIRE @

The bank balances that are denominated in currencies other ARz EFTEZIRITHEER
than RMB are set out below: HHWMTF -

2023 2022

T = —E_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") Bt (F#E7T)) 916 901
United States dollar ("US$") ESCE 5 ) 5 5
921 906

The Group performed impairment assessment on restricted
bank deposits/bank balances, details of which are set out in
Note 38(a).

As at 31 December 2023, included in cash and bank balances
of the Group was RMB107,339,000 (2022: RMB12,802,000)
of bank balances denominated in RMB placed with the
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency.
Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through the banks that
are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represented bank deposits placed as
guaranteed deposits for issuing bills payable (Note 25(ii)).

The effective interest rate of pledged bank deposits was
1.30% per annum as at 31 December 2023. All pledged bank
deposits were denominated in RMB and kept with a bank in
the PRC.

24.

AEBHARKIRTERLIRITER
EITRES L B BRI 38 e

N_B_=%+_A=+—H > #&&
BErREKRIBITEGFEEUARIES
EMERNRPEZIRIT ZIRITERA
107,339,000t (CE-—F: AR
#12,802,0007T) - AR W IERI B A
Rz G o iR ¥k P B S BB K
REE -EERTESERTE  ~EH
R BER A EITINEETE ZIRTT
BARBRGAEMER

BRIRITEM

B IR IR 1T ARIE 1R 2 BT AR RE AT AR
HNRBEME R RTER (5
25(ii)) °

W _=%+_HA=+—H B848
HIRITEANNERFEFZESR1.30% F1
BEERETEFRHIUAREHEL
BERR R Z R1T e

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 25. B REBENRIE

2023 2022

—_E_= B2
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARMET T
Trade payables (Note i) B EM B (&) 59,611 -
Bills payable (Note ii) EREIEIE (M 5E0) 500 -
60,111 —

The trade payables are normally repayable within one year. BRROMBREBEN—EREE-

REREMAR NEZHHFAENES
FEAIRIREG DA T ¢

=

(i) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the (
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTFT

Up to 3 months 3MEBMUA 59,480 -
3 to 6 months 3E6MEA 131 -
59,611 -

FEBHREEMAETHEERN FO
£1208-°

The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers ranges from
0 to 120 days.

REERMRIENEEBERIRTER
(My5E24) 1ERITIR -

(i) Bills payable was secured by pledged bank deposits (Note 24) (i)
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 26. HithERIEREE B
CHARGES
2023 2022
—E-=F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ETT
Advance receipts from KEBBEXERZFEWRFZIE
prospective customers 2,617 5,816
Contract liabilities (Note i) aHaE (M) 11,791 11,131
Other accrued charges HEst &R 6,070 5,864
Other tax payables Hn R IE 10,321 5,402
Other payables (Note ii) HanpEFRIE (ki) 43,434 5,135
74,233 33,348

Note:

The contract liabilities mainly relate to advance considerations
received from customers and arose from the provision of
postpartum care services. The Group takes certain deposits
from customers on acceptance of the order, with the remainder
of the consideration payable at the commencement of the
service period. The deposits remains as contract liabilities until
such time as the services are provided.

PEE

BHEEIERERHTAFREME
FoREBMMEMTERFBZE R IRE
EFRE Mek TRAAERRE S
ERRX o BERSNRIERE
NaRBEERBRM-

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows: EHEEEEUWT .
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Balance as at 1 January R—BA—BZ&% 11,131 8,890
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result E#st AGHNBBRENAEEZ
of recognising revenue during the WaERERaNasmR
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (11,131) (8,890)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result KA F RIURENET 18 i R IR (AR 75
of receiving deposits during the year in  TEN &4 & EE N
respect of services not yet rendered 11,791 11,131
Balance as at 31 December R+ZB=+—HZ&EE 11,791 11,131

The Group applies the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 and
does not disclose information about its remaining performance
obligation if the performance obligation is part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or less.

FERRBEBYBREENF S
SEHATRESE IRBENEER
FRIETRHRE A —ERBRNEIN
—Bo AT EREAMERGREN
HENER-

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (continued)

Note: (continued)

(i) Other payables mainly relate to the refundable deposits
amounted to RMB40,000,000 received from potential
subscribers in relation to the placing of 30,000,000 new
ordinary shares (Note 41).

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

26. HthE(HRIEREtER
(&)
e ()

(i HtEMHREETZRENEETDEA
B U EN B9 AT 3R 1= ¥+ A R 40,000,000
TC %A IE A £30,000,000 R
R (Mi5x41) ARG

27. HE &G

2023 2022
—E”= -
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR®ETT

Balance as at 1 January W—B—BZREE
Lease commencement HEH®A

Interest expense MERZ

Lease payments GEN- RN

Lease modification HEEST

Lease termination HE&IE

Balance as at 31 December w+ZBE=+—H8=
Represented by: MEMENDITS
Current liabilities mENaE
Non-current liabilities ElE=L

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

17,427 13,141
229 5,780
1,400 741
(9,045) (10,113)
10,623 7,878
(9,780) -
FREE 10,854 17,427
6,118 6,757
4,736 10,670
10,854 17,427




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

4 A
17177 g |

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

27. fHE&aE @
R EN R H SR T

Future lease Present
payments Interest value
K
HE FME RE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®FITT AR®FIT AR®ETIT
As at 31 December 2023 MN-ZEZ=H
+=ZB=+—H
Due within one year FEREE 6,475 357 6,118
Due in the second to fifth years "I RFREHA 4,941 205 4,736
11,416 562 10,854
As at 31 December 2022 =S
+-HB=+—H
Due within one year —FE N EIHA 7,417 660 6,757
Due in the second to fifth years ZERFARNEE 11,225 555 10,670
18,642 1,215 17,427
Lease liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than UARBIZERGTENEESR
RMB are set out below: RIS -
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
HK$ BT - 158
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28. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

28. A F5IEMR

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT AR®EFTT

Financial guarantee issued MBI RE 2,451 1,105

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had given financial
guarantee to a bank for banking facilities granted to
certain customers of the Group with maximum amount of
approximately RMB149,730,000 (2022: RMB65,207,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2023, an ECL allowance
of RMB2,451,000 (2022: RMB1,105,000) was provided.

The financial guarantees were guaranteed by restricted bank
deposits of RMB12,000,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB10,000,000) (Note 23).

For details of the financial guarantee, please refer to the
announcement of the Company published on 14 December
2023.
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N_E-_HF+_A=+—8 £&&
EEMETAEEETEANIRITRH
BER—XRETREERESENARE
149,730,0007¢ (ZEZZF : ARHE
65,207,0007T) A HH#ER BEZZ
“=FE+ZHA=+—HLEFE iR
FEHAE B AR 12,451,000t (=
T AR®1,105,0007T) ©

RIEBE_=F+"_RA=+—H 8%
R AREE12,000,0007T (ZE2 -
£ AR%10,000,00070) ZEHIEE1T
FEEER (fY5E23) o

ERMBRERZFE F2REQE
RZE_=—F+"HF+HENEZAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T —F+ A=+ —HIEE

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29. sRIT R EH ME=R
2023 2022
—E-= B2
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTT

Bank borrowings due for repayment —FRIBREEZRITER
within one year
- Unsecured and guaranteed (Note i) —EIER R B ER (WE) 23,789 12,734
— Secured and guaranteed (Note ii) —BERBREER B 30,000 30,000
- Unsecured and unguaranteed —EIR R EIER (il
(Note iii) - 10,000
53,789 52,734
Bank borrowings due for repayment more #BiB—FZIEHEIE Z IBITEMN
than one year
- Unsecured and guaranteed (Note i) — B RAER () - 1,389
— Secured and guaranteed (Note i) —BiERRBER (&) 27,600 27,600
27,600 28,989
Total bank borrowings MWIRTTE 81,389 81,723
Other borrowings from a finance R—zxmMEBEEREZ
lease company (Note iv) HuEzk (FFsEiv)
— Due for repayment within one year ——FERFEREE 47,258 95,127
— Due for repayment more than — BB —FHHER
one year 4,154 51,992
51,412 147,119
Total bank and other borrowings IR TT R EHMER 132,801 228,842
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A H
IS

At 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—F-—F+"H=+—

HILFEEZ

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Notes:

@)

(if)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings of
RMB1,389,000 (2022: RMB4,723,000) was guaranteed by Mr.
Zhang Junshen, an executive director of the Company, Ms.
Tang Yiping, spouse of Mr. Zhang Junshen, and three third-
parties of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB8,300,000 (2022: RMB9,400,000) was guaranteed by Mr.
Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang Yiping, ZYY Finance Leasing and
Shenzhen Meijiaer Health Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Meijiaer"”), and a third-party of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB13,400,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping and a third-party of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowing of
RMB700,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang
Yiping, Shenzhen Ruiheng Medical Supply Chain Co., Ltd.,
(“Shenzhen Ruiheng”) and a third-party of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB27,600,000 (2022: RMB27,600,000) was guaranteed by
Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, ZYY
Finance Leasing and Shenzhen Ruiheng, two subsidiaries of
the Company, and Shenzhen Ziyuanyuan Investment Holdings
Limited. The bank borrowing is secured by the entire equity
interests in Dunnan held by the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowing of
RMB30,000,000 (2022: RMB30,000,000) was guaranteed by
Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie,
Shenzhen Meijiaer and Shenzhen Ruiheng, two subsidiaries of
the Company, and Shenzhen Ziyuanyuan Investment Holdings
Limited, and a third-party of the Group. It was secured
by charges over certain finance lease receivables and loan
receivables of ZYY Finance Leasing as disclosed in Note 20.

Effective interest rate of bank borrowings ranged between
3.65% and 7.50% (2022: between 4.20% and 7.50%) per
annum for the year.
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29. $R1T

M EE -

@)

(if)

REMMEER @)

A_EB_=F+_B=+—8 K&
ERIRTTERAR1,389,0007T (=
T _F AR4,723,00070) A
NERITEBRBERLE RERL
EZEBEEFLEIR=ZRE=ZAAD
FRMER

RIEZ=F+ZHA=+—H8 > &&
E R ERITER AR #8,300,0007T (=
T~ 4 AR®9,400,0007T) HE
BREE - BEFELET R TtHE
MERFNITEERREEERRER
B (MRINEER) A—RE=FRE]
REIER

AZEZ=F+ZRB=+—H &&E
BRI ER{T A R #13,400,00070

RERLEEVBIEHFELEIR—RE=
FAERMER

AT =F+A=+—H K&
BEHSRTERAREE700,0007T HR
BREE BB TEL L FYIHIRIE
BaMtrEaaRan (GRYIERED &
—RE=ZHATRMER
R-ZE_ZF+_B=+—H =&
EENIRITERARE27,600,0007T
(ZEZ"4%F . AR™27,600,0007T)
HREFAE BB T L R
HE -MREATNMBABLTT
BEMHEE R FYIRIE R R T RTT
KREEEAERATIRMBEER BITHE
RURRBIFE I HE 2 ZREIEIR
o

RWZIE_=F+"_B=+—H =K
EENIRTERARN30,000,0007T
(ZZ=Z 4 1 AR¥30,000,0007T)
HRBFRIAE BB FL L RER
EE -MRAELBDHM BB FETH
EEBBRAINIHE FINHERTITR
BEEEERAAR—REZALTIR
R MM EE 20T IR EE » H LK T
TRERENE TRERSEKTIE
REWER 2 EiRIERiE o

RITEBANEREMENF3.65%
E7.50% (ZEZZF 420%F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities
to the extent of RMB10,000,000.The aforesaid bank loans
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 were RMB10,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group and
a finance lease company (the “Buyer-lessor”) entered into
sale and leaseback agreements, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to transfer the leased assets (the “Leased Assets”)
and/or change the registration to the name of the Buyer-
lessor with transfer considerations totalling of approximately
RMB147,119,000 (the “Considerations”), and the Buyer-
lessor agreed to lease the Leased Assets to the Group with a
lease period of 5 to 30 months. Upon expiration of the lease
period, the Group may purchase back the Leased Assets from
the Buyer-lessor at a nominal consideration.

The Group determined the transfers to the Buyer-lessor
were not sales under HKFRS 15, thus the Group continues
to recognise the underlying assets, and recognises financial
liabilities for the considerations. As at 31 December 2023,
the outstanding balance was RMB51,412,000. No gain or loss
were recognised from the sale and leaseback transactions for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The obligations
arising from sale and leaseback transactions were secured
by finance lease receivables as mentioned in Note 20 and
guaranteed by the Company. The Considerations were placed
in a supervision account with restricted use as disclosed in Note
23.

The borrowings from a finance lease company carried interests
of 6.60% and 7.18% (2022: 6.60% and 7.53%) per annum.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

P CE CCaFf A=+ —HIFFE

29. SRIT R HMER @

MisE © (4%

(iii)

AZBooE+ZAS+—B &
E@mES AR10,000,0007THIIR
TEEEE R-BI_£+2A
=+—B LRRTERBEAAR
#10,000,0007T ©

REE_Z_—_#+-A=+—H
FEE AERR-—TRERAEQT
(TBr-—wHEA) STIERDMER
o REZwE AEERESEEE
EEE ((HEEE) &I UEE
HEMEEANAKRTE147,119,0005T
(THE) EFELABH—HEA
2% BEF-HHEARESHEE
EELHEGAASEER HEHPASE30
BRE-HEHERE ~EBUES
EHERES-HHAABRHEEE
Eo

REEBHYBFHRES 159 AEHE
BEELREH -—HEANRZ T EHE
S At AEREEEITEREE
WHUHERITMEE- R 2 "=
E+ZA=+—H ' REEBEHH/A
R151,412,000t REEZZ "=
F+ZR=+—HLEFENEKERLHE
BB m NG RERER (T2
Fm) EREARZEENEBU
M 5E20FF it 2 BR & 7H & & UL IE 1
W W EARBREER W
23R EE ZEHEBERENEARZR
BESEIRIEH -

B—EXRERAEQARAERZER
KE660%K7.18% (ZE__
6.60%5%7.53%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

z-ﬁ-A

Am a5 Rk AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. &7
Number of
shares Share capital
& B8 & s
‘000 HK$'000
T FATT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREECIATHNEBR
Authorised: EE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RKRIZZEZ-H—H—H~
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 :;‘::ﬁi-f—_ﬁ =+—H-
2T =F—HF—HBk
TR+ "A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RKRZZE__H#—H—H~-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 :;‘::fli-i-_ﬁ =+—8-
2T =_F—HF—HBk
2 =F+"A=+—H 400,000 40,000
2023 2022
—E-= S ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AREFTT
Share capital shown in the consolidated %R & MR R KA~
statement of financial position 33,839 33,839

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. RESERVES
Group
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 116.

Company
Movements of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

At 1 January 2022 AR "F—HF—H

Loss for the year FREE

2021 final dividend paid PDIRZEZ—FFRKBPRE

At 31 December 2022 and R ZEZHF+ZR=+—Hk
1 January 2023 w2 =%—F—H

Profit for the year FERm A

2022 final dividend paid PIRZEZTFERBERE

At 31 December 2023 RZE_=+"H=+—H

31. f#E
TEE
FEBRERAFEZEHHENE
TMeBZGREEmEER.
KAF
ANEIEBZHEBHNT
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R EE REtEEiE “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTFT AREBETT
65,218 (9,259) 55,959
- (1,027) (1,027)
(8,475) - (8,475)
56,743 (10,286) 46,457
- 1,092 1,092
(8,977) - (8,977)
47,766 (9,194) 38,572
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

32. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 32. B ATIMFERAE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
—EBEZ=F —E2-
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 ARETT AREFIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries INEENCIPA 120,337 120,337
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments and other receivables  FE{J 718 K E fth FE U zk 18 - 37
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E Q] 5,504 9,067
Bank balances and cash IRITHBRKAIRE 24 23
5,528 9,127
Current liabilities mENaE
Other payables and accrued charges Hfthf& {7 I8 K FE ot & A 4,095 4,174
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHY B AT RIA 49,359 44,994
53,454 49,168
Net current liabilities REBEFEE (47,926) (40,041)
Net assets BEEFE 72,411 80,296
EQUITY HExm
Share capital il 30 33,839 33,839
Reserves HE 31 38,572 46,457
Total equity 48 EA 72,411 80,296
On behalf of the Board EAREFY

Mr. Zhang Junshen

Mr. Wong Kwok San

RIGRAE =HEEE
Director Director
EZE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

RE M B ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

33. EAKIE
2023 2022
== —E-
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFT AREFTT

Capital expenditure contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of subsidiary (Note 40)

Capital expenditure contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of
purchase of computer software

BEIMEREGEEMHRED
FIRBIR BN B A SR
EARZH (FI5E40)

13,500 13,500
BESIREREREMBRERT
SR E BRAER
X
5,310 -
18,810 13,500

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

34. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Material non-controlling interests
(a) Desheng Meimei, a 51% owned subsidiary of the
Company, has material non-controlling interests.
Summarised financial information in relation to non-

34. FEERiED
EAIFZER R A

(a)

BBHEE ARDERS 1 %ED
ZMBATE  EHEBERIFERR
A o PR EE A R IEAT 0 B
HEEFERETBBZME

controlling interests of Desheng Meimei, before intra-

group eliminations, is presented below:

EEMEBOT

2023 2022
=== ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥TF T
Revenue & 14 6,063
(Loss)/profit for the year RERZ (B8) HH) (136) 573
Total comprehensive income ZHEUALREE (136) 573
(Loss)/profit allocated to DEEEIEERER
non-controlling interests (B518) @ (67) 281
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BtIEIERERZ RS
interests - -
Cash used in operating activities KETEB AT A (576) (647)
Cash used in investing activities KREEEPMARE - (6)
Cash used in financing activities MEEHFTARSE - -
Net cash outflows B FEERE (576) (653)
At 31 December ®W+=—B=+—H
Current assets RENEE 1,330 2,011
Non-current assets EREEE 1,912 1,917
Current liabilities mEAaE (117) (667)
Non-current liabilities EREERE (225) (225)
Net assets FEE 2,900 3,036
Accumulated non-controlling Kot
interests 1,421 1,488
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE - —FF+ A=+ —HIFFE
34. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 34. JEEERRIER =
Material non-controlling interests (continued) Ek?ﬁ’“ﬂxﬁzzﬁ& #
(b) Jiaenbei, a 51% effectively owned subsidiary of the by mREREB KRG EREBS1 Wi

Company, has material non-controlling interests.
Summarised financial information in relation to
non-controlling interests of Jiaenbei, before intra-group

mZWBRE  EEERIFER
oo NEBMRE T BE
BEFEREDARZMBEER

eliminations, is presented below: BMENT :
2023 2022
=== =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®ETT
For the year ended 31 December M+ "B =+—HILEE
Revenue Y 5 4,499 4,970
Profit for the year & A 346 288
Total comprehensive income S EWALEEE 346 288
Profit allocated to non-controlling B ZE IR 2 H
interests 170 142
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BAtIEEREF KRR
interests - -
Cash generated from operating RETEPMEIRE
activities 1,555 235
Cash used in investing activities KREEEFARE (1) (15)
Cash used in financing activities MEESFTARS (1,021) (1,185)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) REBBEAA R 533 (965)
At 31 December ®W+ZBA=+—H
Current assets MEEE 3,760 3,530
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,257 2,215
Current liabilities mEIEE (1,920) (1,988)
Non-current liabilities | =K - (1,005)
Net assets FEE 3,097 2,752
Accumulated non-controlling Rt IR ER
interests 1,525 1,355
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

34. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continuea)

Material non-controlling interests (continued)

(@

Dunnan Group has material non-controlling interests.

Summarised financial information in relation to non-

controlling interests of Dunnan Group, before intra-

34. JFiIERRER @
EAIEERIG AR (&

U ERES B AR

FAHE B P BRSNS AT R

FEREHEN MR EERE

(o]

group eliminations, is presented below: W
2023 T =
Guangzhou Guangzhou
Sheng Sheng
Ya Family Xin Family
Services Co., Ltd.  Services Co., Ltd.
BEMNTERRE BEMNTRERE
RFEERAE REBRAT
Percentage of equity interests held ~ EAFEERBRAER
by non-controlling interests IRz ERT 15% 20%
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFR
For the year ended BE_Z”_=5+-H8
31 December 2023 =+—-HLEFE
Revenue Wi 10,750 8,552
Loss for the year RERZER (483) (280)
Total comprehensive income SHBALLE (483) (280)
Loss allocated to non-controlling ~ AEEEIFITFRER 2 518
interests (72) (56)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BIJFEREZZKRE
interests 166 249
Cash generated from operating REEHERE
activities 2,956 1,976
Cash used in investing activities RETHMARE (173) (121)
Cash used in financing activities MEZBMARSE (3,619) (3.171)
Net cash outflows BeF8ERL (836) (1,316)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+”-A=+—H
Current assets RBEE 4,478 2,484
Non-current assets FERBEE 5,857 3,796
Current liabilities nEaE (5,021) (3,409)
Non-current liabilities ERBmasE (3,254) (1,413)
Net assets BEE 2,060 1,458
Accumulated non-controlling REt RS
interests 310 291
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

34, JEEER =
EAIFIERRAER (E

34. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continuea)

Material non-controlling interests (continued)

() (continued) () #&)
2022 -_F-=
Guangzhou Guangzhou Guangzhou
Sheng Sheng Sheng
Ai Family Ya Family Xin Family
Services Co., Ltd. Services Co., Ltd.  Services Co., Ltd.
BENTRERE BENTBERE BEMHRERE
REERAR REERAT REBRAR
Percentage of equity interests held ~ EAFEERBRAER
by non-controlling interests IRz ERT 20% 15% 20%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFTT ARETF T AREFT
For the year ended BE_E__F+_H
31 December 2022 —t+—HLEE
Revenue Wi 9,725 12,710 11,337
(Loss)/profit for the year REXNZ (B8) /EF (2,212) 352 1,047
Total comprehensive income 2EWABEE (2,212) 352 1,047
(Loss)/profit allocated to non- DEEFEREG (518) /
controlling interests kil (442) 53 209
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BIJFEREZZKRE
interests - 122 334
Cash generated from operating REEHERE
activities 3,733 3,161 3,588
Cash used in investing activities REZHMAERS (161) (428) 211)
Cash used in financing activities METHIRRE (2,787) (2,871) (3,554)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) B&FERA/ (Rd) 785 (138) (177)
At 31 December 2022 AR+ ZRA=+—H
Current assets HBEE 4,881 5,707 4,113
Non-current assets FRBEE 851 8,284 5,724
Current liabilities REEE (2,827) (4,825) (3,615)
Non-current liabilities FrRBas - (5,514) (3,241)
Net assets FEE 2,905 3,652 2,981
Accumulated non-controlling RETFERED
interests 581 548 596
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. In addition to
those balances and transactions disclosed elsewhere, details
of other significant transactions between the Group and other
related parties during the year are disclosed as follows:

(@) The Group had entered into the following related
party transaction during the year ended 31

35 Eﬁ A:t %&n\nﬁ?

ZK’&Tﬁﬁi ERBEBALTZHEAR

RZENRGFEIRE R HMITE
E:ﬁﬂﬁ.ﬁﬁﬂ&’&@ PREMB D MEZ
MERXZI  AEBREMBBAEA
ITRERNETZHEMEARZFHER
BT

() BE-Z_"_F+"B=+—H
ILFE FEBMBEEMTRAEA

December 2022: TXRX5
Nature of
Name of related party Relationship transaction 2022
RAESLHE R 1% REEE = ~Joienl
RMB'000

ARBETFTT

Shenzhen Suhao Investment Related company* Acquisition of 24,971
Limited investment properties

FBFERKEBRAT RAENE WEREY =

*

Mr. Zhang Junshen, an executive director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company and Mr. Zhang
Junwei, a controlling shareholder of the Company, are
both the shareholders of this company.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

* ERABRITEERERRRER
BRFTEM—UERBERER
RREREEHRBILABZK
%O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 35. AN R Z RAEER =

BALANCES (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEEEEBAEFHS
The key management personnel of the Group are AEBFZEEBABAEZESTRS
the directors and senior management. Remuneration BEEB - FTEBEABZME
of the key management personnel is determined by TTHFNEZEEL&E BEN AL
the remuneration committee having regard to the ZREBRTIGEBBBET - FA
performance of individuals and market trends. The FEEEBAENFHFEUOT .

remuneration of key management personnel during the
year is as follows:

2023 2022
—s—= ———

[ — s SN —

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT

Salaries, allowances and other e R AEMER
benefits 6,703 7,483
Retirement benefit scheme BIREFIETEIHERR
contributions 625 638
7,328 8,121
Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior BN REMASREIEABM
management were within the following bands: STEUTHER :
Number of individuals
A
2023 2022
—E=F B2
Emolument bands HNEEE:
Nil — HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 9 10
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 % 2,000,000 75 1 -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001t £ 2,500,000 75 1 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. T EMBATIFIE

Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place/Country of share capital/ issued capital  Principal activities
Date of incorporation/ incorporation/establishment registered held by  and place of
Name of company establishment and kind of legal entity capital the Company”  operations
AR, FAH
Iz BR BETRER P RITRE
AERE AR/ A B Rt EERER Bx,/EMEE ZESL IERBRESME
Honor Global Holdings Limited 28 October 2016 British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), limited US$50,000 100% Investment holding,
liability company (2022: 100%) Hong Kong
RREEHERERAT “Z-XE+AZHN\R HBELHES EREEAT 50,000% 7T RERR BB
Infinite Success Enterprises Limited 2 July 2019 BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100% Investment holding,
(2022: 100%) Hong Kong
“B-AFtACH HBRELHE BERELAT (S REER BF
Action Star Investments Limited 18 May 2020 BVI, limited liability company US$50,000 100% Investment holding,
(2022: 100%) Hong Kong
“E_2FRATN\H HERUHE BREEAH 50,000% 7% REZR B
HK Lixin 6 March 2013 Hong Kong, limited liability company ~ HK$50,000,000 100% Investment holding,
(2022: 100%) Hong Kong
FELE —2-=f£=ARKH B BREEAT 50,000,000 7 RERR BB
Ziyuanyuan Finance Limited 8 October 2018 Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$10,000 100% Money lending,
(2022: 100%) Hong Kong
KB BERAT “Z-\E+AN\H &E BREEAF 10,0007 7% ME &
ZYY Finance Leasing 28 May 2014 PRC, limited liability company US$50,000,000 100% Provision of finance
(2022: 100%) leasing services, PRC
EnnHERE “B-WERAZHNR  HE BEREEAA 50,000,000%7¢ RURMEEERS
HEl
Shenzhen Ruiheng 16 August 2019 PRC, limited liability company US$2,898,800 100% Equipment trading, PRC
(2022: 100%)
FYIHIRIE ZE-NENBFRH FE BEREFAH 2,898,800% 7T REES PE
Shenzhen Meijiaer 8 June 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 100% Investment holding, PRC
(2020: (2022: 100%)
RMB1,000,000)
AT EER “22EF5ANR FE EREEAH AR REEZR TE
50,000,0007C
(2020 A%
1,000,0007%)
Desheng Meimei 1 June 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB1,000,000 51% Provision of postpartum
(2022: 51%) care services, PRC
BRHEx ZZE22EXA—H FE BREERT N RHEAFRE TE
1,000,0007%
Wuhan Boao Meimei Health 17 December 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB5,000,000 60% Provision of postpartum
Management Co., Ltd. (2022: 60%) care services, PRC
HEBREXRRERERAT “2TEE+ZA+EH BB BARERRT N RHUAFRE hE
5,000,0007T

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BER —F - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. TEMBATIHE &

Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place/Country of share capital/ issued capital  Principal activities
Date of incorporation/ incorporation/establishment registered held by  and place of
Name of company establishment and kind of legal entity capital the Company”  operations
AR, VNG
BRIz BR BETRERE P RITRE
AERE AR/ A B Rt EERER Bx/EREE ZES IERBRESME
Jiaenbei 22 October 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB1,000,000 51% Provision of postpartum
(2022: 51%) care services, PRC
=RE “RCEE+HAZ+HIH BB ARERRT N RHUAFRE hE
1,000,0007T
Dunnan 27 December 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB 10,000,000 100% Provision of postpartum
(2022: 100%) care services, PRC
] “2-R"E+ZAZ+tH B EREARE N RHUEBTFHRHE HE
10,000,0007%
Guangzhou Sheng Ai Family Services 13 December 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB5,000,000 80% Provision of postpartum
Co., Ltd. (2022: 80%) care services, PRC
EMTREXERBERAT “Z-RE+ZA+ZH HE BEREEAF N RHEAFRE TE
5,000,00070
Guangzhou Sheng Ya Family Services 1 August 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 85% Provision of postpartum
Co., Ltd. (2022: 85%) care services, PRC
BT REXERBERAT —2-"E/\A—H FE EREEAH N RHUAFRE hE
2,000,0007%
Guangzhou Sheng Xin Family Services 25 September 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 80% Provision of postpartum
Co., Ltd. (2022: 80%) care services, PRC
BEINTREXERBERAT “E—tEARZTREA HE BREEAT N RHUEBTFHRHE HE
2,000,0007%
" Except Honor Global Holdings Limited, Infinite Success " FREBEDIKIZER AR 2E ~Infinite
Enterprises Limited and Action Star Investments Limited, all Success Enterprises Limited&zAction
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. Star Investments Limited4h > Fr 5 [ /B

REHHAABEERE -
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BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

36.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Group has acquired 51% of the equity interest (the
"Equity Interest”) of Desheng Meimei from an independent
third party (the “Seller”) in pursuant to the equity transfer
agreement (the "Agreement”) during the financial year
ended 31 December 2020. The Agreement contains a right of
the Group to sell the Equity Interest of Desheng Meimei back

to the Seller upon the occurrence of certain conditions.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
directors of the Company has exercised the right to sell the
Equity Interest back to the Seller. However, the Seller failed
to fulfil the obligation of share buy back in accordance with
the Agreement. In August 2023, the Group has filed a lawsuit
against the Seller due to the above mentioned dispute. In
December 2023, the Group received the Civil Judgment
served by the Shenzhen Nanshan District People’s Court and
the Seller is ordered by the Court to buy back the Equity
Interest of Desheng Meimei. The Seller has filed an appeal
petition subsequently. No date has been fixed for the hearing
of the said appeal.

Accordingly, Desheng Meimei remained as a subsidiary of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

The directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the
particulars of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and
therefore the above list contains only the particulars of the
subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

37. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF

For the year ended 31
BE—ZE-—#F+_"H

December 2023
=+ —HILFEE

37. X FFREREHRRZME

CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities: MEEELEZ2BECHEK:
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_E-=F+Z"“H=+—HLHE
E
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITE HEaE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMFT
At 1 January 2023 r-—2-_=%-HF—-8H1 | 228,842 17,427
Changes from cash flows: REMEED !
Bank borrowings raised SHEIBITER 62,500 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER (62,834) -
Repayment of sale and leaseback BEREERDBERRZMNIE
transactions (95,707) -
Interest paid for bank and other IRITREMERNEGHE
borrowings (12,447) -
Repayment of principal portion of the EBEHEaGELEED
lease liabilities - (7,645)
Interest portion of the lease BENHESEF S
liabilities paid - (1,400)
Total changes from financing cash flows #2BtE IR REEE ~ (108,483) (9,045)
Other changes: H s
Lease commencement HERB - 229
Interest expenses FMERZ 12,447 1,400
Lease modification HEBE] - 10,623
Lease termination AERIE - (9,780)
Total other changes mHmEEy 12,447 2,472
At 31 December 2023 A _E_=—F+"H=+—H 132,801 10,854
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37. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

(#&)

37. X FFREREHRRZME

BE_ T _F+-RB=t+t—HLF

E
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITER HEaE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
At 1 January 2022 S 191,205 13,141
Changes from cash flows: REREEH .
Bank borrowings raised ERIRTEMN 50,000 -
Proceeds from sale and leaseback EROMERXZMEME
transactions 121,085 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BIERITEM (69,383) -
Repayment of sale and leaseback EREREEXRZMIEA
transactions (64,065) -
Interest paid for bank and other IRITREMERNELT L
borrowings (12,345) -
Repayment of principal portion of the BEREaELAEHD
lease liabilities - (9,372)
Interest portion of the lease liabilities paid EfJfAE & &I 2 &2 - (741)
Total changes from financing cash flows #MEERELREZE 00 25292 (10,113
Other changes: HhEg):
Lease commencement HER®B - 5,780
Interest expenses FMEREZ 12,345 741
Lease modification MHEEST - 7,878
Total other changes Hngggy 12,345 14,399
At 31 December 2022 RZBE__F#+"RB=+—H 228,842 17,427
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
instrument risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance
by closely monitoring the individual exposure.

The Group does not have written risk management
policies and guidelines. However, the directors meet
periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
the Group's exposure to a variety of risks which resulted
from its operating and investing activities. Generally,
the Group employs conservative strategies regarding its
risk management to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out as follows:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances, other receivables, deposits, trade receivables,
loan receivables, finance lease receivables and financial
guarantee contracts.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and finance lease receivables under
ECL model. Information about the Group's credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

38. Al s EIE

AEBRAXGZESHME N TR
BTAERR : mHER (BEINERR
RMRRER) - EERBRRABEZR
o AEBZERRABEESEER
RESTMH BN TEERRURE
8 = 1) B8 22 = 4R B! BY L B 1T B 7 R K
AEBEMBRFEAEZIINEETH

EX
A

FAERTEEERBREERRRE
SlefAM  EFEHRITEZH  UDHN
REEREREBEAERREAEER
ZRERREFEGHNIER R — R
Me  AFEEEXRRERTHAREE
RS BRERAMMBITEE RS-
HZEMBIAARZARRREZ
FRERZ BREST

(a) EREE
ERRRNXZHFHERES
MEBMAEERERYFEKL
WER AERZERRREE
BRRARGRTER  ERIE
THEM - RITES - MBI
E-AREHERET BHEWR
MIEEWER RMEAERY
MR BREREGH -

AEERBEANEREE KR
ERERWRMRETRENG-
ERAEEEAARERE &K
5 B R O R A R R E T (E B
8 (WER) BEWT -

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023

213



214

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Restricted bank deposits/pledged bank
deposits/bank balances

The credit risk on restricted bank deposits, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances is limited because the
majority of the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies, and the probability of default of the
counterparty banks is insignificant, and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided as the amount of
ECL is immaterial.

Other receivables/deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information available without undue cost or effort at
reporting date. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. For the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Loan receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to loan
receivables, credit limits and credit terms granted to
customers are approved by delegated officers and
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the credit risk of the Group is significantly reduced.
The directors of the Company estimate the estimated
loss rates of loan receivables based on industry types,
the historical past due information and lessees’
creditworthiness. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. As at
31 December 2022, the Group provided RMB1,000
impairment allowance for loan receivables, based on
12-month ECL.

Trade and finance lease receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade
and finance lease receivables, credit limits and credit
terms granted to customers are approved by delegated
officers and follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the credit risk of the Group is
significantly reduced. Except for the trade and finance
lease receivables are credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade and
finance lease receivables are grouped under a provision
matrix based on industry types, the historical past due
information and customers/lessees’ creditworthiness.

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to
mitigate credit risk of leasing business. The most typical
one is the taking of collateral, which is the leased asset
and claim deposits made by the lessees and guarantees
by third parties. The Group provides guidelines on
acceptable types of collateral, which mainly includes
printing, medical equipment and logistics equipment.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE _FE_—aF+ _A=+—HILFE

38. B[S EIR &

(a)

SRR &)

FERE
AEBRBEEVNERBRENG
ERR K FEFENEERENR
EERTHEZKASRZ I
KEVERETE U B m AT o
MILME > AR BDEERABLE
ENEERRE XBREE AAQ
BEFRKETEERN BEal
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ZIEFBAXRETHE AEH
Ri12@ B FEHERBRER
BEEB AAREERABEESE
ENEERKRBVLERER
BEEEMNM - R_ZE_F+Z
B=+—B x&BRE12EA
FEHERABRESR T ARE
1,0007C R B o

ESRHBEHEEKZE
mEENETEEEAMERERE
BWREEENEERR BTE
FREERBEREERRAES
KA BH#Z o TEREEETH I
EEMEH UM E > xR T
EERREERANEERARERX
BIEE-FRE S RMERERUY
MECERRESE  FEBTG
HE MFENEZRHEHER
WRRIEIZ IR 7 R D 4R IRIBT
g BTRRERNRER
ABEANEE FdREN G-

AEERRRT —FIBEMB
MAREREEEHNERRR
HP#ANEHF=HRMEE
wY FETNEFR FEEIER
MR A R AR R AYTE
51 T2CENR - BERREN
YRR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s concentration
of credit risk on trade and finance lease receivables
included five major counterparties accounting for
63.2% and 36.7%, respectively (2022: 64.8% and
7.5%, respectively), of the aggregate outstanding
balance at the respective year end date.

The Group has closely monitored the recoverability
of trade and finance lease receivables from all
counterparties, ensured adequate collateral is received
from these counterparties and taken effective measures
to ensure timely collection of outstanding balances.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of
geographical risk on revenue which is generated mostly
from customers located in the PRC during the reporting
period. The directors of the Company have closely
monitored the business performance of these customers
in the PRC and will consider diversifying its customer
base as appropriate.

For trade and finance lease receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for customers
who are credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL
on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit rating. The table below detail the credit
risk exposure of the Group’s trade and finance lease
receivables, which are subject to ECL assessment:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)
Trade receivables:

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on due date and net of

BE—F-—F+"F=

38. AREIR =
(a) EEAK (&

+—HILFE

ESRMEHEEKZE (B

B EURIE ¢

REREARZEABNGREE
BN E ZRUGTRIRRE D2

allowances, is as follows: FaE
2023 2022
T = =S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
Current (not past due) BNHER (R HR) 175,921 130,743
1-30 days past due AHEA1ZE30H - 618
31-90 days past due AHA31E90H - 818
91-365 days past due BEA91E365H 20,954 256
Over 365 days past due AHEA365H U 112 -
196,987 132,435
Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
INHEFS
2 HATEHA
EREX IRmE4EE BREME
(%) (RMB’'000) (RMB’'000)
(%) AR®FTxT ARETT
As at 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=
+-B=+—H
Low risk (the counterparty has EE XZHFH 2
a low risk of default and BARKREIZE
does not have any past due BHAEER)
amounts) 2% 178,723 2,802
Fair risk (the counterparty —RERE (RXZHEFH
frequently repays after due KRENRIABBE2H
date but usually settle in full) E1R) 22% 26,866 5,965
Loss (there is evidence indicating B4 (BB BEEREE
the asset is credit-impaired) HIRE BRE) 80% 822 657
206,411 9,424
K nERERERAE FEHRS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e M IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

38. AR EIR &=
(a) =AHEAKE #
B RSB SE (B)

Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
N9
2 HATAHR
(B:EEEES IREAEE BB
(%) (RMB’'000) (RMB’000)
(%) ARBFTT ARETT
As at 31 December 2022 == ———
+=ZB=+—H
Low risk (the counterparty has 1EKEM GZHEHFH 2
a low risk of default and BEORREKIEZE
does not have any past due BHAEER)
amounts) 2% 121,763 2,005
Fair risk (the counterparty —RRR XZHFH
frequently repays after due KRENRIBEEEH
date but usually settle in full) BiR) 21% 15,729 3,308
Loss (there is evidence indicating 184k (BB EREE
the asset is credit-impaired) HIRERRE) 45% 463 207
137,955 5,520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. B ERE @

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EHRAR #=
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued) ESRHEHERKZE (&
Finance lease receivables: MEREEWE
Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
MEFEH
2 HATRHA
EREL IRE4E HREBE
(%) (RMB’'000) (RMB’000)
(%) AR®BTT AR%®Trx
As at 31 December 2023 RIZEZ=
+=ZB=+—H
Low risk K E S 2% 93,343 1,633
Fair risk — g & ks 23% 5,677 1,324
Loss EiEES 66% 32,449 21,513
131,469 24,470
Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
w5
EX-EREEE
IEEEEES IRMEARE BREE
(%) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(%) ARBFTT ARETT
As at 31 December 2022 = ———
+ZB=+—H
Low risk R =R b 2% 165,281 3,069
Fair risk — iz BB 22% 7,853 1,731
Loss =R S 68% 27,938 18,957
201,072 23,757

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the PD, LGD
and the EAD. The assessment of the PD and LGD is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information related to the economic inputs and the
future macroeconomic conditions such as non-farm
payroll and purchasing managers’ index.

The Group calculated PD by applying linear regression
by inputting credit default swap, purchasing managers’
index and certain other index with adjustment factors
such as industry and region. The LGD were based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
and by referencing the external database on regional
recovery by creditors.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided
RMB9,424,000 (2022: RMB5,520,000) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and RMB2,957,000
(2022: RMB4,800,000) impairment allowance for
finance lease receivables, based on the provision matrix.
Impairment allowance of RMB21,513,000 (2022:
RMB18,957,000) was made on credit-impaired finance
lease receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach:

38. B[S EIR &

(a)

ERRE (&
EBESR#BEHEEWRME (&
BHRERBERNAERENOH
KB EREQR RSO
BRE - BB R RENBRT
RIS A BIAS T 8 A\ BUR K R 2K
REEERE PINMIFRETE
RFRBEIBAEY ZRBEEE
FH R 2 BE B R M st o

FAEEDBEBAGRENKE
R MR e T HMIEH
HTEX BRHFRRETHE)
REGUELRTHEEOBER B
MERTLIREELRRE E’\J?E,Hﬂ
FHEOXURERASZ R
BRI SN BREIRES H o

RZE-_=ZF+"A=+—H"
NEBEPIZEREIRE S E
sha AR #59,424,0007T (Z &
— & AR5,520,0007T) R E
BELRMREHERKZHBARE
2,957,000 (ZEZ_F . AR
#%4,800,0007T) R ERE - EH
HEZREHEEERRIBEL A
R #21,513,0007c (ZE -
AR #18,957,0007T) zmai%i‘
o

TERETREMS S ACHES
R R D > 2 HATA R (5 A 48
SREE

2023 2022

=== -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AE®ETT
Balance at 1 January K—B—HBZiR%EE 5,520 -
Impairment losses recognised BRI ERIE 3,904 5,520
Balance at 31 December RN+ _B=+—HZ&E8 9,424 5,520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

4 AH

AR B B RS AR AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

38. AR EIR @)

(a)

ERRE (&)
ESRHBEHBEKRZE (B)
TRETREESHEACHME

that has been recognised for finance lease receivables HERWIEET 2 2 HATEAE
under the simplified approach. ik EF -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit-impaired credit-impaired Total
2HRHER 2RBEREX
Bk (AEERAE (fERAME) a
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEC=§ ZCCE IZBIZE TZTCF ZEIZE CECCE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB'000
AEEFR ARETr ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January R=B— 4,800 5,647 18,957 15,546 23,757 21,193
Changes due o finance lease receivables 18— — Eﬁ AHERERIZEEN
recognised as at 1 January: 2.
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BREERAR (1,814) (2,863) 1,814 2,863 - -
- Impairment losses recognised -BRSDHESE 1,583 1,381 1,954 1,261 3,537 2,642
- Impairment losses reversal - AEFEED (2,218) (1,667) (1,212) (7113) (3,430 (2,380)
Changes due to net addition of HERERUNABNEFE
finance lease receivables 606 2,302 - - 606 2,302
At 31 December R+ZB=+-8 2,957 4,800 21,513 18,957 24,470 23,757
The movements in the gross carrying amounts of finance MEAEEWARIENIRERESE
lease receivables were as follows: ER N
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit-impaired credit-impaired Total
2HRAER 2HRMEREX
B% (ERERAEE) (BRAME) &t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEC=§ ZCCE IZBIZE TZTCF ZEIZE CEICE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETRE AREFTT ARETn ARETR AREFR ARETR
At 1 January R-B- 173,134 268,519 27,938 19,078 201,072 287,597
Changes due to finance lease receivables  F8—FA— FE’ RHERERIZEES,
recognised as at 1 January: 28
~ Transfer to credit-impaired -BREERAR (5,929 (10,497) 5,929 10,497 - -
- Settlement -8 (101,665) (195,874) (1,418) (1,637) (103,083) (197,511)
Changes due to net addition of HERERNRIENEE
finance lease receivables 33,480 110,986 - - 33,480 110,986
At 31 December Rr+ZB=1+-H 99,020 173,134 32,449 27,938 131,469 201,072
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. B EIR =

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EHRAR #=
Financial guarantees issued BB 1ERIZH
To determine ECLs for financial guarantee issued, the REETVMBEFRELNTERER
Group considers changes in the risk of default of the B AEEEZEBHRFRELZ
specified debtor since the initial recognition of issuance R LURIEE B ARNEN
of the guarantee. The amount of financial guarantees B REBPIRE 2 M B HER
issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 28. S RAUNMS 5E28 PRI EE ©
The table below detail the credit risk exposure of TRAMRATHE_ZS =F
the Group's exposure to financial guarantee as at 31 kRZIEZZHF+"HA=+—H"
December 2023 and 2022, which is subject to ECL REERMBERSEMERZ
assessment: ERRK ZERBELBESR
EREKTE -
Weighted
average Loss
lifetime ECL Exposure allowance
MEEH
2 HATRHA
EREX 0 HREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARBFTT ARETT
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=
+-B=+—H
Financial guarantee ISR 1.7% 149,708 2,451
As at 31 December 2022 N TE T
+ZB=+—H
Financial guarantee ISR 1.7% 65,207 1,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk related
bank
balances, refundable rental deposits and lease liability
that are denominated in HK$ and US$. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging

primarily to certain restricted bank deposits,

policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currencies
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

4 AH

AR B B RS AR AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

38. AR EIR &=
(b) EEEEME
AEBEZIIMNERE EEHA LB T
METHEZS EEE%J%EﬁT
MRMIBITHAGR IRERE
EREEEERM- ZI:%IEHU

HKS BT
Us$ e

The Group's exposures to foreign currencies on financial
assets and liabilities are mainly concentrated in the
fluctuation of foreign exchange rates, for which the
directors of the Company considered the effect is
immaterial.

I 4 S0 S R IR o =Fi
Eﬁkgﬁzﬁl\[ﬂﬁm’ﬁtﬂ—rﬁ\ =

FFEEE B ARIMNER
RERSH R KREBELINEEE

ZEEERBERBAWNT !
Assets Liabilities
BE B

2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECZ= -t ZBICE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETT AREFR ARETET
912 944 - 158
5 5 - _
AEEAZTNEHEEREBEBW

SN I T R AN IS
R AADEERAHLLEL
REAo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE -+ _H=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and variable-rate bank borrowings. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuation in the
prevailing market interest rates affecting the cash flow
risks.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, fixed-rate loan receivables, fixed-rate
finance lease receivables and deposits from finance lease
customers. The Group does not have a fair value interest
rate risk hedging policy.

Management monitors the related interest exposure
closely to ensure the interest rate risks are maintained
at an acceptable level. The level of mismatch of interest
rate repricing that may be undertaken is monitored
closely.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and liabilities are mainly concentrated in the
fluctuation of People’'s Bank of China rate arising from
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and variable-rate bank borrowings for which
the directors of the Company considered the effect is
immaterial.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the directors, and the entity has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
the directors’ short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves
and banking facilities, by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
krE B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BER —F - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

Liquidity risk (continued)

38. AR EIR &=
d) RBHELEKE (&
TRV GRS PAEmMIEST

The following table details the remaining contractual

maturities at each of the reporting dates of the Group’s

non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based

on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including

interest payment computed using contractual rates or,

if floating, based on current rates at the reporting date)

and the earliest date the Group may be required to pay.

TEMEBAENRGRETOEEA -
ZEREEREERERAEERN
AMRBEERERTEETRE
REENRFEARRERR - KTE
BEANERAZRERERAEH
MEHENREXNH B F
#) BERWEHEFXAE -

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or 1to Over
amount  cash flow  on demand 2 years 2 years
BENX
BRRE 15RAS

REE nE BEX 1528 2EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEETT  ARBTR ARETR AREfrT ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H

Non-derivative financial liabiliies FiteHas

Trade and hills payables BARZERATE 60,111 60,111 60,111 - -
Other payables EENTIE 46,051 46,051 46,051 - -
Lease liabilities HE&E 10,854 11,416 6,475 3,220 1721
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 132,801 140,684 105,822 6,253 28,609
249,817 258,262 218,459 9473 30,330
Financial quarantees issued FRRERRY - 149,730 149,730 - -

As at 31 December 2022 RZE__#+-F=1-H

Non-derivative financial liabilities FiteHas

Other payables HHEMFIE 10,950 10,950 10,950 - -
Deposits from finance lease customers HENERP#RE 3 3 3 - -
Lease liabilities HE&E 17,427 18,642 7417 8,646 2,579
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 228,842 246,401 158,296 53,219 34,886
257,252 276,026 176,696 61,865 37,465
Financial quarantees issued HRERRY - 65,207 65,207 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE g+ _A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
issued are the maximum amounts the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

Fair values

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
is determined based on discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount rate
that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate to their fair
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

Fair values (continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable
inputs used in determining the fair value measurement
of Level 2 and Level 3 financial instruments, as well as
the relationship between key observable inputs and fair
value are set out below.

38. AR EIR &=
ATIE (45)

(e)

4 A

17177 g |

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T —F+ A=+ —HIEE

BAFEHEZEHIA
TREATEBRDFRATE
SHEZEMIA:

CHEREBEERBRIRE

B |mE RIF

R ;

T HEENABEERE

(BB &) stfE s (BD
RERFE) JEER
ZHABE (FEE
F—EBRAMEIZR
B &k

CEMEENARAMIL

JELLRT R = 35 BUE
BEZEABE (B
EBERZBARRE) -

HERTMNEREZHER 2B A
BERANBEEE _BEXRNE=/2
REMIBEZAFEBESE XN
KRR ERZ @A BIREAQAT
BEZHEHNBFRED T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B WRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T _—F+_FA=+—HIEE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

38. AR EIR &=

Fair values (continued) (e) AFE (#E
As at 31 December 2022 RN _F+_B=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-BR EEBR BB ek
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Financial assets EMEE ARBTT ARBTr ARBTT ARETT
Other financial assets: HMEHEE
— Other financial assets —HMEHEE - - 847 847

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
For other financial assets which are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, it represents
the right of the Group to sell the Equity Interest of
Desheng Meimei back to the Seller upon the occurrence
of certain conditions. The fair value of the financial
asset amounted to RMB847,000 was determined by
the difference between the repurchase consideration
in pursuant to the Agreement and the Group’s shares
of the net asset value of Desheng Meimei as at the
reporting date. As at 31 December 2022, it was
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an
increase/decrease in net asset value of Desheng Meimei
by 1% would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit for the year by RMB29,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

Fair values (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of

financial assets:

38.

iR e MR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

EEER @
(e) AT (4
EEREMEES B HE

Other

financial asset

HtEmEE

RMB’000

ARETFIT

Balance as at 1 January 2022 RIZEZZF—A—HZERER -

Addition & -

Fair value gain recognised in other income REMBAESDE A FEBERT 847
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RIZEZZHF+"A=+—H~K

and 1 January 2023 TR -—F—FB—HZEREE 847

Exercised 1718 (847)

Fair value gain recognised in other income

Balance as at 31 December 2023

REMBAERZ A FEERT -

= ———

Below is the table setting out quantitative information

about fair value measurements using
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

significant

F+=

B=+—H -

TRIBTERAEANTRES
AEE=ZEBRX) WAFEES=2
MWESE !

Relationship of

Valuation unobservable
Description Fair value at 31 December technique(s) Unobservable inputs Range inputs to fair value
AUBRREAYEA
it R+ZB=+—HZATE HEKN FABRRZBALE HE ATEZHE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
it it S ;2 —E”=H ZE_”fF CZBIZF CZT”_”H
RMB000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARE®TT
Other financial asset - 847 P/E ratio N/A Discount rate - 20.6% The higher the net asset value
for lack of of Desheng Meimei, the
marketability lower the fair value of the
other financial asset will be,
and vice versa.
Hitr$mEE RS TER Bz mHlE EBEEZFEERELR
= HiteMEENATERE

S R Re

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E - —FF+ A=+ —HIFE

39.

40.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings as set out in Note 29 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the share capital and borrowings. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues and issue of new borrowings.

ACQUISITION OF A COMPANY

On 29 December 2022, Shenzhen Meijiaer, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
equity transfer agreement (“Equity Transfer Agreement”)
with Mr. Ye (the “"Vendor"”) pursuant to which the Vendor
has conditionally agreed to sell and Shenzhen Meijiaer
has conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire issued
shares of Wuhan Meikangmao Health Management Co.,
Ltd. (the "Wuhan Meikangmao”) at the consideration of
RMB40,000,000. Wuhan Meikangmao is principally engaged
in the provision of postpartum care services and owns an
unopened postpartum care centre in Wuhan, the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has paid the refundable
deposit of RMB26,500,000 (2022: RMB26,500,000) and
the capital commitment of the aforesaid consideration
on the transfer of equity is amounted to approximately
RMB13,500,000 (2022: RMB13,500,000) (Note 33). Pursuant
to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the completion of the
equity transfer is subject to certain conditions to be fulfilled.

For details of the acquisition, please refer to the
announcement published on 29 December 2022, 4 January
2023, 30 June 2023 and 29 December 2023.
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FEBZEARBEERITRAMMBR
(M5E29) URAAB A NG D
(HEBITRAEREHEM -

RNBDEETHEBHEARARB A
IEEBREAZ—BH AR BDEEERE
$&$&§k$&%#ﬁ%zﬂho
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BEMEROETREEHERTFEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2023, on
12 January 2024, the Company completed the placing
of 30,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at a
subscription price of HK$1.47 per subscription share to two
subscribers pursuant to two subscription agreements dated
29 December 2023 entered into between the Company
and the subscribers. The net proceeds,
of expenses of the subscriptions are estimated to be
approximately HK$43.5 million. Details of the placing are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 29
December 2023 and 12 January 2024. The Company intends
to apply the net proceeds of the subscriptions for the working
capital to develop the finance leasing business and the
trading of medical equipment and consumables business of
the Group.

after deduction

41.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE —E - —F+_A=+—HIFE

Hﬂ?ﬁ%lﬁ
BHE-_Z-_=F+"RA=+—H1E
Eﬁ@ EZE-ME—A+Z E’
BEAAFHARBEARBHEAZ
—=F+ZRZ +hEMJMﬁ%
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MEERHEE

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022, 2021,
2020 and 2019, extracted from the audited financial statements in
the annual reports is as follows:

KREFBEE_E_ZF - _FE-_"_F -_F
T E CE-BER-E-AET_A
S+ —BLEECEHELEUREER
EEEE (BREEENEERMERR)
m

RESULTS: E 47—l
Year ended 31 December
HE+_B=+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZ= R B _EITF _T-NEF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTR ARETR AREBTT ARBTT AREBT®
Revenue g 497,955 324,598 119,442 58,512 68,125
Profit before taxation B A E A 18,001 22,937 6,166 15,155 26,453
Income tax (expenses)/credit ~ FFi8f (Bs%) /5t A (4,137) (7,511) 277 (2,270) (9,580)
Profit for the year ERHEF] 13,864 15,426 6,443 12,885 16,873

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: EEKREE:

As at 31 December
w+-ZB=+—H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=f B _B—4H5 _ETEE _T—hEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFRT AEBETRT AR®TRT AR®TRx AR®FTx
Total assets BESF 615,163 602,277 532,749 439,611 426,572
Total liabilities BEMEE (299,874) (291,460) (228,427) (136,299) (126,301)
Total equity TEm4a%a 315,289 310,817 304,322 303,312 300,271
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